Everyday Life Information Practice

AMEERA MANSOUR

Affordances and Strategies within a Facebook Group



THE SWEDISH SCHOOL OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION SCIENCE

UNIVERSITY OF BORÅS

Everyday Life Information Practice

Affordances and Strategies within a Facebook Group

Ameera Mansour



Everyday Life Information Practice: Affordances and Strategies within a Facebook Group Copyright © Ameera Mansour

Thesis for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Swedish School of Library and Information Science, University of Borås.

Cover art: Mother and Child, Oil on Canvas, 1983 by Sliman Mansour

ISBN 978-91-987634-5-4 (print) ISBN 978-91-987634-4-7 (digital PDF) ISSN 1103-6990

Series: Skrifter från Valfrid, no 78

Printed in Sweden by Stema Specialtryck AB Borås 2024

Available: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hb:diva-31276



Abstract

Social networking sites are integral in reshaping how we access and interact with information and others. This doctoral thesis aims to offer an in-depth understanding of engagement in an everyday life information practice within a private Facebook group. To achieve this aim, I conducted in-depth semi-structured interviews with 20 members of a private Facebook group for foreign mothers situated in Sweden.

The thesis consists of a framing essay and four research articles exploring different aspects of how the group has formed, managed, and navigated engagement in information activities within the Facebook group. Grounded in a sociocultural perspective of mediated action, the research draws on specialised concepts and theories to further unpack key themes in the study. These include affordances, cognitive authority, situated learning, community of practice, communication privacy management, the imagined audience, and context collapse. These concepts and theories form the theoretical framework for the thesis, enabling interpretations of members' accounts of opportunities and challenges entailed with engagement in information activities within the Facebook group and the ways these were managed and navigated by the group.

The findings show that the Facebook group offers a distinctive online space providing affordances that simultaneously facilitate and constrain joint information activities. The study highlights six key affordances offered by the group: visibility, persistence, associations, accessibility, invisibility, and inaccessibility. Negotiation of mutual and shared goals and rules is found to be essential for sustaining a space that facilitates members' engagement in information activities. However, three complex phenomena within the Facebook group are highlighted as limiting and complicating this engagement: context collapse, time collapse, and spatial collapse. These phenomena relate to issues concerning lack of anonymity; control over information quality, flow, and privacy boundaries; and the presence of large, diverse, and evolving audiences.

Several challenges and risks are identified as a result, relating to the assessment of information credibility, management of privacy, and management of conflicts. The study discusses strategic ways the group manages and navigates these opportunities and challenges. Overall, the study offers an understanding of the complex formation, engagement, and management of an everyday life information practice within a Facebook group. This understanding contributes theoretical and practical insights into broader discussions on the use of Facebook groups for informational purposes in everyday life.

Abstract på svenska

Sociala nätverkstjänster är väsentliga för att omforma hur vi får tillgång till och interagerar med information och andra. Denna doktorsavhandling syftar till att ge en fördjupad förståelse av hur engagemang formas i en vardaglig informationspraktik i en privat Facebook-grupp. För att uppnå detta syfte genomförde jag djupgående semistrukturerade intervjuer med 20 medlemmar i en privat Facebook-grupp för utländska mammor som bor i Sverige.

Avhandlingen består av en kappa och fyra vetenskapliga artiklar som utforskar olika aspekter av hur gruppen har format, hanterat och navigerat engagemang i informationsaktiviteter i Facebook-gruppen. Studien är grundad i ett sociokulturellt perspektiv på medierad handling som kompletteras med specialiserade begrepp och teorier för att fördjupa analysen av centrala teman. inkluderar affordanser, kognitiv auktoritet, situerat praktikgemenskap, kommunikativ integritetshantering (communication privacy management), den föreställda publiken och kontextkollaps. Dessa begrepp och teorier utgör avhandlingens teoretiska ramverk, som möjliggör tolkningar av medlemmarnas redogörelser för möjligheter och utmaningar som är förknippade med engagemang i informationsaktiviteter i Facebook-gruppen och hur dessa hanteras och navigeras av gruppen.

Resultaten visar att Facebook-gruppen erbjuder ett distinkt digitalt rum med affordanser som på samma gång underlättar och begränsar gemensamma informationsaktiviteter. Studien lyfter fram sex centrala affordanser som gruppen erbjuder: synlighet, beständighet, associationer, tillgänglighet, osynlighet och otillgänglighet. Förhandlingar om gemensamma och delade mål och regler visar sig vara avgörande för att upprätthålla ett rum som underlättar medlemmarnas engagemang i informationsaktiviteterna. Det framkommer dock tre komplexa fenomen i Facebook-gruppen som begränsar och komplicerar detta engagemang: kollapsade kontexter, kollapsad tid och kollapsad rumslighet. Dessa fenomen relaterar till frågor som rör brist på

anonymitet; kontroll över informationens kvalitet, flöde och integritetsgränser; och närvaron av publiker som är stora, diversifierade och i ständig förändring. Flera utmaningar och risker identifieras som en konsekvens av detta. De relaterar till trovärdighetsbedömningar och hantering av integritet och konflikter. I studien diskuteras strategiska sätt på vilka gruppen hanterar och navigerar dessa möjligheter och utmaningar. Sammantaget erbjuder studien en förståelse för den komplexitet som utmärker formeringen, hanteringen och engagemanget i en vardaglig informationspraktik i en Facebook-grupp. Denna förståelse bidrar med teoretiska och praktiska insikter till den övergripande diskussionen om hur Facebook-grupper används för ändamål som berör information i vardagslivet.

If I must die, you must live to tell my story to sell my things to buy a piece of cloth and some strings, (make it white with a long tail) so that a child, somewhere in Gaza while looking heaven in the eye awaiting his dad who left in a blaze— and bid no one farewell not even to his flesh not even to himself sees the kite, my kite you made, flying up above and thinks for a moment an angel is there bringing back love If I must die let it bring hope let it be a tale.

Palestinian Professor Refaat Alareer September 23, 1979- December 7, 2023 Gaza, Palestine

Rest in Power

Acknowledgements

It's super cliché to say this journey has been long, but it has been quite a wild ride! From pregnancy to parenting two children, moving cities and houses five times, surviving a global pandemic, and enduring a never-healing trauma triggered by devastating wars on my beloved Palestine, my PhD journey was filled with a mix of uncertainties, stress, loss, achievements, excitements, and friendships. But I've finally done it! I would not have been able to reach this stage without the help, support, and inspiration from many people in my life and many I've met along this journey.

Thank you to all my research participants for generously sharing your stories and experiences, which were invaluable contributions to this thesis. I'm deeply grateful to my research advisor, Helena Francke, for your unwavering guidance and support over the years. Your belief in me has nurtured my growth as a researcher, pushing me beyond my limits at my own pace. Your expertise, meticulous attention to detail, and dedication to thoroughly reviewing my work have been truly invaluable. Thank you for always being available for meetings, discussions, last-minute readings, and calls. You are not just a great advisor but also a great scholar, and collaborator. Thank you to my second research advisor, Annemaree Lloyd; your expertise in the field, friendship, and support were truly invaluable.

This study was part of the Learning, Interaction, and Mediated Communication in Contemporary Society project, generously funded by the Swedish Research Council (Grant No. 349-2006-146). Thanks to the Linnaeus Centre for Research on Learning, Interaction, and Mediated Communication in Contemporary Society (LinCS) at the University of Gothenburg. I'm grateful for the support, feedback, the platform for presenting and discussing my work, the inspiring courses and research days that significantly shaped my research. Thanks also to the LinCS board for their generous travel grant, which supported my participation in the Oxford Internet Institute Summer Doctoral Programme.

Thanks to Doris Gustafson and Sylvi Vigmo at the University of Gothenburg for their diligent management of all financial and travel matters.

Thanks to my colleagues at the Swedish School of Library and Information Science at the University of Borås for inspiring research seminars and discussions that helped me move forward with this thesis. Thank you to my internal commentators, Ola Pilerot, for providing very constructive feedback during my second seminar, and together with Veronica Johannsson providing invaluable feedback on the final manuscript, which helped me streamline and polish this thesis. Thank you to my external commentator, Alison Hicks from University College London, for very constructive feedback during my final seminar, which helped me finalise this thesis. Thank you, Frances Hultgren, for your feedback during my first plan seminar. I also acknowledge my late examiner, Jan Nolin, for his guidance and constructive feedback that helped me think critically about my research. I'm saddened by his passing and absence at the end of this PhD journey. Thanks, Jutta Haider, for joining my internal examination committee in the last year. Thanks, Elena Maceviciute, for your advice during my first year. Thanks to all current and former PhD students (many of whom now have graduated and become doctors) for the research seminars, Zoom writing units, PhD lunches, and beyond: Berthilde, Catarina, Pussadee, Katarina, Sara, Alison, Hana, Pieta, Ulrika, Hanna, Birgitta, Emma, Daniel, Marco, Maria, Merisa, Amira-Sofie. Special thanks to Berthilde for your constant support and encouragement.

Thanks to doctoral studies directors Ola Pilerot, Gustaf Nelhans, Katarina Michnik, and head of department Åsa Söderlind for your guidance and support on all doctoral studies related matters. Thank you, Frances Hultgren, Merisa Martinez, and Rachel Pierce for proofreading my articles. Thanks to research and communication officers and staff Anette Trennedal, Daniel Kristiansson, Eva Medin, and Lina Färm, for your invaluable support during my PhD studies and thesis completion. And Eva, those bi-weekly lunches were the highlight of Borås's life.

Thank you, Olof Sundin, at the Department of Arts and Cultural Sciences at Lund University, for facilitating my research visit. Thank you to everyone for the research seminars, workshops, and feedback on my fourth article. Thanks for the warm welcome and unwavering support during the Covid-19 pandemic era. Special thanks to Carin Graminius, David Bowling, and Phil Dodds for your friendship and support, which made me feel less alone during challenging times. Thank you, Carin, for always being there for me.

Thank you, Magnus Andersson and Ulrika Holgersson at the Media and Communication Studies department at Lund University, for facilitating my research visit and for your constant encouragement and support. I'm grateful for the feedback, workspace, access to Skånska coffee (even though I always had to dilute it), and the opportunity to meet and discuss my work with amazing researchers and doctoral students. Many thanks to everyone at the department for your support and compassion during the final stressful stages of writing the thesis.

Thanks to my colleagues at the Department of Cultural Sciences at Linnaeus University, Admeire Da Silva Santos Sundström, Ahmad Kamal, Bo Skøtt, Charlie Järpvall, Joacim Hansson, Fredrik Hanell, Hanna Carlsson, Sara Ahlryd, and Koraljka Golub, for your support and encouragement. Thanks to Anita Mirijamdotter at the Department of Informatics at Linnaeus University and Mary M. Somerville for introducing me to Library and Information Science, and for encouraging and supporting me in pursuing and completing my doctoral studies in this field.

Thank you Sliman Mansour, one of my favourite Palestinian artists, for granting me the permission to feature one of your paintings on my book cover. Thanks to my friend Anette Liddle for all the long hikes, adventures, and fikas that took my mind away from work.

Thanks to my family and friends in Palestine, and beyond. To my parents: Baba for never doubting my abilities in finding a "real job." To Mama, for never ceasing to inquire in each call, "Are you finished yet?" To the memory of my

young brothers who left us too soon: Rami, who was killed by the Israeli occupation army when I was finalising my bachelor thesis, and Saddam, who passed away while I was finalising this doctoral thesis.

Thank you Osama Mansour for encouraging me to pursue a PhD and for your occasional reading and feedback on my text. I appreciate you shouldering most of the responsibilities at home, ensuring we always have proper and delicious meals to eat, and parenting our boys while I poured my heart into finishing this thesis. Your tremendous support during the final, incredibly stressful stages, of completing this thesis, especially while I was barley coping with war and the death of my loved ones, means the world to me. I acknowledge it wasn't easy for you, juggling everything while worrying about our families and friends back home.

To my boys, Medo and Yousuf, thank you for being the inspiration behind the topic of this thesis. Your love, laughter, and squeezy hugs have always brought joy to my life, even when I was buried writing this book and you were busy conquering Roblox and Fortnite worlds. I love you more than anything in this world. Mama's book is finally finished! Cheers to a new chapter for our family.

Lund, February 15, 2024

Ameera Mansour

List of Articles

- I. Mansour, A. (2021). Affordances supporting mothers' engagement in information-related activities through Facebook groups. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 53(2), 211–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000620938106
- II. Mansour, A. & Francke, H. (2017). Credibility assessments of everyday life information on Facebook: A sociocultural investigation of a group of mothers. *Information Research*, 22(2), paper 750. http://InformationR.net/ir/22-2/paper750.html
- III. Mansour, A. (2020). Shared information practices on Facebook: The formation and development of a sustainable online community. *Journal of Documentation*, 76(3), 625-646. https://doi.org/10.1108/ JD-10-2018-0160
- IV. Mansour, A. & Francke, H. (2021). Collective privacy management practices: A study of privacy strategies and risks in a private Facebook group. In *PACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 5(CSCW2), Article 360. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3479504

Table of Contents

| 1. | . Introduction | 1 |
|----|---|----|
| | 1.1 Research background | 6 |
| | 1.2 Research problem | 9 |
| | 1.3 Research aim and questions | 12 |
| | 1.4 Research scope and demarcation | 13 |
| | 1.5 Thesis outline | 13 |
| 2. | Positioning the research | 15 |
| | 2.1 Library and Information Science Research | 16 |
| | 2.1.1 Information practices research | 17 |
| | 2.1.2 Everyday life information practices | 20 |
| | 2.2 Social Media Research | 23 |
| | 2.2.1 Defining social media and social networking sites | 24 |
| | 2.2.2 Perspectives on social media | 27 |
| 3. | . Theoretical framework | 33 |
| | 3.1 Chapter overview | 33 |
| | 3.2 The sociocultural perspective of mediated action | 36 |
| | 3.2.1 Operationalisation of the theory | 41 |
| | 3.3 Theoretical concepts | 43 |
| | 3.3.1 Affordances | 43 |
| | 3.3.2 Cognitive authority | 47 |
| | 3.3.3 Situated learning and community of practice | 51 |
| | 3.3.4 Communication privacy management | 56 |
| | 3.3.5 The imagined audience and context collapse | 60 |

| 4. | Research methods | 65 |
|----|--|-----|
| | 4.1 Interpretive qualitative research approach | 65 |
| | 4.2 A personal journey in the exploration of a potential research site | 67 |
| | 4.2.1 Negotiation of access to potential research sites | 70 |
| | 4.2.2 Demarcation of the research site | 72 |
| | 4.3 The research site: Facebook Group IV | 74 |
| | 4.3.1 Criteria for selecting and recruiting participants | 75 |
| | 4.3.2 Data construction through interviews | 77 |
| | 4.3.3 The interview process and interview guide | 79 |
| | 4.3.4 Data analysis | 84 |
| | 4.4 Ethical considerations and reflections | 91 |
| | 4.4.1 Positionality and reflections upon my role as a researcher | 95 |
| | 4.4.2 Generalisability | 98 |
| 5. | Summaries of research articles | 101 |
| | 5.1 Affordances supporting mothers' engagement in information-related | |
| | activities through Facebook groups | 101 |
| | 5.2 Credibility assessments of everyday life information on Facebook | 105 |
| | 5.3 Shared information practices on Facebook | 108 |
| | 5.4 Collective privacy management practices | 111 |
| 6. | Discussion | 115 |
| | 6.1 What affordances does the Facebook group offer for engagement in | |
| | information activities? | 116 |
| | 6.1.1 How do the affordances of the Facebook group facilitate members' | |
| | opportunities to engage in information activities? | 118 |
| | 6.1.2 How do the affordances of the Facebook group complicate or constrain members' opportunities to engage in information activities? | 127 |
| | 6.2 How is the Facebook group maintained as an environment for information | n |
| | activities, and how does the group navigate the opportunities and challenges | s |
| | presented within it? | 134 |

| | 6.2.1 Negotiating and adopting shared goals | 135 | |
|-------|--|-----|--|
| | 6.2.2 Maintaining and sustaining shared group repertoires | 137 | |
| | 6.2.3 Mutuality of responsibility | 140 | |
| | 6.2.4 Assessing and moderating information credibility and conflicts | 142 | |
| | 6.2.5 Maintaining and safeguarding privacy within the group | 145 | |
| 7. | Conclusions | 149 | |
| 7.1 | Research contributions | 149 | |
| 7.2 | Design implications | 154 | |
| 7.3 | Research limitations | 156 | |
| 7.4 | Future research | 156 | |
| Refe | References | | |
| Appe | ndices | 184 | |
| Ap | pendix 1: research site access request (admins) | 184 | |
| Ap | pendix 2: research invitation (Facebook group post) | 185 | |
| Ap | pendix 3: research invitation (admins) | 186 | |
| Ap | pendix 4: recruitments' Facebook group post (reminder) | 187 | |
| Ap | pendix 5: informed consent | 188 | |
| Ap | pendix 6: interview guide (members) | 192 | |
| Ap | pendix 7: interview guide (admin) | 194 | |
| Artic | les I-IV | 196 | |
| Publi | cations in the series skrifter från VALFRID | | |

1. Introduction

Over the past two decades, we have witnessed a rapid transformation in how we access, connect to, and interact with information and other people. The rapid advancements in and widespread adoption of mobile technologies and social networking sites (SNSs) have rendered them indispensable, as they have become intricately enmeshed into our everyday lives and daily routines. SNSs, as a contemporary global phenomenon in our increasingly digitalised and connected societies, have become a subject of great interest, capturing attention across the global from researchers, policymakers, organisations, and many others.

As SNSs in particular play an important role in transforming how we relate to, connect, and interact with information and one another, an in-depth understanding of this transformation is essential (see Hillman and Säljö, 2016; Lomborg, 2017). The role and impact of SNSs in daily life have received considerable attention from researchers over the last two decades. An overarching interest has focused on the various ways in which people engage through SNSs, including how they engage in self-presentation and impression management (Marwick and boyd, 2014; Marwick and Ellison, 2012; Schoenebeck et al., 2016; Uski and Lampinen, 2016), advocacy (Blackwell et al., 2016), grieving (Christensen et al., 2017; Hård af Segerstad and Kasperowski, 2015; Marwick and Ellison, 2012), education (Hanell, 2017, 2019; Lantz-Andersson et al., 2017), health (Sannon et al., 2019), and work (Ollier-Malaterre and Serre, 2018), to name just a few.

While SNSs have been examined with a focus on the above mentioned topics, their use for engagement in information activities in everyday life has not been emphasised, or explored in depth, in previous research (see Khoo, 2014; Lomborg, 2017; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b; Savolainen, 2023, 2017b; Tang et al., 2021; Vitak, 2017; Zhao et al., 2021).

Previous research has highlighted the need for theoretical perspectives and research methods that help to situate SNSs and explore their use in-depth by

focusing on the nuanced and actual ways in which people engage with information and others through SNSs within specific everyday contexts (see boyd and Crawford, 2012; Elish and boyd, 2018; Hine, 2015; Karanasios et al., 2021; Lomborg, 2017; Markham and Stavrova, 2016). Such research perspectives were deemed essential in order to complement the perspectives that were predominant at the time when this research project began. These perspectives often examined large-scale data, focusing on analysing individual users' or networks' characteristics and differences, visible trends and patterns in users' activities, or specific platforms and features that enabled or limited potential activities (see Ellison et al., 2018; Lomborg, 2017; Quan-Haase and McCay-Peet, 2016; Vitak, 2017). Although more research has been published in recent years that examines group information activities in SNSs from various interpretive perspectives, there are still issues related to the use of SNSs and groups that have not been thoroughly examined. This includes the invisible, collaborative, or joint ways in which individuals and groups engage in information activities through SNSs, whether for the purpose of seeking, sharing, and assessing information (see Ellison et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2021) or managing joint privacy boundaries (see Bazarova and Masur, 2020).

The design of this thesis project is a response to growing calls for theoretical and methodological perspectives that help to interpret and contextualise SNSs' use by focusing on examining users' information activities as situated within specific everyday contexts (see Elish and boyd, 2018; Karanasios et al., 2021; Kim et al., 2021; Leonardi, 2017; Lomborg, 2017; Tang et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2021). It is also a response to the growing calls for further explorations of and theorising about information practices formed and maintained at a collective level by online groups (e.g., see Bazarova and Masur, 2020; Hirvonen, 2022; Savolainen, 2023; Suh and Metzger, 2022; Vardell et al., 2022). These goals are accomplished in this study by focusing on how an everyday life information practice is enacted and maintained in a private Facebook group where mothers seek and share information, as discussed below.

The study adopts mediated action as an overarching sociocultural perspective (Wertsch, 1998a). An interpretative, qualitative methodology was

chosen as suitable for the study because it emphasises an in-depth exploration of the ways in which people use SNSs to engage in information activities within particular contexts (e.g., Facebook groups) (see Leonardi, 2017; Markham, 2016). The sociocultural perspective is particularly useful because it helps us to focus on the situated ways in which information activities are shaped within specific SNSs contexts. Due to its nondualist ontology and constructivist epistemology (as discussed in detail in Chapter 3), this perspective is easily adaptable to concepts from diverse theoretical research traditions. The study combines several concepts into a theoretical framework in order to further expand upon mediated action to analyse and provide in-depth insights into the interrelationships between information, tools, and people's individual, interpersonal, and collective goals in shaping engagement with information activities within specific SNSs contexts.

For example, one key concept in the study is the affordance, which is introduced as a central property of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a), but used in this study in its more recent interpretation. Following studies of affordances within SNSs, it is used to elucidate the interwoven relationship between human and material agencies in enabling and constraining possibilities for action (see Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; and Chapter 3). Therefore, this perspective on affordances is adopted in order to focus on the entangled relationships between people and SNSs in offering various possibilities that simultaneously enable and constrain engagement in information activities (see Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). The concept of cognitive authority (Wilson, 1983) is incorporated into the theoretical framework of the study to help explain how information credibility is assessed, while the concepts of situated learning and the community of practice (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998) contribute to elucidating the social processes that shape how groups nurture, develop, and sustain shared information practices around common issues of interest over time. Communication privacy management theory (Petronio, 2002) is incorporated in order to focus on the social processes entailed in the negotiations and management of privacy among groups at individual, dyadic, and group levels. The imagined audience and context collapse concepts (Litt, 2012; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012) further explain how people act in relation to diverse audiences, especially within SNS contexts, where contextual, spatial, and temporal boundaries are blurred. I argue in this thesis that such an integrated framework helps to develop a nuanced and contextual understanding of the entangled relationship between people, information, and SNSs in mediating information activities within a specific context (cf. Ellison and Vitak, 2015; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

Drawing upon this theoretical framework, the everyday life information practice that is the focus for this thesis is understood as constituted by individual and collective information activities that are carried out, situated, and mediated within the specific SNS context where they occur (cf. Dourish and Anderson, 2006; Wertsch, 1998a). The focus of the study is directed towards the activities during which people engage with information and with others, as well as the specific affordances that enable or constrain engagement in those activities within a specific SNS context.

In-depth explorations of the information practices of groups within specific contexts are generally recognised within Library and Information Science (LIS) as an approach that can illuminate the situated nature of information activities (see Francke et al., 2011; Hicks, 2018; Limberg et al., 2013; Lloyd, 2012; Lundh, 2011; Pilerot, 2014a). With this research focus, this thesis is situated within and contributes to the information practice research tradition within LIS. It specifically contributes to the research area of everyday life information practices, involving engagement with information activities within an everyday life context that is not driven by formal tasks, structures, or hierarchies (see Savolainen, 1995).

The research site selected for exploring the topic of this thesis project is a private Facebook group of foreign mothers who are situated in Sweden. This is an interesting site for exploring the research topic because Facebook groups, particularly parents' groups, have grown significantly across the world over the past two decades as essential resources for information and support (Auxier and Anderson, 2021; Gibson and Hanson, 2013; Duggan et al., 2015; Lupton et al., 2016; Smock et al., 2011; Xie et al., 2021). Furthermore, as the foreign mother of

a new-born child at the time of embarking on this thesis project, mothers' Facebook groups were playing a key role as a source of information in my own everyday life. Because I am interested, in this thesis project, in developing an understanding of the ways in which people engage in information practices within everyday life contexts on SNSs, this led me to choose this particular Facebook group because it was primarily created to seek and share information. I thus chose this Facebook group as a research site based on my research interest and my insider knowledge and personal experience of the group. The research thus may contribute with insights into the use of Facebook groups for information seeking and sharing in everyday life by parents as a broad sociocultural phenomenon.

This research is thus centred on examining the everyday life information practice and members' information activities within the context of a mothers' Facebook group. One of the core goals of creating the group was to provide a space for members to connect with other mothers in order to seek and share information, tips, and advice about navigating everyday life as a foreign mother living in, or planning to move to, Sweden. The Facebook group was initially created in 2007 as a small group of friends but has grown over the years to include more than 4000 members dispersed around Sweden. Members of the group do not necessarily know each other offline, and most interactions between them are primarily carried out through, and within, the group. However, interactions in person, and outside of the group, do sometimes occur.

The research data for the project was gathered during 2014–2015 and in 2017, and the empirical findings have been reported in four research publications. I carried out in-depth, semi-structured interviews with 20 members of the group, including one of the group's administrators. Participants interviewed for this study were thus all members of the same Facebook group. This is a useful methodological choice, and it aligns with a sociocultural approach (Wertsch, 1998a), as it allowed me to examine members' accounts of the shared everyday information practice in which they engaged as a group and in relation to the group. Overall, my interest in understanding the processes

shaping members' engagement in the information activities of the group have guided the research throughout this project.

In the following sections of this chapter, I outline the research background and problem that are central to the present study, and the research aims and questions it addresses. I continue by setting out the scope and demarcations of the research. I conclude the chapter by providing an outline of the subsequent chapters in the thesis.

1.1 Research background

Facebook stands out as one of the most prominent and widely used SNSs, with over three billion active monthly users worldwide as of October 2023 (Statista, October 2023). Beyond serving as a platform for socialising, Facebook has contributed to a transformative shift that has influenced many aspects of contemporary life, including information access and dissemination, communication, education, wellbeing, politics, business, and commerce (Bayer et al., 2020; Bucher, 2021; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b).

Since the emergence of Facebook, it has been a topic of interest for scholars across various disciplines, focusing on a range of topics involving user engagements, such as friending, self-presentation, impression management, relationship and network maintenance, and interpersonal communication (Bucher, 2021; Lincoln and Robards, 2014; Rains and Brunner, 2015; Soukup, 2018; Uski and Lampinen, 2016; Vitak, 2017; Wilson et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2018). Most of the early scholarship on Facebook focused on how users, particularly young people and college students, navigate the site for self-presentation and identity exploration (see Bucher, 2021; Lomborg, 2017).

Over the past decade, Facebook has evolved from a platform used for socialisation and identity exploration involving close-knit networks into a powerful phenomenon shaping all aspects of contemporary life (see Bucher, 2021; also Chapter 2). Notably, it has become an essential source of information for millions, thus potentially playing a key role in transforming the ways in

which people seek, share, and access information and support relating to different aspects of daily life (Auxier and Anderson, 2021; Gramlich, 2021). The role of Facebook as a source of information has therefore attracted attention across various fields, particularly LIS and communication and media studies (see Khoo, 2014; Lomborg, 2017).

While Facebook is not ranked as a highly credible information source for politics or news, previous research has highlighted that it is still frequently regarded and consulted as a trusted source for exchanging information among known, homogeneous, and trusted individuals (e.g., family, friends, and colleagues) (see Burke et al., 2011; Ellison and Vitak, 2015a; Ellison et al., 2014b; Gramlich, 2021; Jeon et al., 2016; Johnson and Kaye, 2015; Kim et al., 2021; Lamp et al., 2012; Oeldorf-Hirsch and Gergle, 2020; Phua et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2018). Users also follow, and receive information and news through, traditional official information sources on Facebook, such as governmental institutions, and news and media organisations (Auxier and Anderson, 2021; Gramlich, 2021; Rieh et al., 2010). Traditionally, these information sources are often associated with credibility and trust (see Haider and Sundin, 2022). Furthermore, users also seek information and perspectives through other, more heterogeneous, networks, such as Facebook groups and several other social media platforms (see, for example, Ellison et al., 2014b; Morris et al. 2014; Phua et al., 2017; Shane-Simpson et al., 2018; Vitak and Ellison, 2013; Yu et al., 2018).

Previous research has explored Facebook's value for information seeking, focusing on analysing individual and large-scale patterns of information seeking, credibility assessments, and use on Facebook's personal profiles or across social media platforms (Khoo, 2014). Several researchers, including Shane-Simpson et al. (2018), Vitak and Ellison (2013), Oeldorf-Hirsch and Gergle (2020), Phua et al. (2017), and Yu et al. (2018), have focused on individual or larger differences and patterns in information seeking across social media, with many of these studies emphasising the value of Facebook as an information source.

The growing importance and value of Facebook groups as essential information sources, through which people connect with diverse communities,

have also been highlighted (e.g., Auxier and Anderson, 2021; Burke et al., 2011; Duggan et al., 2015; Smock et al., 2011). Many people utilise these groups to seek and share information with heterogeneous communities, or with others who share common interests or life experiences (see Duggan et al., 2015; Lupton et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2021). Facebook groups are found to be particularly essential for people who lack access to other sources of information and support, especially on stigmatising topics they may not wish to discuss with close networks (Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2015; Christensen et al., 2017; Hård af Segerstad and Kasperowski, 2015; Prescott et al., 2020; Williams Veazey, 2018).

The formation of communities through Facebook groups to seek and share information and support appears to be a global contemporary phenomenon, and plays a crucial role in the lives of many people (Bucher, 2021; Gibson and Hanson, 2013; Lupton et al., 2016; Noveck et al., 2021; Sannon et al., 2019; Shane-Simpson et al., 2018; Soukup, 2018; Xie et al., 2021). This is further confirmed by Meta's in-house research reports, which indicate a significant growth in Facebook groups' user base over the past decade, especially during and immediately after the Covid-19 pandemic (see Noveck et al., 2021; Facebook Communities Insights Report, October 2020). These reports state that there are close to 1.8 billion people actively using Facebook groups every month, constituting nearly 50% of Facebook's total user base. Additionally, there are more than 70 million group administrators and moderators who voluntarily create and manage these groups.

Despite the increasing importance of Facebook groups as information sources and the widespread use of Facebook, research within LIS addressing the ways in which people engage in information activities within these groups is still an emerging research focus (e.g., see Hanell, 2019; Mudliar and Raval, 2018; Vardell et al., 2022). The ways in which the information practices of online communities in general, and Facebook groups in particular, are shaped, formed, sustained, and moderated, by or amongst large groups of strangers remain relatively underexplored in LIS (see also Hirvonen, 2022; Savolainen, 2023). Many LIS scholars (e.g., Hanell, 2019; Hirvonen, 2022; Mudliar and Raval, 2018; Savolainen, 2023; Vardell et al., 2022) have identified a need for both empirical

explorations and theoretical conceptualisations of information activities within the context of online groups, such as Facebook groups.

1.2 Research problem

Several studies have examined the affordances of Facebook groups, in terms of the benefits they provide as private spaces for diverse groups (e.g., parents, immigrants, international students, activists, people with chronic illnesses, cosplay fans) to organise and engage in discussions about shared interests, concerns, or experiences that can be either stigmatising or uncomfortable to discuss with close networks (see Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2015; Christensen et al., 2017; Hård af Segerstad and Kasperowski, 2015; Motahari-Nezhad et al., 2022; Prescott et al., 2020; Vardell et al., 2022; Williams Veazey, 2018). This research has often focused on the empowering role and value of Facebook groups as an information and support resource for various groups, with only limited explorations taking into account the specific ways in which these groups and members, both individually and together, manage and navigate their engagement in joint and complex information activities within these groups. Additionally, with few exceptions (e.g., Mudliar and Raval, 2018; Williams Veazey, 2018, 2022), there has been only a limited focus on how the affordances of and within Facebook groups may not only offer new opportunities but also present challenges for members and groups, thus both facilitating and complicating their engagement in and management of information activities within these groups.

While sharing common affordances with other social media (e.g., visibility, editability, association, and persistence) (see Treem and Leonardi, 2012; also Chapter 2), the distinct features and interactions offered by Facebook groups may contribute novel opportunities, although they also present distinct challenges. The joint, interactive, many-to-many, (a)synchronous nature of discussions within Facebook groups means that members' information activities are instantly shared with a large number of people, allowing anyone to engage

with members' postings. This can lead to diverse potential for both benefits and risks.

Furthermore, Facebook groups, created voluntarily by any individual, differ from traditional information sources, as well as from previous and other types of online communities. Unlike traditional and more established information sources, and other online groups, which are mainly created and managed by professional organisations or moderators appointed by commercial companies (Drenta and Moren-Cross, 2011; Lupton et al., 2016), Facebook groups lack the traditional quality-control mechanisms that are employed elsewhere to maintain the quality of information sources (see Johnson and Kaye, 2015; Jeon and Rieh, 2014; Metzger and Flanagin, 2015; Bawden and Robinson, 2022; Kim et al., 2021; Savolainen, 2022, 2023). This makes it easy for users to share information on a large scale without any quality checks, rendering it difficult for other users to establish or assess the credibility of information and sources within these groups.

Furthermore, unlike other online groups that offer anonymity (see Ammari et al., 2019; Drenta and Moren-Cross, 2011; Hirvonen, 2022; Lupton et al., 2016), Facebook groups require membership through identifiable personal profiles, potentially raising privacy risks. Also, information shared within Facebook groups is automatically recorded and shared with all members, making it difficult for members to control the flow of their information within these groups. Members' information is also subject to Facebook's and group moderators' and administrators' ownership and control, as well as being accessible to external actors, posing additional risks of privacy invasion.

The ease of use and the scale at which information is sought and shared, coupled with the lack of control or gatekeeping over information quality, privacy, and flow, may pose risks and challenges related to both assessing information credibility and managing private information. These issues, and how they are handled, have been widely examined and theorised within the context of personal profiles, across several SNSs, and often in relation to maintaining personal or professional networks with known others (for example, see Ellison et al., 2014a, 2014b; Kim et al., 2021; Vitak and Ellison, 2013; Vitak

and Kim, 2014). However, in-depth explorations of these issues in relation to engagement in information activities with strangers or within Facebook groups have not been emphasised or explored in any depth in previous LIS research, with very few exceptions (e.g., Mudliar and Raval, 2018; Vardell et al., 2022). That is, there has been limited exploration of how groups navigate and manage information credibility and privacy issues on Facebook and within Facebook groups. This underscores the need to explore the ways in which information activities are carried out and navigated at both collective and individual levels in such distinct, shared information environments.

The current study builds upon and contributes to the existing literature by providing an in-depth exploration of the ways in which a Facebook group is formed and maintained as a shared information environment for engaging in information activities. The study focuses on highlighting both the opportunities and challenges presented for engaging in information activities within the group, and it explores the ways in which members, at both an individual and group level, navigate and manage these opportunities and challenges. An indepth understanding of how people form, maintain, and use Facebook groups as information-rich environments to engage in information activities within these groups is essential for informing both theory and practice.

On the one hand, from a theoretical standpoint, the unique nature of Facebook groups as information sources highlights the need to conceptualise the specific ways in which people form, maintain, and engage in these novel information environments. On the other hand, from practical and design perspectives, accessing and using information shared within Facebook groups contributes to the formation of opinions and decisions that may not only have a significant impact on individuals but also influence others and society at large. Thus, it is particularly important to understand how people maintain and engage in information activities within Facebook groups. This understanding may help to guide the creation and customisation of safe spaces, where supporting open discussions while ensuring privacy protection and access to high-quality and credible information is crucial.

1.3 Research aim and questions

The overarching aim of this thesis is to offer an in-depth understanding of engagement with an everyday life information practice within the context of a private Facebook group. This information practice is viewed as constituted by the everyday, ongoing, information activities that members engage in within the group. A core focus is therefore on the processes shaping how members seek, share, search, access, use, evaluate, and manage information within the Facebook group.

This research is grounded in a sociocultural perspective, combining concepts and theories such as affordances, cognitive authority, situated learning, community of practice, communication privacy management, context collapse, and the imagined audience. In the thesis, I argue that combining these concepts helps us to focus on and understand various aspects of the information practice within the Facebook group. The thesis is based on a compilation of four published research articles that draw up on an interview study with members of a mothers' Facebook group. Together, the articles, and this text framing them, serve to achieve the overarching aim of the thesis. The thesis seeks to address the following research questions:

- 1. What affordances does the Facebook group offer for engagement in information activities, and how?
 - How do the affordances of the Facebook group facilitate members' opportunities to engage in information activities?
 - How do the affordances of the Facebook group complicate or constrain members' opportunities to engage in information activities?
- 2. How is the Facebook group maintained as an environment for information activities, and how does the group navigate the opportunities and challenges presented within it, according to group members' accounts?

1.4 Research scope and demarcation

The following aspects fall outside the scope of this research study. The study specifically delves into the various ways in which the Facebook group enables and constrains members' engagement in an everyday life information practice. While the study considers the role of diverse online and offline information sources, and some information activities pursued by members beyond the group – whether offline, across various SNSs, or on other online sources and platforms – these aspects and sources are not the primary focus of this research. Additionally, it is important to note that identity positioning (e.g., gender, mother, father, or immigrant) was not and did not emerge as a focal point during either the data construction or the analysis of the empirical material.

1.5 Thesis outline

This is a compilation thesis consisting of two parts. The first part consists of a thesis essay organised into seven main chapters, as follows:

Chapter 1 presents the focus of the thesis, the research background and problem, the aim and questions, and its scope and demarcation.

Chapter **2** positions the study in relation to current research within both LIS and social media research.

Chapter 3 provides a presentation of the theoretical framework of the thesis.

Chapter 4 presents the research methodology and covers various issues related to the research process, including the methods of data construction and analysis, site selection, ethical and methodological considerations, and reflections.

Chapter 5 summarises the four research articles that make up part two of the thesis and reflects upon the connections between them.

Chapter 6 provides a discussion that aims to answer the research questions, based on the four included articles and the theoretical framework.

Chapter 7 provides a concluding summary of the main research insights and contributions. It also presents a few suggestions for future research directions.

It is crucial to point out that the thesis essay, the first part of this thesis, provides some research perspectives that are commonly adopted in the study of social media and information activities relevant to the research aim and problem. This helps to situate the study within specific research fields and in relation to specific research traditions. However, the thesis essay does not include a review of previous empirical research, nor does it contain an analysis of the empirical data constructed as part of the thesis work. Instead, more thorough reviews of relevant empirical research and the interpretation of the empirical data through the theoretical concepts are primarily presented in the research articles in part two.

The second part consists of a collection of four peer-reviewed research articles appended as the second part of the thesis, as follows:

- I. Mansour, A. (2021). Affordances supporting mothers' engagement in information-related activities through Facebook groups. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 53(2), 211–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000620938106
- II. Mansour, A. & Francke, H. (2017). Credibility assessments of everyday life information on Facebook: A sociocultural investigation of a group of mothers. *Information Research*, 22(2), paper 750. http://InformationR.net/ir/22-2/paper750.html
- III. Mansour, A. (2020). Shared information practices on Facebook: The formation and development of a sustainable online community. *Journal of Documentation*, 76(3), 625–646. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-10-2018-0160
- IV. Mansour A. & Francke, H. (2021). Collective privacy management practices: A study of privacy strategies and risks in a private Facebook group. In *PACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 5(CSCW2), Article 360. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3479504

2. Positioning the research

The aim of this chapter is to position the thesis in relation to two principal bodies of research: Library and Information Science and Social Media Studies. The chapter is divided into two main parts. Firstly, I provide an overview of information practices as the research area within LIS to which this study is most closely related, and of the associated research focus on everyday life information practices, with its interest in everyday life contexts. Secondly, I define and discuss key, thesis-relevant concepts and perspectives commonly adopted in social media research. It is important to note that this chapter does not aim to provide a review of previous empirical research on the thesis' topic. Instead, it focuses on situating the research in relation to specific research perspectives and areas. Relevant empirical research is covered in the four peer-reviewed articles appended as the second part of this thesis.

Social media is a complex phenomenon that has a strong requirement for interdisciplinary perspectives, as pointed out by several scholars, to comprehend its implications and transformative role across various aspects of contemporary life (see Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Elish and boyd, 2018; Ellison et al., 2022; Lomborg, 2017; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b; Quan-Haase and McCay-Peet, 2022; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). This thesis, as stated above, is positioned as an interdisciplinary study that draws from and contributes to two main bodies of research, those of LIS and Social Media. This positioning aims to enhance our understanding of social media's importance when engaging in information activities in everyday life.

There is an established and rich tradition of information practices research in LIS (e.g., Hicks, 2019; Lloyd, 2010, 2012; Pilerot, 2014a; Savolainen, 2007a), some of it focusing in particular on everyday life information practices (e.g., Bates, 2002; Hirvonen et al., 2019; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 1995, 2018). This thesis aims to contribute to this tradition with an enriched understanding of the ways in which people engage in information activities within an everyday life context.

Furthermore, the study seeks to add to the emerging field of social media studies (see Quan-Haase and McCay-Peet, 2016), through providing a better understanding of the affordances of social media and their entangled role in facilitating and constraining people's engagement with various information activities within specific everyday contexts (e.g., Ellison et al., 2014b, 2015; Ellison and Vitak, 2015; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

Specifically, the study contributes to the growing interdisciplinary research area focusing on the role and impact of various digital technologies (e.g., social media, search engines, algorithms, Artificial Intelligence) in (re)shaping our interactions with information in contemporary society (e.g., Andersson, 2021; Haider and Sundin, 2019; Hirvonen et al., 2023; Savolainen, 2019).

Overall, by drawing on findings and perspectives from these research areas, and adopting a sociocultural perspective – as described in Chapter 3 – it is possible to explore from various angles the complexities involved in the formation, engagement, and management of an everyday life information practice within a specific social media context. I view this study as a contribution to our understanding of the situated and nuanced ways in which people seek, share, search, monitor, conceal, evaluate, avoid, and use information within a Facebook group. It specifically seeks to shed light on what, how, and why information activities are enabled and constrained within a specific social media context, thus providing theoretical and practical insights into the use of social media for informational purposes in everyday life.

2.1 Library and Information Science Research

As mentioned above, this study is situated within the field of LIS. In the first part of this section, I begin by providing an overview of information practices as both a key concept and a research area focused on describing and analysing the various ways in which people engage with information (see Savolainen, 2007b, 2019). In the second part of the section, I provide an overview of everyday

life information practices as a specific research focus within LIS, to which this study is also related (see McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 2008, 2018).

2.1.1 Information practices research

My primary interest in this thesis is people's engagement in information activities in everyday life within the context of Facebook groups. Engagement in information activities is a complex phenomenon, traditionally explored under two umbrella concepts in LIS: information practices and information behaviour (see Savolainen, 2007b). Research on information practices and information behaviour share a common focus on exploring the various ways in which people interact with information and engage in information activities (Savolainen, 2007b). The term "information activities" often encompasses the wide range of activities and actions that people undertake when dealing with information from various information sources and channels (e.g., social media, search engines, libraries, databases, and other people) (see also Limberg et al., 2012). Engagement with information activities may involve seeking, sharing, searching, avoiding, monitoring, using, and assessing information, among many other activities (see also Article I).

While both information practices and information behaviour research share a focus on information activities, the research often adopts distinct research paradigms, theoretical foundations, and methodological research approaches (see Savolainen, 2007b). These differences result in two main research areas, each with their own traditions, that influence researchers' perspectives and conceptualisations of information activities and the nature of engagement in those activities. One core difference highlighted by Savolainen (2007b) is that, in information practices research, "the emphasis [is] placed on the role of contextual factors of information seeking, use, and sharing", offering an alternative point of view to information behaviour, which typically focuses on examining information activities at the level of individual information seekers (p.121). (For further discussion on the main similarities and differences, refer to Limberg et al., 2013; Lloyd, 2012; Savolainen, 2007b; Talja and Nyce,

2015; "The Behavior/Practice Debate" 2009). The research presented in this thesis is situated within and contributes to the research area of information practice, specifically focusing on everyday life information practices. This specific research focus is further discussed in section 2.1.2.

Information practices research within LIS has its theoretical roots in, and is influenced by, how practice theories have been developed in various fields, including sociology, philosophy, anthropology, education, and science and technology studies, among others (Lloyd, 2012; Limberg et al., 2013; Pilerot et al., 2017; Savolainen, 2007b; Talja and Lloyd, 2010; Talja and Nyce, 2015). Theories of practice began to attract attention during the 2000s within various fields in what is often referred to as a "practice turn" in LIS (Talja and McKenzie, 2007) or a "turn to practice" in HCI (Kuutti and Bannon, 2014). Practice theories within LIS have been influential in theorising how people's activities are interwoven and embedded within particular social practices (see also Cox, 2012; Pilerot et al., 2017; Savolainen, 2007b; Schatzki, 1997). LIS scholars employing practice theories share an interest in describing and analysing human actions or activities involving information as enacted within specific social practices (Limberg et al., 2013; Lloyd, 2012; Savolainen, 2007b). This is a different analytical focus from research with an interest in how people's cognitive abilities, personal characteristics (e.g., age, gender, etc.), or individual and isolated actions have consequences for information behaviour (Limberg et al., 2013, p.106; see also Lloyd, 2012; Pilerot and Limberg, 2011).

Whereas some scholars contributing to the research area of information practices have primarily been influenced by practice-based approaches, others have combined these approaches with constructs from epistemologically related sociocultural theories in their theorising of information activities (for a discussion see Cox, 2012). According to Cox (2012), a focus on learning, which is emphasised by the sociocultural perspective, was considered uncommon and is usually not emphasised by practice-oriented theorists. As I discuss further in Chapter 3, in their theorising of practice, Lave and Wenger have focused on situated learning as an integral of, and an active process within, engagement in

relation to a socioculturally situated practice (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998).

Building on these ideas, Annemaree Lloyd has employed theories of practice and sociocultural theory (such as those of Gherardi, 2000; Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998) to conceptualise information literacy practices within LIS as active processes of learning and engagement in shared and collective information activities within specific contexts in work, education, and everyday life. More specifically, in a series of studies, Lloyd integrated the concepts of "situated learning" and "community of practice" developed by Lave and Wenger (1991) and "knowing" from Gherardi (2000) to examine and understand information practices in various contexts, including those of emergency workers (Lloyd, 2005), nurses (Bonner and Lloyd, 2011), migrants and refugees (Lloyd et al., 2013, 2017), and enthusiast car restorers (Lloyd and Olsson, 2019). Lloyd's primary contribution to the research area of information practice has thus been her emphasis on the situated nature of the "learning" and "knowing" that occurs through participation in a specific sociocultural context.

Researchers who study information practices have tended to emphasise different tenets of practice, depending on the perspectives adopted (e.g., activities, rules and norms, temporality, learning, embodiment, and materiality) (see Pilerot et al., 2017). Given the varied interpretations of "information practices", it is thus an ambiguous term, with no clear consensus among LIS researchers regarding the scope or definition of the concept (Pilerot et al., 2017; Savolinen, 2007). In this thesis, I use the term "information practice" to specifically signal and position the study within information practices as an established research area within LIS (see also Lloyd, 2012; Limberg et al., 2013; Savolainen, 2007b). This is mainly because this research area broadly focuses on the situated ways in which people engage in information activities, which is in line with the theoretical assumptions of the sociocultural perspective adopted in the study, as further discussed in Chapter 3. I also use the term "information practice" in the study when specifically referring to the "shared online practice" that the studied Facebook group developed, managed, and sustained through the adoption of shared repertoires of tangible and intangible tools, entailing

"shared and collective understandings of *what, when,* and most importantly *how* information can or should be shared by community members in ways that are valued in this specific community" (Mansour, 2020, p.627, emphasis in original).

2.1.2 Everyday life information practices

The predominant emphasis of information practices research is often placed on analysing information activities in formal workplaces, or academic or educational settings that are governed by institutional rules and regulations, as well as formal structures and hierarchies (Case and Given, 2016; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 2008). However, within LIS, a specific research focus has emerged that largely focuses on analysing people's information activities in everyday life contexts, where those information activities are seen as spontaneous and less driven by formal structures or hierarchies (Case and Given, 2016; Lloyd and Olsson, 2019; Savolainen, 2018). This specific research focus is commonly referred to as Everyday Life Information Seeking (ELIS) (Savolainen, 1995, 2018) or, more broadly, everyday life information practices (Lloyd, 2013; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 1995, 2008, 2021).

Research on this topic is often conducted under the broader research traditions of information practices or information behaviour, which I have previously discussed. ELIS therefore experiences an overlapping influence from both research traditions, as well as their respective theoretical underpinnings and methodological approaches (see also Cox, 2012, 2013; Savolainen, 2007b, 2016). Generally, an everyday life information practice is often used within LIS to refer to the situated ways in which people engage in information activities to navigate various situations within specific everyday contexts that do not necessarily involve academic, professional, or work-related goals and tasks (Savolainen, 2017a, 2018; see also Hirvonen, 2019; Lloyd and Olsson, 2019; McKenzie, 2003a). This ELIS research stresses that information practices are shaped and enacted through everyday routine and mundane activities that people engage in within the specific context where these activities occur (Lloyd, 2012, p.774).

Within LIS, an interest in information activities such as information seeking and searching within everyday life contexts has grown since the late 1980s, during which time there has been a shift from system-centred research to user-centred perspectives (Dervin and Nilan, 1986; Haider and Sundin, 2019; Savolainen, 2017b; Sundin et al., 2017). This shift has also been observed in other, interrelated research fields such as HCI, CSCW, and research on social media. (For a further discussion see section 2.2, and also Bayer et al., 2020; Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Clemmensen et al., 2016; Kuutti and Bannon, 2014; Rogers, 2012). Research within ELIS has examined information seeking activities in various everyday life contexts, such as leisure, hobbies, health, vaccinations, parenting, immigration, and unemployment, to name just a few (see Case and Given, 2016; Eriksson-Backa et al., 2018; Hertzum and Hyldegård, 2019; Hirvonen, 2019; Kari and Hartel, 2007; McKenzie, 2003b; Savolainen, 2017b).

In a series of studies, Reijo Savolainen has been influential in conceptualising information activities in relation to everyday contexts, or "ordinary life", and as part of wider everyday practices. His research has been particularly useful in showing how people seek and share information within both online and offline settings to solve various everyday issues such as unemployment, home buying, environmental activism, immigration, health, wellbeing, dieting, and vaccinations, among others (see Savolainen, 2023, 2017b, 2011a, 2010, 2008).

Several models of everyday life information seeking have been developed within LIS, focusing on describing how people seek information through a variety of information sources and channels, to achieve particular goals or solve particular problems (for an overview of these information seeking models see Case and Given, 2016; Savolainen, 2018). The models that are of most notable relevance to this thesis include Savolainen's ELIS model (Savolainen, 1995), Bates's (2002) information seeking and searching integrated model, and McKenzie's model of information practices in everyday life (2003a). In these models, information seeking is broadly conceptualised as a process that is facilitated by various modes, including active or passive, directed or non-(un)directed information seeking. Bates (2002) proposed a model consisting of

two modes: an active mode of engaging in information seeking activity (e.g., searching, browsing), and the passive mode of seeking information when one has no specific need or goal in mind (e.g., monitoring, maintaining awareness). Similarly, McKenzie (2003a) proposed a model consisting of everyday information seeking activities, such as: active information seeking, active scanning, non-directed monitoring, and information seeking through a proxy. These models have been particularly useful for analysing the main information activities and modes of engagement with information and others in the research presented in Article I. They are also beneficial for the overall discussion of the research findings of this study.

As already mentioned, information practices and information behaviour research broadly focuses on examining the various ways in which people interact with information, including seeking, searching, sharing, accessing, evaluating, and using information, among others (Savolainen, 2007b). However, research within these areas and within everyday life information practices, has predominantly focused on information seeking activities, which are treated or analysed as discrete and isolated from other interrelated activities (see Savolainen, 2019, 2016). This is reflected in the many available models that have been developed around information seeking, with limited attention being given to other interrelated information activities such as information sharing (for further discussion, see Pilerot, 2014a; Savolainen, 2019; Talja, 2002). While interrelated information activities such as information sharing have gained more attention in LIS, particularly in professional and workplace contexts (e.g., Forsgren and Byström, 2018; Pilerot, 2015; Talja, 2002), there is still a need for further exploration of information sharing activities within everyday life contexts (see Savolainen, 2017a, 2019).

Information sharing is often used interchangeably with "knowledge sharing" (Pilerot, 2014a). Previous research on information sharing has either examined it as an indirect activity, or primarily in relation to work-related tasks (see Robson and Robinson, 2013; Savolainen, 2019; Talja and Hansen, 2006). Research on information sharing has often drawn from fields such as information systems, communication, organisational studies, and CSCW, which

all focus on the sharing, exchange, or transfer of knowledge and information within workplace settings (Forsgren and Byström, 2018; Pilerot, 2012; Savolainen, 2019; Talja and Hansen, 2006). Thus, when researchers examine information seeking and sharing within LIS, they tend conceptualise them as two distinct activities (see Savolainen, 2019), or even as distinct research areas and subfields (see Pilerot, 2014a). In a review of major information seeking models, Savolainen aimed to establish a more holistic understanding of the relationship between information seeking and sharing activities (see Savolainen, 2019). His analysis showed that the interplay between information seeking and sharing in previous literature has been approached indirectly and implicitly, rather than directly or explicitly (Savolainen, 2019, p.530). Hence, although his efforts bridge the gap between the two activities conceptually and theoretically, at the time when the articles in the thesis were written, such a bridge had yet to be established empirically.

In this thesis, I draw upon and contribute to the area of information practices research, and more specifically everyday life information practices research, by providing in-depth insights into engagement with an everyday life information practice within the context of a private Facebook group. This research aims to expand the focus beyond viewing information seeking as an isolated activity performed by an individual information seeker. In particular, the key contribution to this line of research lies in highlighting the joint and multifaceted nature of new modes of engagement in highly networked and interrelated information activities such as seeking, sharing, searching, monitoring, avoiding, concealing, and evaluating, among many other activities within the everyday life context of a Facebook group.

2.2 Social Media Research

This study also draws on the multidisciplinary field of social media scholarship, which is the focus of this section. I begin by providing an overview of some perspectives that have been used to define and analyse social media. I focus on

discussing the perspectives that are most relevant to my research questions, while noting that the discussion is not intended to provide an exhaustive summary of all the available perspectives in this area. (For a more detailed and comprehensive analysis and discussion of the topic over the years, see e.g., Baym and boyd, 2012; Bayer et al., 2020; Bucher and Helmond, 2018; boyd, 2010, 2015; Couldry and van Dijck, 2015; Ellison et al., 2022; Fox and McEwan, 2020; Khoo, 2014; Lomborg, 2017; Treem and Leonardi, 2012; van Dijck, 2013; van Dijck and Poell, 2015).

2.2.1 Defining social media and social networking sites

The terms social media and social networking sites (SNSs) are often used interchangeably, but there are varying meanings and definitions for these terms in different contexts and disciplines (see Bayer et al., 2020; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b; Obar and Wildman, 2015; Quan-Haase and McCay-Peet, 2016). Until the mid-2010s, social media, social networks, and social networking sites were the most frequent, and interchangeable, terms used.

The rapidly evolving landscape of information technology over the past two decades, coupled with various similarities and differences among digital tools and applications, now makes it difficult to provide a clear-cut definition of these terms (for overviews see Aichner et al., 2021; Bayer et al., 2020; Carr, 2021; Obar and Wildman, 2015; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). Thus, depending on how these sites have been viewed and approached, as discussed further below (see section 2.2.2), social media researchers have defined social media and SNSs in various ways. Some researchers focus on defining them based on their core features or elements (e.g., the profile, network, newsfeed, stream, messages, likes, comments, etc.), while others view them on the basis of the practices they enable (e.g., self-presentations, interpersonal communications), or their core affordances (e.g., visibility, persistence, associations, editability, searchability, etc.), as noted in previous research (Bayer et al., 2020; boyd and Ellison, 2008; Hogan and Quan-Haase, 2010; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

In this thesis, I use "social media" as an umbrella term to refer to the new generation of social computing tools in a wider sense, including mobile applications, websites, and platforms, which enable the direct creation, communication, and sharing of information in various modalities (e.g., text, images, videos). SNSs are a subset of social media technologies, and represent digital technologies that allow people to create and maintain diverse networks and connections (see also Bayer et al., 2020; Ellison and Vitak, 2015; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b). Social media share a set of common affordances (as further discussed in section 2.2.2), including the ability to create and display a personal profile (boyd and Ellison, 2008; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

One of the earliest definitions of social network sites was proposed by boyd and Ellison. They defined SNSs as online platforms "that allow individuals to (1) construct a public or semi-public profile within a bounded system, (2) articulate a list of other users with whom they share a connection, and (3) view and traverse their list of connections and those made by others within the system" (boyd and Ellison, 2008, p.211). Although this definition has frequently been used to define social media, social networking sites and social network sites, it is important to note that boyd and Ellison distinguished social network sites from other types of social networking and social media sites. The authors preferred to use the term "social network" (or "social network sites") rather than "networking" to emphasise that users primarily communicate with people who are already part of their social network. According to boyd and Ellison (boyd and Ellison, 2008; Ellison and boyd, 2013), social network sites such as Facebook are one type of social media that is particularly used to socialise, maintain, and strengthen relations among people who already know each other offline, rather than forming new connections with strangers. boyd and Ellison (2008) explained:

Networking emphasizes relationship initiation, often between strangers. [...] On many of the large SNSs, participants are not necessarily "networking" or looking to meet new people; instead, they are primarily communicating with people who are already a part of their extended social network. To emphasize

this articulated social network as a critical organizing feature of these sites, we label them "social network sites." (p.211)

Thus, social network sites or social networking sites (both abbreviated as SNSs) are terms that are often associated in academic discussions with platforms such as Facebook, while the term social media is often associated with other sites that may not necessarily be used to connect with or maintain already established networks (for a discussion, see McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b; Obar and Wildman, 2015).

While early scholarship on SNSs, and particularly Facebook, focused on their use for self-presentation and maintaining existing networks of known others, the use of platforms like Facebook has evolved during the past two decades to encompass a much wider range of communication and collaboration possibilities with broader audiences that extend beyond close connections (for a discussion, see Bucher, 2021; Vitak, 2017). For instance, as Bucher (2021, p.80) has recently noted, viewing Facebook as an SNS that is primarily used to network and maintain established connections does not reflect the nuanced ways in which both Facebook as a platform and users' practices have evolved over time since their conception, now offering a wide range of possibilities for users. For example, Facebook offers various features such as groups, messages, pages, and events, which provide various forms of visibility and enable users to connect with both known and unknown others around shared interests, and organise events (Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2016; Hård af Segerstad and Kasperowski, 2015; Mudliar and Raval, 2018). The introduction and utilisation of these features has expanded people's options for making new connections and interactions through and on Facebook, and they have made the platform more than just a tool for maintaining established social networks and connections (Bucher, 2021).

Furthermore, Facebook is one of the very few SNSs that enforces a high degree of identifiability of users' information through an explicit real-name policy, requiring users to provide their legal and real names to be able to engage through the platform and use its services. This real-name policy, which contributes to the platform's unique affordance of heightened visibility and

identifiability of users' information and their real-life identities, has been discussed/addressed in more detail in previous research (for more information refer to Bucher, 2021; Chen, 2018; Ellison and Vitak, 2015; Hogan, 2013; Schoenebeck et al., 2016).

In this thesis, Facebook is viewed as a distinctive social networking site (SNS) and a tool that offers diverse possibilities for communication as well as the potential to achieve a variety of goals beyond maintaining established connections, as noted in previous research (Bayer et al., 2020; Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Ellison and Vitak, 2015; Smock et al., 2011). By recognising these distinct opportunities, via affordances offered through Facebook, we can better understand the nuanced ways in which Facebook is used in everyday life, as emphasised by Bucher (2021) and others.

2.2.2 Perspectives on social media

Over the past two decades, social media has grown into a widespread phenomenon, leading to multidisciplinary research problems and questions that scholars have approached from different perspectives (boyd, 2015; Ellison et al., 2022; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b).

Scholars from fields such as LIS, psychology, educational sciences, media and communication studies, human-computer interaction (HCI), computer-supported cooperative work (CSCW), information systems, and computer science, among others, have all contributed to the study of social media. These diverse fields share a common interest in social media as a phenomenon, but prioritise and emphasise different aspects, including social, psychological, cognitive, and material/technical aspects (Ellison et al., 2022; Quan-Haase and McCay-Peet, 2016; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). In general, scholarship on social media aims to understand its role and impact in mediating and complicating various aspects of contemporary society. This includes issues related to communication, entertainment, work, education, commerce, advertising, health, wellbeing, and politics, among many others (see Aichner et al., 2021; Bayer et al., 2020; Fox and McEwan, 2020). Ellison et al. (2022) and Bucher and

Helmond (2018) have identified three dominant theoretical perspectives that are employed in different fields to study these social media issues: user-centred, system or platform-centred, and sociotechnical.

User-centred and system-centred perspectives are two key theoretical perspectives that have been widely applied in the study of social media (for a more detailed discussion, refer to Ellison et al., 2022; Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Bayer et al., 2020). A user-centred perspective on social media studies broadly focuses on the end user by analysing the social, behavioural, psychological, or cognitive aspects that influence, or are entailed in, social media use. This includes, but is not limited to, users' characteristics (e.g., age, gender, education, etc.), motivations, norms, relationship ties, behaviours, practices, patterns of use, social structures, or compositions (for a discussion and overviews see Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Ellison et al., 2022; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016b; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). Previous research shows that this line of inquiry has received significant attention in social media scholarship, particularly in the social sciences and humanities (see McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016a, 2016b; Quan-Haase and Sloan, 2022; Lomborg, 2017).

A system- or platform-centred perspective often involves research focusing on the analysis, design, or development of social media platforms, including their features and functionalities. It also explores their role in prompting and influencing different types of actions and usage patterns (see McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016a, 2016b; Papacharissi, 2009). Research that applies this perspective examines how the platform features are designed to increase engagement, promote information disclosures, facilitate communication and collaboration, allow for privacy controls, or ensure safety and security (for more information and overviews, refer to Bayer et al., 2020; Ellison et al., 2022; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016a, 2016b). This line of research views social media as a toolkit or bundle of features, and aims to explore how social media sites and platforms can be effectively utilised or designed to influence user engagement and thus enhance the overall user engagement and experience (see Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Leonardi, 2017 for a discussion).

user-centred perspectives often focus on the cognitive, While psychological, or social aspects (e.g., social relations, values, and norms) that influence social media use, system- or platform-centred perspectives focus on the design and analysis of the specific features, functionalities, and platforms that influence these outcomes (for a discussion see Bucher and Helmond, 2018). For example, a user-centred perspective on social media privacy may focus on exploring the cognitive, psychological, behavioural, or social factors and patterns that influence people's information disclosures on social media, such as culture, relationship ties, norms, or values (e.g., Beam et al., 2018). In contrast, a system-centred perspective focuses on the design and analysis of specific privacy settings and features that prompt or influence users to disclose less or more information and details (e.g., Fiesler et al., 2017). Several social media scholars have noted that the former perspective is predominant in the social sciences and humanities, while the latter is predominantly adopted in information systems and computer sciences (see Ellison et al., 2022; Bucher and Helmond, 2018; McCay-Peet and Quan-Haase, 2016a).

Besides these two perspectives, a sociotechnical perspective has been proposed, which has gained increasing popularity in recent years because it offers a middle ground between user-centred and system-centred perspectives (for a detailed discussion see Ellison et al., 2022; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). This perspective offers a cross-disciplinary approach that combines social and technical aspects related to social media and its use.

Sociotechnical perspectives in the study of social media focus on analysing and understanding the reciprocal relationship between users and social media platforms, and how it shapes and influences their various uses and outcomes (Bayer et al., 2020; Ellison et al., 2022; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). From this perspective, social media is broadly viewed as a sociotechnical phenomenon in which "the technological and social mutually constitute one another" (Ellison et al., 2022, p.3). This approach acknowledges the "social and technical nexus" (Faraj and Azad, 2012, p.238), and how they co-evolve and shape each other over time, providing various possibilities for action (see also Chapter 3; Bayer et al., 2020; Ellison et al., 2022; Ellison and Vitak, 2015;

Leonardi, 2012; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). Both Ellison et al. (2022) and Treem and Leonardi (2012) argue that this perspective has the potential to offer social media scholars a balanced and dynamic perspective for understanding the role and impact of social media, because it recognises the entangled relationship between users and social media platforms, and how it influences possibilities for action.

One example of a sociotechnical perspective is the relational affordance perspective, which this study also adopts (as further discussed in Chapter 3, section 3.3). An affordances perspective focuses on the mutual and reciprocal relation between users and social media platforms and its role in enabling or constraining various possibilities for action (see Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Ellison et al., 2022; Evans et al., 2017; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Mansour et al., 2020; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). As argued by Ellison and colleagues (Ellison and Vitak, 2015; Ellison et al., 2022), the rapid evolution of social media as a sociotechnical phenomenon compels researchers to go beyond merely describing specific technical features, uses, or users of SNSs at a given moment in time. Several social media scholars have thus advocated for using affordances as a theoretical lens, which allows researchers to bridge the conceptual gap between the social and technical features of social media. This has proved useful in offering a nuanced understanding of the dynamics involved in using these media by both individuals and groups (Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Mansour et al., 2013, 2020; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

Hence, adopting a sociotechnical perspective, particularly a relational affordance perspective, has enabled social media scholars to identify "higher-level affordances" across social media platforms, including visibility, editability, association, and persistence, explaining their similarities and differences and how people utilise them to achieve various goals (see Ellison and Vitak, 2015; Ellison et al., 2022; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). These affordances vary, however, across various social media platforms and over time. For instance, numerous features available across social media platforms enable and constrain the level

and degree to which users' information and activities are made visible, persistent, and editable (Treem et al., 2020, p.53).

Overall, a sociotechnical perspective exemplified by affordances offers a theoretical tool that helps us to understand how social media offer new possibilities that may enable or constrain engagement in information activities. It also helps to address the classic divide between user- and system-centred perspectives, by offering a perspective that explores the mutual relationship and interplay between people and the materiality of social media platforms in offering unique possibilities and capabilities for action.

A sociotechnical perspective focusing on the affordances of social media enables us to focus on the role of the mutual relationship between the user and the capabilities of social media in shaping its use. However, relying solely on affordance as a standalone theory remains limited, because it focuses narrowly on the immediate context of interaction between a user and a platform, often overlooking its broader sociocultural context, as noted by Kaptelinin and Nardi (2012), and further discussed in Chapter 3.

To conclude, different perspectives have been adopted in the study and analysis of social media, but there is still a need for interdisciplinary efforts to help in fully unpacking the complexities entailed in social media use (Ellison et al., 2022; Evans et al., 2017; Karanasios et al., 2021; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). In the next chapter, I present the theoretical framework of the study, which builds on a sociocultural perspective of mediated action. This perspective is supplemented with a relational view of affordance and a number of other theories and concepts from different research fields.

3. Theoretical framework

3.1 Chapter overview

This thesis focuses on providing an in-depth understanding of the use of a Facebook group for informational purposes in everyday life. It examines the various ways in which members of a private Facebook group engage in information activities through the group and the affordances that shape those activities. In Chapter 2, I discussed why employing a perspective that takes both users and tools/technology into account, rather than focusing solely on one or the other, is essential for providing a nuanced understanding of social media's role and use in everyday life. In this chapter, I present a theoretical framework for the work reported in this thesis, grounded in a sociocultural perspective, in order to capture multiple viewpoints on social media.

A sociocultural perspective emphasises that people's actions and activities are mediated through learning and interaction with others and the tools available within a specific sociocultural context. This perspective is particularly useful because it is versatile and can easily help to integrate a range of concepts and theories that focus on the role of tools and individual, interpersonal, and collective processes (cf. Karanasios et al., 2021). It also helps to highlight the role of different types of tools in shaping people's activities within a particular sociocultural context (cf. Karanasios et al., 2021; Wertsch, 1998a). A sociocultural approach is well-suited to this study and employing it contributes to a nuanced and holistic understanding of how the information activities within the Facebook group are shaped in relation to the specific sociocultural context in which they take place.

This chapter is structured as follows: Firstly, I provide an overview of the theoretical framework of the study, presented in Table 1 below, encompassing the theoretical concepts used in the four articles. These concepts include mediated action, affordances, cognitive authority, situated learning, community

of practice, communication privacy management, context collapse, and the imagined audience. Secondly, I discuss the key assumptions that inform a sociocultural analysis and theorising. Thirdly, I discuss the key theoretical concepts presented in Table 1, which are used as analytical tools in the thesis articles. I outline the purposes of these concepts and how they helped me to focus on aspects relevant to the research's problem and the aim of the thesis project. Specifically, I discuss how employing these concepts can help in understanding and explaining different aspects related to people's use of SNSs as information and communication tools in everyday life. I also suggest that integrating these concepts can help to further unpack the complexities involved in engaging in information activities through social media. Combining these concepts from different fields contributes to bridging disciplinary boundaries (see Chapter 2) and extends our understanding of how people use social media when engaging in information activities. Overall, the theoretical framework sheds light on the complex role and entangled relationship between people and social media in facilitating and constraining engagement with and navigation of contemporary forms of overlapping contexts of information activities, which transcend fixed contextual, spatial, and temporal boundaries.

Table 1 Outline of the theoretical framework of the study

| Theoretical concepts | Key concepts | Purpose and focus in the thesis |
|--|---|---|
| Mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a) | Cultural tools, materiality, knowing how | Overarching perspective which helps to situate members' information activities within the specific SNS context where the activities occur. (Article II) |
| Affordance (Treem and Leonardi, 2012) | Visibility, accessibility, persistence, associations | Helps to explain how and why human and material agencies intertwine to offer various possibilities that enable and constrain information activities within social media environments. (Articles I, III, and IV) |
| Cognitive authority (Wilson, 1983) | First-hand and second- hand knowledge, intrinsic plausibility | Helps to understand how the authority and credibility of information sources are assessed in particular situations and for specific purposes. It provides a basis upon which members can decide whether to trust information and others as credible or authoritative. (Article II) |
| Situated learning & community of practice (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998) | Situated knowing, community, practice, joint enterprise, mutual engagement, shared repertoires of communal resources | Helps to understand the processes that shape how members nurture, develop, and sustain the shared information practice within the group over time. (Article III) |
| Communication privacy management (Petronio, 2002) | Privacy control, (co-)ownership, boundary, rules, turbulences | Helps to understand the complex processes involved in the considerations, negotiations, and management of privacy boundaries of and within the group, specifically regarding what, when, where, and with whom private information is revealed or concealed in relation to various contexts and situations. (Article IV) |
| Context collapse & the imagined audience (Litt, 2012; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012) | Space, time, audience | Helps to understand and explain the interplay between members' actions and their audience, when the audience is diverse and unknown, and spatial and temporal boundaries are blurred. (Articles III and IV) |

3.2 The sociocultural perspective of mediated action

This study adopts mediated action as its primary sociocultural theoretical perspective. I combine this perspective with several theoretical concepts from the four articles (discussed in section 3.3), considering them key components to form an overarching theoretical framework for the study. This framework is designed to help in the interpretation, discussion, and uncovering of potential interconnections within the overall research results (cf. Kivunja, 2018).

Lev Vygotsky, a Soviet psychologist, was a prominent researcher in the sociocultural tradition, studying how children learn and develop through active interaction with their sociocultural environment. Vygotsky's sociocultural theory is grounded in a nondualist ontology, which concerns the nature of existence and what it means for something or someone to be (Packer and Goicoechea, 2000, p.227). This ontology can be traced back to Karl Marx, who criticised earlier dualist ontologies and constructivist epistemologies of being and knowing that separated the individual from the social world, the subject from the object, and the "known from the knower" (Packer and Goicoechea, 2000, p.228). Marx's nondualist ontology and constructivist/collectivist epistemology views these entities as parts of a larger whole, mutually constituting, (re)constructing, and transforming each other (Lloyd, 2021; Talja et al., 2005; Thorne, 2005).

Grounded in this work, a sociocultural perspective adopts a constructivist/collectivist epistemology which views human development and learning as both individual and collective, dynamic, multifaceted, tool-mediated, and socially constructed through practical processes and activities (Packer and Goicoechea, 2000; Talja et al., 2005; Thorne, 2005). This means that an individual's understanding of the world does not develop in isolation but rather it is contextually dependent, constantly evolving, and shaped by ongoing interactions with others, changing the sociocultural contexts and the tools available within a particular environment (Lloyd, 2021, p.15; Talja et al., 2005). Hence, in order to address the issue of differing perspectives, sociocultural analysis focuses on analysing human action as a complex sociocultural

phenomenon that is socially constructed and tool-mediated (Packer and Goicoechea, 2000; Wertsch, 1998a). I provide further details on this analysis later in this section. Thus, the nondualist ontology and constructivist/collectivist epistemology underlying sociocultural theory aim to link different perspectives without reducing one to another (Wertsch, 1998a). In this thesis, I have adopted a nondualist and constructivist/collectivist stance in line with the sociocultural perspective, with the goal of linking and complementing, rather than reducing, other perspectives.

Vygotsky's sociocultural theory of learning aims to explain "how mental functioning is related to cultural, institutional, and historical context" (Wertsch, 1998a, p.12). Vygotsky's early theorising focused on language as a cultural tool, consisting of signs and symbols which children adopt as they learn about, interact with, and participate in meaningful activities within their sociocultural environment (Wertsch, 1998b, 2009). This theorising was further applied and extended by others to explain and describe how various types of tools are often developed, used, or adopted, consciously or unconsciously, to mediate people's interactions with the world around them (e.g., Engeström, 1987/1999; Wertsch, 1998a).

According to this approach, almost all human action, whether taken by individuals or groups, is mediated (Penuel and Wertsch, 1995; Wertsch, 1998b, 2009). The sociocultural perspective centres on mediated action and the tools people use to achieve their goals, with the aim of elucidating "the relationships between human action, and the cultural, institutional and historical contexts in which this action occurs" (Wertsch, 1998a, p.23; see also Wertsch and Tulviste, 1999). Mediated action is a key concept in the sociocultural perspective, constituting its fundamental unit of analysis (Wertsch, 1998a).

Vygotsky's original framework of mediated action is represented by a triangular model consisting of three primary basic components: subject, object, and tool(s). The model has been highly influential in explaining and theorising complex everyday situations and relationships between people and the tools that mediate their interactions with the world to achieve specific goals (see Clemmensen et al., 2016). Due to Vygotsky's short scholarly life, his analysis of

mediated action was further developed by his followers, leading to many different interpretations of his early ideas (for example, see Arnseth, 2008; Engeström, 1987/1999; Kuutti and Bannon, 2014; Wertsch, 1998a). Sociocultural theory has been embraced as an interdisciplinary theoretical framework across various disciplines, including LIS, psychology, education, anthropology, and human-computer interaction (HCI), among many others (see Clemmensen et al., 2016; Karanasios et al., 2021; Limberg et al., 2013, Säljö, 2010).

Sociocultural theory offers a holistic perspective that allows us to account for and situate the ways in which people act and interact, individually or collectively, with information or others, and the tools they use and adopt through the processes that mediate their actions within a broader sociocultural context (Wertsch, 1998a, 1998b).

One strength of a sociocultural approach is that it is versatile, adaptable, and can be compatible with various theories and concepts that help to shed light on the different dimensions at play in shaping human actions and interactions with tools within "complex, real-world contexts" (Clemmensen et al., 2016, p.618). In this thesis, I draw upon James V. Wertsch's (1998a) interpretations of Vygotsky's original work, through the sociocultural approach of mediated action that he developed. Mediated action is thus a sociocultural approach that embraces an overarching view of action in relation to the context in which it takes place, which both shapes and is shaped by the action taken (Wertsch, 1998a). Wertsch's main contribution to this line of work is that he extended Vygotsky's theorising by outlining several properties that help to define mediated action characterised by a complex relation and tension between "cultural tools and the active use of these cultural tools by individuals or groups" (Wertsch, 1998b, p.521; see also Wertsch, 2009).

Vygotsky's essential claim is that the human mind, and human action, is always mediated by tools that are developed or adopted to achieve specific goals. Tools, or mediational means, terms that are often used interchangeably, are an essential element and concept within a sociocultural perspective for clarifying how the human mind and actions are mediated (Wertsch, 1998a). From a mediated action perspective, tools both mediate and extend people's

minds and actions beyond what they could accomplish independently on their own (Wertsch, 1998b; Wertsch and Tulviste, 1999).

Wertsch (1998a, 1998b) outlined four central properties of mediated action that are relevant to this thesis; namely: (1) cultural tools and mediated action are socioculturally situated; (2) materiality is an important property of cultural tools; (3) the relationship between subjects and tools can be characterised in terms of use and knowing how; (4) cultural tools always involve affordances and constraints.

These properties provide a foundational framing for my analysis of mediated action, and serve as guiding principles for integrating and extending the theoretical concepts used within the thesis' articles. Within the study, they particularly help to highlight various aspects related to how information activities are mediated within social media environments, which I describe further below.

The first property outlined by Wertsch is that mediated action and cultural tools are "socioculturally situated" (Wertsch, 1998b, p.521). This sociocultural emphasis on human action as mediated allows us to understand both the action and its broader context. This involves examining the goals of the action, considering who is involved, and exploring the various types of tools adopted or developed to accomplish it (Wertsch, 1998a). In this way, mediated action provides a broader perspective that extends beyond the often narrow focus on elements such as "behaviour, mental or linguistic structure, or attitudes" (Wertsch, 1998a, p.12).

A mediated action perspective stipulates that individuals do not learn in isolation; rather, they learn through their interactions with each other and with the surrounding sociocultural context where the action occurs (Wertsch, 1998b). Lave and Wenger (1991) argue that a sociocultural perspective highlights that learning should be viewed as "an integral part of a generative social practice in the lived-in world" (p.35). Consequently, this perspective emphasises the *situatedness* of action, underscoring the essential connection between people's learning and the social practices that shape this learning within the context of their lived experience in the world (cf. Packer and Goicoechea, 2000, p.230).

Materiality is the second important property of mediated action. A mediated action perspective highlights the role played by cultural tools in people's interactions with, and mediation of, the world using tools that are available and were developed within a particular sociocultural context. Wertsch (1998a) points out that the materiality of cultural tools, in its various forms, plays an essential role in mediating people's actions. While some cultural tools have a concrete physical materiality (e.g., books, tablets, calculators, computers), others are intangible or conceptual in the sense that they have no concrete physical materiality (e.g., language, signs, customs, norms). For instance, language is one of the most prominent examples of cultural tools employed in sociocultural theorising to emphasise the role that intangible tools play in mediating people's actions and interactions with the world around them.

This brings me to the third property outlined by Wertsch, which highlights that the relationship between people and cultural tools should be considered in terms of use and "knowing how" (Wertsch, 1998a, 1998b). A mediated-action perspective highlights that learning and knowing are characterised by "appropriation" or "mastery", whereby people develop the situated skills they need to use specific cultural tools through a process of engagement in meaningful activities to accomplish various goals as they interact with or react to the cultural tools being used (Wertsch, 1998a, p.46). Wertsch points out that: "the development of such skills requires acting with, and reacting to, the material properties of cultural tools. Without such materiality, there would be nothing to act with or react to, and the emergence of socioculturally situated skills could not occur" (1998a, p.31). A sociocultural perspective on mediated action therefore posits that people's skills emerge through their use, or appropriation, of particular cultural tools, with some classic examples including language, calculators, or computers, leading to "the development of particular skills rather than generalized abilities and aptitudes" (Wertsch, 1998a, p.46).

The fourth property of mediated action outlined by Wertsch is that cultural tools are associated with affordances and constraints that can both empower and constrain possibilities for action (Wertsch, 1998a, 1998b). Affordances are viewed from this perspective as fixed properties of tools, which are often used

or produced to extend, empower, and enable action by providing "new capacities for human consciousness" (Wertsch, 1998a, p.38). Thus, in Vygotsky's early sociocultural theorising about the introduction of new cultural tools, his focus was often centred on their empowering role in facilitating "certain patterns of action" (Wertsch, 1998b, p.522). Wertsch later expanded upon Vygotsky's early ideas, recognising that the introduction of new tools not only involves new affordances, but also introduces new constraints and challenges that constrain possibilities for action. Wertsch claims that the limitations, and constraints, of cultural tools are only recognised when newer tools are introduced, exposing the limitations of their predecessors (Wertsch, 1998b, p.523). In other words, Wertsch's emphasis on affordances often explores how tools empower people. According to Wertsch (1998a, 1998b), tools gain meaning only when incorporated into actions aimed at accomplishing specific goals. He distinguishes between the "affordances" and "constraints" of tools, as discussed in Wertsch (1998a, p.38). The former carries a positive connotation of empowerment, while the latter has a negative connotation, suggesting their limited role in mediating action.

It is important to note here that the perspective I take on affordances differs from that adopted by Wertsch. I further discuss and elaborate upon these different interpretations and why one would adopt them in the section summarising the theoretical concepts used in the articles (see section 3.1.1).

3.2.1 Operationalisation of the theory

In this study, people's information activities on social media are conceptualised as mediated actions, which take place within, and are shaped as part of, a broader sociocultural context. Different types of cultural tools play an essential role in mediating people's information activities, and it is important to consider the role of both tangible and intangible cultural tools in mediating and shaping those activities. Furthermore, affordances are an important property of mediated action, and they play a crucial role in empowering or constraining action during the use of social media. People develop the skills they need to use

social media through a process of engaging in meaningful activities to accomplish various goals as they interact with and through various social media platforms.

Hence, in order to gain an in-depth understanding of people's information activities, it is crucial to consider the sociocultural context in which these activities take place and the role that various types of cultural tools play in mediating these activities to achieve a range of goals (Kuutti and Bannon, 2014, p.7; Wertsch, 1998a).

Sociocultural theory thus provides me with a theoretical perspective to understand people's information activities within a social media environment. This perspective is useful because it focuses on the interrelationships between the subject engaging in an activity, the aim of engaging in that activity, and the tools employed to carry out the activity (Wertsch et al., 1995). By framing social media activities as socioculturally situated, the aim is to gain an in-depth understanding of the mediational role of meaning and the use of social media, as cultural tools, for those involved in information activities (cf. Karanasios et al., 2021; Kaptelinin and Nardi, 2018). This perspective has the potential to address the limitations of the dominant user-centred and system-centred perspectives that are normally employed when studying the use of social media, as discussed in Chapter 2. A sociocultural perspective, in particular, helps us to situate people's information activities and their actual use of social media by recognising both social and material aspects, along with other, broader sociocultural dynamics. This perspective is thus crucial for understanding the role that social media plays and its impact in shaping information activities in everyday life (see Karanasios et al., 2021).

3.3 Theoretical concepts

In the following sections, I outline the theoretical concepts I have used in the four articles, focusing on outlining their strengths and limitations. I then suggest ways in which these concepts can be integrated with the broader sociocultural perspective adopted in the study to help focus on specific aspects related to the ways in which people's information activities are mediated within a specific SNS context.

3.3.1 Affordances

The notion of affordance is a key concept in the theoretical framework of the thesis. Affordances were introduced above as a central property of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a, 1998b). However, the concept has been further developed by other researchers since the late 1990s, and it has been used in a more recent interpretation adapted to social media in this study. It has proven valuable for analysing the various possibilities for engagement in information activities within the Facebook group, as discussed in more detail in Article I. Additionally, it has been useful for examining and discussing the findings presented in the other three articles (II, III, and IV), which focus on the opportunities and challenges arising from engagement in information activities within the context of a private Facebook group. In the following sections, I discuss the varied interpretations of the concept and elaborate upon the perspective I have adopted in this study. In addition, I explore the importance and relevance of utilising recent interpretations of the concept in the study, instead of how it is utilised in the mediation action perspective.

The concept of affordance was originally introduced by psychologist James Gibson (1979) to explain how animals perceive their natural environment, and as offering various possibilities for action. Over the past two decades, the concept has received considerable attention and has been valuable for examining and theorising the relationship between people and technology, leading to diverse interpretations and conceptualisations (Bucher and Helmond,

2018; Ellison et al., 2022; Evans et al., 2017; Faraj and Azad, 2012, Leonardi, 2017; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). One central point of difference in the various conceptualisations regards the 'placement' of affordances in either human or material agency (see Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Leonardi, 2017). Both Bucher and Helmond (2018) and Leonardi (2017) note that some researchers have used affordances as synonymous with the inherent features of technology itself (i.e., technical affordances), while others emphasise social structures, or the psychological aspects, skills, or cognitive factors of users exploiting these technologies (i.e., social affordances). In this way, while one perspective attributes affordances primarily to the material agency of technology, emphasising the role of tools/technology in shaping human action, the other perspective attributes affordances to human agency, emphasising the role of the user in perceiving and shaping the affordances of technology (Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Leonardi, 2017).

A third perspective, which is the one adopted in this thesis, often referred to as a relational sociotechnical approach (previously discussed in more detail in Chapter 2), builds on Gibson (1979) to suggest that affordances should not be solely attributed to either human or material agency (Leonardi, 2010; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). Instead, from this perspective, affordances are seen to emerge, and are formed, through reciprocal and entangled "relationships between people and the materiality of the things with which they come in contact" (Leonardi, 2010, n.p.). Affordances, therefore, emerge during activities involving both human and material agencies (Treem and Leonardi, 2012). This relational perspective is particularly useful in explaining how and why human and material agencies become intertwined in shaping various possibilities for action (Leonardi, 2017, p.12). It emphasises the entangled relationship between human and material agency in offering possibilities for action, rather than isolating them from each other (Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Leonardi, 2017).

Furthermore, this perspective highlights that affordances may have a "contradictory influence" on action, simultaneously enabling and constraining it (Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). Therefore, a relational

sociotechnical perspective on affordances emphasises the entangled relationship between people and the technology they use, not only in enabling possibilities for action but also in constraining them. Such an entangled relationship depends upon the actors' goals, the specific technology, and the context of use (e.g., Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). This view differs from Wertsch's view on affordance, as I explain further in this section.

Affordances are understood in this thesis as situated within specific contexts and emerging during activities that involve both human and material agencies. From this perspective, the affordances within Facebook groups may vary and change for different groups and across different contexts of use, while the technology's material features remain constant or the same (Hutchby, 2001; Leonardi, 2010; Leonardi et al., 2012). According to researchers who adopt a relational affordance perspective, "materiality exists independent of people, [but] affordances do not" (Leonardi, 2010, n.p.). For instance, identical technologies may create different dynamics of use and offer different possibilities for action, depending upon the users and the specific context in which they are used (Leonardi and Barley, 2010). Due to the diverse goals that people are pursuing when using Facebook groups, they consider them to be affording various or different possibilities for action, which can either enable or constrain their activities (cf. Leonardi, 2010). Therefore, echoing Hutchby (2001) and Leonardi et al. (2012), whereas materiality may remain the same for different tools, affordances change across different contexts because they emerge as the result of interactions between a tool and an agent offering different possibilities for action.

It is important to note that the relational affordance approach that I have adopted in this thesis differs from the perspective taken by Wertsch on affordance in his writings on mediated action. As I mentioned earlier, in section 3.2, the concept of affordance is considered a central property of mediated action, which is specifically associated with cultural tools in terms of providing affordances and constraints (Wertsch, 1998a). Wertsch (1998a, 1998b) based his interpretations of affordance on HCI scholar Donald Norman's interpretation of

the concept, which was popular at the time, a conceptualisation that deviates from Gibson's original formulation (see Leonardi, 2017 for a discussion on Norman's conceptualisation of affordance).

Norman (1990), who is interested in the design of artefacts, views affordances as properties of technologies and artefacts that are developed by a designer, which are independent of the user's perception or control. As such, Norman's perspective on affordance gives little agency to the user and suggests that good design should have intuitive or "built-in" affordances, promoting specific types of action (cf. Leonardi, 2017; Leonardi and Barley, 2010; Norman, 1999). According to Norman, affordances are intrinsic and fixed properties of a technology that are available to all users across different contexts and waiting to be perceived by the user (Leonardi, 2017; Norman, 1999). Drawing upon Norman's work, Wertsch associates affordances in the mediated action perspective with the properties or material features of tools, which are often used or produced to extend, empower, and enable action (Wertsch, 1998a).

A sociocultural perspective thus posits that cultural tools (e.g., language, a calculator) provide affordances that make it difficult to carry out specific actions without these tools (Wertsch, 1998a, p.29). Wertsch further expanded upon this line of theorising of tools as empowering by arguing that the introduction of new tools brings both new affordances and constraints. According to Wertsch, the constraints of cultural tools only become apparent when newer tools are introduced, exposing the limitations of previous ones (Wertsch, 1998a, p.29). From a mediated action perspective, Wertsch views the "affordances and constraints" of cultural tools for action as quite distinct (for a discussion see Wertsch, 1998a, p.38), with the former having a positive connotation while the latter has a negative connotation for its role in limiting possibilities for action. This differs from the relational affordance perspective that I adopt in this thesis, which, as I mentioned earlier, emphasises that affordances can have a "contradictory influence" by simultaneously enabling and constraining possibilities for action (Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

The main strength of adding this perspective to the theoretical framework is its acknowledgement of affordances as context-dependent and situated, rather than fixed properties inherent to a specific social media site. A contemporary understanding of the affordance concept as relational, as outlined above, fits well within the sociocultural perspective adopted in this thesis because it emphasises the interplay between people and the tools they use when situated within a particular context (Clemmensen et al., 2016; Kaptelinin and Nardi, 2012; Rogers, 2012). This approach specifically enables a nuanced exploration of how affordances are shaped by the features of a platform, and the information activities, rules, norms, and learning processes of its users.

3.3.2 Cognitive authority

Cognitive authority forms another key concept of this thesis' theoretical framework. It has been useful for analysing credibility assessments and how members decide whether or not to trust a particular information source. The concept was useful for discussing the research findings presented in Article II and is also beneficial for the overall discussion of the research findings of the thesis.

"Cognitive authority" is a classic concept introduced to information science by Patrick Wilson in 1983. Wilson proposed this concept to explain how individuals construct knowledge and establish criteria for assessing the authority and credibility of the information sources they consult. The concept of cognitive authority is closely intertwined with the notion of credibility and focuses on two core components: competence and trustworthiness (Wilson, 1983, p.15). In his work, Wilson argues that people develop knowledge about the world in two primary ways: "first-hand knowledge" and "second-hand knowledge." First-hand knowledge refers to knowledge gained through direct observations and personal experiences of the world, such as seeing, hearing, smelling, or touching something, or developing particular skills through direct and first first-hand education or training (Wilson, 1983). However, realistically, people cannot know or experience everything first-hand and on their own, so

instead they rely on the words and expertise of others to develop second-hand knowledge about the world. Wilson emphasises: "All I know of the world beyond the narrow range of my own personal experience is what others have told me. It is hearsay" (1983, p.13).

Second-hand knowledge about the world, obtained through the words of others, the "cognitive authorities" consulted as trusted information sources, is the primary focus of Wilson's analysis (Wilson, 1983; see also Savolainen, 2022). Cognitive authorities are, therefore, second-hand or "second best, not so good as first hand" information sources that people choose to trust or consult in order to obtain information about aspects of the world they do not know about (Wilson, 1983, p.10). Cognitive authority is always attributed by somebody; no one is a cognitive authority in themselves, they are always a cognitive authority to somebody.

Cognitive authorities are credible sources of information that hold a certain degree of influence, and their expertise and advice may carry more weight than those of others. As Wilson puts it: "The authority's influence on us is thought proper because he [sic] is thought credible, worthy of belief" (Wilson, 1983, p.15). Cognitive authorities are thus those whom "one would consciously recognise as proper" to influence one's decisions or thoughts (Wilson, 1983, p.15). It is important to highlight that cognitive authority is not solely attributed to individuals, it may also be attributed to various sources of information such as institutions, organisations, or artifacts (e.g., thermometers, libraries, books, reports, or documentaries) (Wilson, 1983). In this regard, people often assign different types or "pools of cognitive authorities" that they recognise as proper and credible information sources to consult when they seek to obtain information or "second-hand knowledge" about specific topics (Wilson, 1983, p.16).

The assessment of knowledge obtained through second-hand sources can be difficult and complex, because people often have to assess knowledge claims about topics for which they have little or no prior knowledge (Rieh, 2010; Wilson, 1983). In this regard, cognitive authority serves to explain what people value as knowledge and how they decide who possesses what knowledge about

a particular topic, or in Wilson's words, "who knows what about what" (p.10). That is, cognitive authority helps us to understand how and why people decide and justify what and who is a cognitive authority or credible source for them on a particular topic.

According to Wilson, cognitive authority, and hence a source's credibility, is often justified based on a variety of tests, direct or indirect, to determine which information sources should be recognised as cognitive authorities. These include several traditional rules or cues that people often rely upon and "cite as indirect tests or indexes of credibility" (Wilson, 1983, p.21). Among many others, a source's reputation, history, affiliations, merits, and qualifications, such as their formal education, expertise, occupation, and training, all provide a basis and direct test for the recognition of a cognitive authority (Wilson, 1983, p.21).

Whereas people rely on these indirect tests to justify why one may choose or recognise an information source as a cognitive authority, another direct test that, according to Wilson, people apply when justifying cognitive authority is "based on the ground that one finds the views of an individual intrinsically plausible, convincing, or persuasive" (Wilson, 1983, p.24). Thus, cognitive authority may be attributed based on whether the information or knowledge claim being made by a source is intrinsically plausible. This is often done, for instance, by assessing the information or knowledge claim being made and whether it aligns with one's pre-existing knowledge or beliefs on a topic, where some pre-existing values and beliefs about a source of information set limits to what is considered credible and trustworthy (Wilson, 1983, p.24). In Article II, when interpreting these cues from a sociocultural perspective on mediated action, they are understood as intangible cultural tools that are traditionally developed and recognised in order to provide a basis for the recognition of credibility and authority on a topic. However, cognitive authority is not inherent to a specific topic, source, or person; instead, it is determined by the people who are assessing the credibility and trustworthiness of information or a source using various criteria or factors, including their own pre-held beliefs, knowledge, or expertise in a particular field (Rieh, 2018; Wilson, 1983).

Regardless of how cognitive authorities are recognised, whether through direct or indirect tests, they are not universal, equal, or fixed (Wilson, 1983, p.13). People often grant cognitive authorities the power to influence their thoughts or actions in specific contexts and spheres of knowledge to varying degrees (Wilson, 1983; see also Savolainen, 2022). Hence, cognitive authority is an attributed property, limited to specific spheres of knowledge and expertise, and relies upon a relationship between at least two entities in order to be considered valid. This distinguishes it from expertise, because possessing knowledge alone cannot confer cognitive authority without recognition from another person (Wilson, 1983; see also Hirvonen et al., 2019; Rieh, 2010). That is, being an expert in a topic may not necessarily mean that one is a cognitive authority; rather, a cognitive authority must be recognised and trusted by another person or group as possessing the knowledge and competence to talk about a specific topic. For instance, a source may be considered a cognitive authority and a credible source of information to speak with full authority on a particular topic in which they are expert (e.g., international law) but may be assigned little authority to speak on another topic about which they have no knowledge or expertise (e.g., biology) (see Wilson, 1983, p.169). Moreover, recognition of cognitive authority can be lost or revoked if this authority fails to speak or continue to provide information that is intrinsically plausible, leading to a situation where one can no longer "take seriously views that are so blatantly implausible" (Wilson, 1983, p.25).

The concept of cognitive authority has been particularly useful and widely applied within LIS to understand and analyse how people assess credibility in relation to various offline and online information sources, such as blogs, discussion forums, and social media (some examples include Francke and Sundin, 2012; Hirvonen et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2021; Mierzecka et al., 2019; Savolainen, 2023; Sundin and Francke, 2009). It is important to note that a review of related work on cognitive authority and credibility assessments in relation to online environments can be found in Article II; therefore, it is beyond the scope of this study to cover.

In this study, cognitive authority offers a useful analytical tool to help us understand how people decide whom to trust as credible information sources. Specifically, the concept allows us to understand not only what information people find credible but also their justifications for why and how they decide which information sources to trust. Hence, the usefulness of incorporating the concept of cognitive authority into the theoretical framework of this study stems from its specific focus on credibility assessments to explain the basis upon which members decide which sources to trust as cognitive authorities, whether from within or outside the Facebook group. As discussed earlier, in Chapters 1 and 2, assessing information obtained through Facebook groups can be further complicated due to the lack of established authority controls within these groups and the limited information available about others' credentials and expertise. This limitation makes it difficult for people to assess the credibility of information and its sources within these groups. In this regard, employing cognitive authority in this study will help us to understand and explain how and why group members decide and justify which information is credible and whom they can trust as credible sources for information and advice within the context of the Facebook group.

3.3.3 Situated learning and community of practice

Situated learning and community of practice are two interrelated concepts that are part of this thesis' theoretical framework. They have been particularly useful in Article III, for understanding and discussing how the Facebook group nurtures, develops, and sustains participation in a shared information practice over time. These concepts are also beneficial for discussing the research findings of the thesis as a whole.

The main contribution of these concepts to the overall theoretical framework is that they explicitly focus on and add learning in relation to community and practice dimensions, thus reconstructing learning and knowing as participation in interrelated and joint information activities that are meaningful to a specific community of practice (Arnseth, 2008; Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998).

The concept of situated learning was introduced in the early 1990s within the fields of cognitive anthropology and educational sciences by Jean Lave and Etienne Wenger in their book on situated learning as a form of "legitimate peripheral participation" (see Lave and Wenger, 1991). Wenger (1998) further developed these ideas and the concept into a theory of practice, focusing on learning, meaning-making, and identity-negotiation in relation to various communities of practice. From this perspective, learning is viewed as a central aspect of all aspects of everyday life, which extends beyond traditional educational environments (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Riley and Aubrey, 2022). In line with a sociocultural perspective, Lave and Wenger argue that learning, and knowing, should be viewed as an active process of engagement in relation to a socioculturally situated practice (Lave and Wenger, 1991). They suggest that learning, and knowing, may not necessarily be either deliberate or the main goal of action, but rather an outcome of continuous and changing participation in the everyday activities of a community that engages in a shared practice (Lave and Wenger, 1991). Situated learning entails an active process of engagement in the activities of a specific community of practice (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998).

A community of practice means that a group of people who share a concern, an interest, a passion for something, or common goals want to learn more about a subject or develop their own, unique practice as they interact regularly during the daily activities of the community (Wenger, 1998). From this perspective, a practice is an outcome of such continuous and changing engagement and social relations that develops, and evolves, over time (Arnseth, 2008). A practice is thus what is being upheld by a particular community, and thus it provides the community with its main "source of coherence" (see Wenger, 1998, p.48).

Outside of educational environments, the notion of community of practice, and its foundational conceptualisation in the theory of situated learning (Lave and Wenger, 1991) has received a great deal of attention in relation to the study

of learning and knowing within work environments. Within LIS, the notion of community of practice has been one example of many practice theories embraced by scholars in the study of educational and work-related practices (see Cox, 2012; and Chapter 2). The main usefulness of the concepts of situated learning and community of practice is that they help us to understand information activities as socioculturally situated in relation to a specific practice (see Chapter 2; Cox, 2012; Zhao et al., 2021; Zhong et al., 2023).

Wenger suggests that three interrelated elements help us to describe, nurture, develop, and sustain a community of practice; namely: a joint enterprise, mutual engagement, and shared repertoires of communal resources which are developed over time (Wenger, 1998). A joint, negotiated, enterprise refers to the mutually agreed upon understandings of the important and collective goals of the community and the best ways to help the community achieve these goals. The joint enterprise is not strictly defined or predefined; instead, it is the result of a mutually negotiated agreement between those who are actively engaged in interaction with others during the everyday information activities of the community. In this way, the community's joint enterprise is deeply interrelated with mutual engagement, the second element that helps to define a group as a community of practice and sustain it over time. According to Wenger (1998), mutual engagement and sustaining relations over time are what defines a community of practice, and are an important element of it, setting it apart from other types of aggregation or grouping (e.g., groups, networks). I revisit this issue later in this chapter. It is essential to clarify here that sustained interaction does not entail that members of the community meet every day; instead, it signifies that they are consistently engaging, interacting, and collaborating around shared common concerns to achieve common goals (Wenger, 1998). Furthermore, Wenger (1998, p. 78) asserts that "[b]ecause mutual engagement does not require homogeneity, a joint enterprise does not mean agreement in any simple sense. [...] The enterprise is joint not in that everybody believes the same thing or agrees with everything, but in that it is communally negotiated." I return to this point later in this discussion.

In the pursuit of negotiating a joint enterprise that is centred around shared interests or concerns, and due to the mutual engagement over time, members of the community take part in sustaining their interaction by developing their practice through the adoption and production of shared repertoires of resources (Wenger, 1998). A shared repertoire is the third interrelated, and essential, element of a community of practice because it serves as a source of coherence for the community. A community's shared repertoires consist of the shared resources that are produced by the community over time, including information, experiences, stories, routines, rules, norms, and common ways of doing things, as well as ways of addressing common or recurring problems and dilemmas (Wenger, 1998).

Taken together, these three primary interrelated elements (i.e., a joint enterprise, mutual engagement, and a shared repertoire), characterise and sustain the shared practice of a community over time (Wenger, 1998). A situated learning perspective helps to highlight how learning and knowing result in changes, and transformations, of the different elements of a practice shared by the community over time (cf. Arnseth, 2008, p.294). A community of practice perspective helps us to focus on joint information activities that are situated in relation to a specific community of practice (Østerlund and Carlile, 2003, p.3; see also Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998).

In line with this perspective, the online space of the Facebook group under study serves as a "lived-in world of everyday activity [that] becomes the site where the action is" (Arnseth, 2008, p.294). Employing these concepts in this study helps to draw attention to people's accounts of what they do and how they make sense of their actions in concrete situations, the unfolding activities in which they engage, and the resources they employ (Arnseth, 2008, p.294; Lave and Wenger, 1991).

However, while situated learning and community of practice provide useful analytical tools for understanding the situated nature of activities as part of the engagement in the practice of a community, these concepts have been critiqued and, by themselves, they do have some limitations. Firstly, the concepts have been critiqued for their simplified views on situated learning as well as the "romanticised notion" of community (Riley and Aubrey, 2022, p.266). In particular, the concept of community has been criticised for its connotations of, and over-emphasis on, consensus, harmony, and homogeneity (Cox, 2012). As discussed earlier, and as the results reported in Article III demonstrate, a joint enterprise and mutual engagement do not necessarily entail either total harmony or homogeneity; something that Wenger also makes clear (e.g., see Wenger, 1998, p.78). Instead, the joint enterprise of a community is communally negotiated as a "collective product" of the situated and communal ways of doing things and responses to their daily situations, including achieving common ground in relation to conflicts, dilemmas, and disagreements within the community (Wenger, 1998, p.78). Hence, even though not every individual member of a community will agree about how a particular situation should be handled, "the practice evolves into the communal response to that situation" (Wenger, 1998, p.79).

This brings me to the second critique of community of practice, which is its over-emphasis on what is collectively shared by the community, rather than what is distinct or different (Arnseth, 2008; Riley and Aubrey, 2022). Within this thesis, the specific focus on the negotiation of a joint enterprise and common ground, or what is *commonly shared* by the community/group, is seen as a strength rather than a limitation. Both the notions of situated learning and community of practice help to elucidate the processes shaping engagement in *joint* information activities in relation to the context where they take place. From this perspective, knowing and learning how to participate in the community or group is seen as becoming situated and embedded through continuous engagement and participation in the daily, and mundane, activities within a particular community of practice.

The usefulness of including the concepts of situated learning and community of practice in the theoretical framework is that it allows us to focus on the "community" as a whole and helps to gain an in-depth understanding of the social processes shaping members' engagement in the information activities within the Facebook group. This helps us to understand how members engage, both individually and as a group, in establishing, participating in, and

sustaining the shared information practice of their joint community of practice within the Facebook group.

3.3.4 Communication privacy management

Communication Privacy Management (CPM) theory forms a key component of this thesis' theoretical framework. It has been particularly useful for analysing privacy management and discussing the research findings presented in Article IV, and is also beneficial for the overall discussion of the thesis' research findings.

CPM can be traced back to Irwin Altman's (1975, 1976) foundational work in environmental and social psychology. Altman focused on the nature of privacy management, emphasising the processes involved in self-disclosure (i.e., managing personal privacy boundaries), and its role in developing intimate relationships with others. His early conceptualisation of privacy management extended the theorising of information disclosure and privacy beyond the individual cognitive processes and factors that were prevalent in the field of psychology at the time. However, Altman's theorising primarily focused on privacy management in relation to singular/personal space (i.e., the self) and interpersonal space maintained through dyadic relations with others. His work has thus provided central conceptual foundations for conceptualisations of personal and interpersonal privacy, with theories such as CPM being influential in expanding this theorising to highlight the complexities entailed in managing collective and group privacy boundaries beyond individual and dyadic boundaries (i.e., personal, or interpersonal boundaries) (Brann et al., 2021; Petronio and Child, 2020). Sandra Petronio first introduced CPM theory to the field of communication studies in the 1990s, with a particular interest in understanding information disclosure and privacy management by groups within home or work contexts (e.g., families, intimate partners and couples, health workers and doctors, employees) (see Petronio, 2002, 1991). The theory has a core focus on the disclosure, or non-disclosure, processes relating to

information considered private by various groups, and the negotiation processes involved in managing and protecting that information.

Petronio's CPM theory proposes four core, interrelated principles to explain privacy management as a process that unfolds during the daily activities of members of specific groups within specific sociocultural contexts (Petronio, 2002; Petronio and Child, 2020): privacy boundaries, privacy rules, privacy turbulence, and privacy rule recalibration. The privacy boundary principle is a metaphorical concept that describes the boundaries/lines that people draw around their private information in order to maintain control of, and access to, the information they (co-)own when communicating with others within various contexts (e.g., private vs. public). These privacy boundaries are drawn in order to maintain, control, and safeguard information (co-)ownership, with metaphorical lines separating the information they intend to protect by keeping it private from the information they intend to disclose to others or in public. From this perspective, what is considered public or private is contextual and can vary depending on individuals, groups, and situations. It is those to whom the information belongs, whether individuals or groups (e.g., families), who make decisions about whether a piece of information is to be considered private, and thus protected. The principle of privacy rules helps us to understand the decisions and choices that people make regarding the regulation of their privacy boundaries. This includes what information to disclose or keep private, how much to disclose, when to disclose, and to whom. Privacy boundaries and rules are established through both implicit and explicit negotiations and conversations and are learned through ongoing involvement and socialisation in evolving activities (Petronio, 2002; Brann et al., 2021).

From a CPM perspective, Petronio (Petronio, 2002; Petronio and Child, 2020) argues that privacy boundaries are both individual and collective. Individual privacy boundaries are focused on one person's privacy boundary, while collective boundaries involve multiple levels, such as those shared by couples, families, co-workers, or groups (Petronio and Child, 2020, p.77). Thus, privacy boundaries can be adjusted (i.e., restricted or expanded) through privacy rules that determine who is included or excluded. These boundaries

separate insiders, who are included within a personal or group boundary, from outsiders, who are excluded from it. *Privacy turbulence* occurs when privacy boundaries and rules are (un)intentionally broken, invaded, or disrupted, resulting in a loss of control and (co-)ownership of information. Instances of privacy turbulence may occur when private information is (un)intentionally revealed, accessed, or leaked to others outside the privacy boundary. *Privacy rule recalibration* is the process for recalibrating privacy rules in response to the negative repercussions of privacy turbulence, by exerting greater control to prevent future violations (Petronio and Child, 2020).

Overall, the theory offers versatile concepts consisting of boundaries, rules, turbulences, and recalibrations, which help to develop the often individualistic or "simplistic, one-way" (Brann et al., 2021, p.81) views on privacy and its management as an individual right and responsibility that have been prevalent in theorising informational privacy on social media (see also Bazarova and Masur, 2020; Suh and Metzger, 2022; Wu et al., 2020).

The main reason for incorporating this theory into the overarching theoretical framework of the thesis is that it specifically helps to explain how people manage their private information when seeking and sharing information, both individually and collectively. Hence, the theory helps to conceptualise privacy management as a collective process and responsibility that is contextual, fluid, ongoing, and complex (Petronio and Child, 2020, p.76). In particular, the theory helps us to understand and explain the complexities involved in managing private information as it unfolds during the situated everyday activities of a particular group (Petronio and Child, 2020).

By taking both individual and group-level activities into account, CPM thus aligns itself with the sociocultural perspective adopted in this study, helping to contextualise and situate people's actions in terms of managing their privacy, or what they would consider to be private information in relation to a specific situation or context. From the perspective of CPM, privacy management should not be considered a merely cognitive or individual process, but rather a collective and complex process that is negotiated individually, interpersonally,

and collectively by members of a specific group who share a common goal of protecting their personal and the group's privacy (Petronio and Child, 2020).

However, despite its strength in elucidating complex social processes, CPM has some limitations. Developed during the early to late 1990s (Petronio, 1991, 2002), prior to the emergence of social media, it was designed to explain information disclosure processes among groups of people who already knew each other and whose offline communication was limited by time and geographical boundaries. However, the advent of social media and mobile technologies has introduced many new tensions and dynamics, such as the erosion of temporal and spatial boundaries, and the presence of large, unknown, and invisible audiences, making it more challenging and complicated to manage privacy boundaries (Brann et al., 2021; Davis and Jurgenson, 2014; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Petronio and Child, 2020; Vitak, 2012). These novel technologies have further complicated the meanings and theorising of context, space, time, boundary, control, and ownership (see Marwick and boyd, 2011, p.115; and also Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018). Thus, while CPM helps to explain complex information disclosure processes, there is still a need to consider the intertwined role of tools or new technologies in shaping them. To broaden its theoretical scope, it is thus beneficial to situate the theory within a broader sociocultural framework that explicitly focuses on the role of tools in mediating privacy management.

Additionally, this theory and its overarching theoretical framework can be complemented by incorporating the concepts of context collapse and imagined audience (Litt, 2012; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012). This adds a contemporary perspective, enabling us to further unpack such complexities and extend the understanding of contemporary forms of overlapping contexts that transcend fixed contextual, temporal, and spatial boundaries. These concepts, and their positioning within the theoretical framework of this thesis, are discussed and developed below.

3.3.5 The imagined audience and context collapse

Context collapse and imagined audience are two relevant and interrelated concepts in this thesis' theoretical framework. They have been particularly useful for discussing the research findings presented in Articles III and IV, exploring the complexities involved in navigating overlapping audiences and blurred contextual boundaries on social media. They are also useful for the overall discussion of the research findings of the thesis.

As I discussed above (see section 3.3.4), according to CPM theory, people can maintain control of what, when, where, and to whom they reveal or conceal information through a process of negotiation (Altman, 1975, 1976; Petronio, 2002). Similarly, the concepts of situated learning and community of practice (see section 3.3.3) focus on how people learn and negotiate appropriate ways of acting and interacting in relation to a specific community of practice, which carry certain expectations about what information members of a community of practice will share and how they should act and interact in relation to a shared practice bounded by time and place/space.

Such theorising thus assumes that a particular action can be controlled, bounded, or segregated by time, a particular context of interaction (e.g., professional vs. personal, private vs. public), a particular community or audience (e.g., family, friends, colleagues), and by space (e.g., work, home). However, what happens when the audience for an action or the recipient of information is unknown or not physically present in the moment of action, or when multiple audiences from different contexts meet in one space at the same time?

This is something that we have witnessed over the past two decades due to the rapid expansion of social media and mobile technologies, which have complicated both the meanings and theorising of context, audience, space, and time (Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018; Davis and Jurgenson, 2014; Marwick and boyd, 2011). In this new era of social media, or networked publics (boyd, 2010), actions are instantly made more visible, scalable, and persistent to invisible, diverse, and large audiences (Treem and Leonardi, 2012). As information and

communication were made highly visible, boundaries between different contexts and audiences became blurred, collapsing segregated contexts and social groups into single online spaces that transcended both time and space/location (Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012).

In light of this development, in this thesis I employ two additional concepts: context collapse and the imagined audience (boyd, 2008; Litt, 2012; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012) in order to understand and explain how people envision audiences and contexts as they engage in information activities through social media, where diverse audiences from distinct contexts may all potentially be co-present in a single online space.

Both the concepts of context collapse and the imagined audience are interrelated and build on Erving Goffman's (1958/1990) early theorising of self-presentation and impression management in everyday life, focusing on how individuals tailor their performances to present themselves and act appropriately for a given situation or context, and the audience for a particular action. The concept of context collapse describes the contemporary phenomenon of pervasive social media use, where people are constantly connected and simultaneously interacting, with audiences from multiple social groups and contexts in one space and at the same time (boyd, 2008; Vitak, 2012). The notion of context collapse posits that, within social media environments, "people, information, and norms from one context seep into the bounds of another" (Davis and Jurgenson, 2014, p.477; also see Vitak, 2012).

The concept of the imagined audience has historically been used to conceptualise how trained writers, media professionals, actors, and public figures understand their audiences and tailor their writing, messages, performances, and acting to match the expectations of audiences that are not physically co-present (Litt and Hargittai, 2016; Marwick and boyd, 2011).

From an imagined audience perspective, both the immediate context and the "actual audience" of a particular action play an influential role in shaping how an individual makes decisions regarding what to write, say, or not say, and how to act or not act, based on her or his expectations of the audience and what their expectations might be (Litt, 2012; Marwick and boyd, 2011). This implies that people make conscious and strategic decisions about how they present themselves based on the actual audiences they are communicating with in a given space and time (Vitak, 2012, p.452).

When the audience for a particular action is unknown, or not physically present, such as within social media settings, the "imagined audience" construct suggests that the "audience is often imagined and constructed by an individual in order to present themselves [and act] appropriately" (Marwick and boyd, 2011, p.115). Thus, the concept helps to elucidate the image or "conceptualization of the people with whom we are communicating", especially when the audience is unknown or not physically present (Litt, 2012, p.331; Litt and Hargittai, 2016). Such a process can be particularly complicated on social media as people's actions and the information they post are often highly visible and persistent, and can be seen, accessed, copied, archived, and distributed quickly to, and by, large (un)expected audiences (boyd, 2008, 2010; Dourish and Anderson, 2006; Litt and Hargittai, 2016; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

It is important to highlight that, within this thesis, the concept of "audience" or "imagined audience" differs from a "community of practice". As I discussed earlier, a community of practice refers to a group of people who share a common goal to learn about and sustain a specific practice through continuous engagement in related activities. An audience, however, refers to any spectators who observe the action, whether or not they are part of it or known to the individual or community, or share their common goals. An audience may consist of one's various known communities (e.g., family, friends, colleagues), but also of others who are not necessarily known, such as strangers, platform developers, hackers, and advertisers. Moreover, an audience does not have to share a common goal; rather, an audience may contain others with malicious/conflicting intentions towards an individual or group.

Another concept useful for this thesis is a parallel to the concept of context collapse, introduced by Brandtzaeg and Lüders (2018) in the form of "time collapse", which helps to explain how context collapse within social media contexts can include temporal boundaries. The concept of "time collapse"

specifically helps to explain "how context in social media may muddle the time boundary between past and present" (Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018, p.1). This extended theorisation of context collapse is useful for this study because it adds the time dimension to the overarching theoretical framework.

The concepts of imagined audience, context collapse, and time collapse are all useful additions to the overarching theoretical framework of the thesis, because they help to problematise and describe the *messiness*, rather than neat orderliness, of navigating boundaries between distinct times, contexts, communities of practice, and audiences (Davis and Jurgenson, 2014, p.478). These concepts, consistent with Davis and Jurgenson's (2014, p.478) argument, help us to move beyond "entire lines of theory [that] assume social actors hold many identities, with related networks, and that these identities and networks remain relatively separate from one another". The concepts are thus an important addition to the theoretical framework because they add a contemporary understanding enabling us to further unpack the complexities entailed in comprehending and engaging in complex information activities through social media. These concepts help to extend our comprehension of how people understand and navigate contemporary forms of overlapping contexts that extend beyond fixed geographical, or spatial, boundaries.

In summary, this study draws upon a sociocultural perspective of mediated action, incorporating concepts such as affordances, cognitive authority, situated learning, community of practice, communication privacy management, context collapse, and the imagined audience. Combining this perspective with these concepts enables us to focus on specific aspects related to the ways in which members' information activities are mediated within a specific SNS context.

4. Research methods

This chapter provides a detailed account of the methodological considerations and decision-making process involved in selecting a suitable research approach and design for the study. Each of the various steps, from site selection, through data collection, analysis, designing the articles, to presentation of the research findings, was carefully considered in order to effectively address the research focus and questions while considering potential ethical implications.

I begin the chapter by discussing the rationale behind the choice of a qualitative research methodology for this study. In the subsequent sections, I delve into the research process, covering the selection and demarcation of the research site, the methods employed for data construction and analysis, and the design of the research articles. I further reflect upon the ethical considerations that emerged throughout the research process and how they were addressed. Finally, I conclude the chapter by reflecting upon and addressing issues related to my positionality as a researcher and the generalisability of the research findings.

4.1 Interpretive qualitative research approach

This study seeks to provide an in-depth and contextual understanding of an everyday life information practice within a Facebook group by focusing on how members' engagement with information activities is mediated within the group.

To achieve this aim, I employed an interpretive qualitative research methodology, using in-depth interviews, as further explained in section 4.2.2. This choice of methodology is particularly well-suited to research of an exploratory nature (Lincoln and Guba, 1985). The adoption of an interpretive research methodology entails an acknowledgement of the contextual realities that emerge in relation to a specific sociocultural phenomenon (Lloyd, 2021; Lincoln and Guba, 1985; Stake, 2010). This research methodology aligns well

with the sociocultural approach adopted in this study, which is characterised by a nondualist ontology and a constructivist/collectivist epistemology, as discussed in further detail in Chapter 3.

The sociocultural perspective underscores the intricate interplay between people and tools that shapes activities within specific contexts (Wertsch, 1998a). It recognises that people's actions and understandings of the world emerge from interactions with both others and the tools available within a particular sociocultural context (see also Lloyd, 2021; Packer and Goicoechea, 2000; Thorne, 2005). This perspective thus highlights the need for a deeper analysis of various aspects shaping engagement in information activities.

Furthermore, qualitative research approaches are ideally suited to the study of complex and continuously evolving real-world phenomena such as the one explored in this study, because they enable the capturing of nuances, and the generation of rich insights (cf. Rubin and Rubin, 2012; Stake, 2010). In this study, my qualitative approach, consisting of in-depth interviews, enabled me to gain in-depth insights into how members use a private mothers' Facebook group and make sense of their engagement with information and other members within the group. From a sociocultural viewpoint, contextualising members' information activities by considering their interactions with others and with the available tools is vital within the specific group context.

The adoption of an interpretive qualitative methodology is thus appropriate for studying the use of SNSs, as it enables the prioritising of an indepth exploration of why and how people account for their SNS use within a particular context. A qualitative methodology thus helps to avoid any decontextualisation of SNS use, by centring the analysis on the intricate relationship between users and their activities within the Facebook group (boyd and Crawford, 2012; Elish and boyd, 2018; Hine, 2015; Markham and Stavrova, 2016). By adopting this approach, an in-depth analysis becomes possible, generating insights into people's understandings and experiences in relation to themselves, other people, and their activities (Miller and Glassner, 2021). The qualitative methodology helped to expand the analytical focus beyond a user-or platform-centric investigation, as it allowed a thorough exploration of the

processes shaping members' information activities within the Facebook group (cf. Leonardi, 2017; Markham, 2016).

The selection of a qualitative interpretive research methodology was also suitable in light of recommendations by Leonardi (2017) and Markham (2016), as it effectively helped to account for and capture the interplay between the social and material aspects that shaped members' information activities within the group. This approach enabled the exploration and analysis of members' accounts of their information activities, considering the goals, the actual possibilities, and the challenges that participants described encountering when seeking and sharing information within the Facebook group (Leonardi, 2017; Markham, 2016).

To summarise, the adoption of an interpretive qualitative research methodology, coupled with a sociocultural perspective, provided the flexibility and adaptability required to thoroughly address the research problem at hand. This approach, in embracing an exploration of complexity, enabled me to uncover the intricate processes shaping engagement in information-seeking and sharing activities within a specific Facebook group context (i.e., a private Facebook group of foreign mothers who are located in Sweden).

4.2 A personal journey in the exploration of a potential research site

As I was embarking on this research project, I was also embarking on my own motherhood journey as a first-time mother. Facebook groups were important tools enabling me to join and follow communities who discussed various topics that were important in my everyday and professional life. As a member of these groups, the similarities and differences of being a group member that I observed over the years piqued my curiosity as a researcher. I have been a member of Facebook groups concerning various topics and interests, and noticed that, of these, the mothers' groups were the most active. It is not surprising then that prior research has discovered that parents, and especially mothers, are the most

active demographic group users of SNSs in general and of Facebook groups in particular (Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2015; Britton et al., 2019; Duggan et al., 2015; Lupton et al., 2016; Morris, 2014).

The use of online parenting groups, as discussed in the background chapter, seems to be a worldwide, still evolving, phenomenon with parents utilising various types of online groups to connect with peers who share their specific parenting experiences (Lupton et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2021). As an insider member and a researcher, I thus considered these groups to be interesting sites to explore for the topic of my PhD project, which concerns people's information activities and the ways in which these activities are mediated with and through SNSs. Hammersley and Atkinson (2007, p. 28) note: "sometimes the setting itself comes first – an opportunity arises to investigate an interesting situation or group of people; and foreshadowed problems spring from the nature of that setting".

Initially, I considered four mothers' Facebook groups that I had joined as potential research sites. (For an overview and comparison between these groups, see Table 2.) At that time, two of these Facebook groups were closed, and based in Sweden; one was large, with thousands of members, while the other was smaller, with 200 members. The other two groups were secret and were based in the UK and had 100 and 200 members respectively. A secret Facebook group is only visible to group members, it is not visible to nonmembers, and it cannot be located through search engines. A closed Facebook group is visible to non-members, which means that it can be located through Facebook's search feature, but a membership request must be sent and accepted for someone to gain permission to access the group and view its content. It is important to note that, up until late 2019, Facebook groups' privacy settings were either public, closed, or secret. However, because these privacy settings were confusing for both members and administrators, Facebook has changed the privacy settings of groups to simplify them by providing only two privacy options: public (visible and searchable by anyone), or private (private-visible; private-hidden) (Davis, 2019).

All four groups had parenting as their focal topic of discussion, but there were many differences between them. The membership within the Sweden-based groups was diverse, consisting of foreign mothers with children of any age residing in Sweden, but originating from various parts of the world. Access to the Sweden-based groups was thus very exclusive, limited to mothers-only who had migrated or were planning to migrate to Sweden. The Sweden-based groups' membership base was thus constantly changing and growing as mothers moved in or out of Sweden and joined or left the group. The larger group had migrated from an earlier online forum to Facebook groups.

The UK-based groups were more homogeneous, consisting of English mothers of children born in 2012, who mainly resided in different parts of the UK. Membership of the UK-based groups was more exclusive and fixed, consisting of those who were already members, with no new membership requests or invitations to the groups being allowed. In terms of my membership of these groups, when I approached them, I was a fairly well-established member of the UK groups, having been with them for a period of four years. However, I was a newcomer, of about seven months, in the Sweden-based groups prior to the data collection.

My experiences of these groups were thus very different. In contrast to the Sweden-based groups, in the UK groups members knew each single member, although not all members had met offline. I felt that the discussions and questions in the UK groups were very personal and intimate, while the discussions and questions in the Sweden-based groups were very pragmatic and formal. Given the different characteristics and the different 'feels' that I experienced as a member of these groups, my instinct as a researcher led me to believe that these groups might be interesting and potential research sites to conduct my study. Ideally, I hoped to explore at least two of these groups and investigate the similarities and differences between their cultures and members' information activities within them. Each of these groups was thus an interesting target and could possibly have been a distinctive and interesting research context.

4.2.1 Negotiation of access to potential research sites

As part of the planning, I designed a small pilot study consisting of an online questionnaire before embarking upon the main research project. My main aims when conducting this pilot study were to: 1) gain the groups' trust by making the study's aims clearer to potential participants; 2) gauge the groups' reactions and responsiveness to the research; 3) evaluate the research questions and identify topics to prioritise; and 4) gain a nuanced impression of members' information activities across various SNSs in general, and within the Facebook group in particular. I was inspired to use this method by Boellstorff et al. (2012, p.92), who advised this method to gain entry to the "field site, gain trust, and gather basic information [and] identify topics to prioritize." Thus, this questionnaire was not primarily aimed at producing data for analysis per se.

The questionnaire covered basic questions concerning demographics, general use of online and offline information sources, social media use, and general information activities within the groups. More specifically, the questionnaire covered questions about participants' membership of the respective Facebook groups (Groups I, II, III, and IV), namely: membership and group activities, group access and average use, their views on the group, the information they sought or did not seek in the group, the quality of information provided, and their goals for seeking or sharing information in the group. At the end of the questionnaire, participants could choose to provide their email address if they wished to participate in a follow-up study.

As all the groups considered were either secret (Groups I and II) or closed (Groups III and IV), based on my insider knowledge of the groups' implicit rules and norms, and before attempting to make any announcements about the study in these groups, I obtained the administrators' consent. I sent private Facebook messages to all the main administrators of the four groups (n=8) (see Appendix 1). Facebook messages were the only accessible method to reach and communicate with these administrators before posting about the study publicly in the groups. In these messages, I introduced myself as a member as well as a PhD student, and informed them about the aim of my research project and my

intentions when posting about my research in the groups. I specifically asked for their permission to post an announcement about the research and my desire to recruit participants from the groups. I extended my invitation to the admins, encouraging them to participate in the research. At this stage, none of the group administrators volunteered to participate. After deliberation among the administrators of the four groups, I was granted permission to post my announcement (see Appendix 2).

Subsequently, I posted about my research in each of the four groups. In the post, I introduced myself in my professional role/capacity and explained the aim of my research project. The post included a link to the questionnaire, which members could follow to participate in the research by answering it.

Thus, it was an open invitation to all group members to participate, and the sample that I aimed to achieve through this procedure was a matter of convenience sampling. This means that each member of the group had the choice of whether to participate or not. This self-selection is a known procedure in convenience sampling (see Farrokhi and Hamidabad, 2012) because it helps the researcher to find participants who have enough time and interest to participate in the research and do so voluntarily.

While I posted several reminders inviting more members to participate, the questionnaire achieved a very low response rate. It received only seven responses from the UK-based groups, and of those only five members provided their emails to participate in a follow-up interview. From the Sweden-based Facebook groups, the questionnaire received only 57 responses from both groups and of those only *eight* members volunteered to participate in an interview.

Following this, I contacted all members who had provided their emails in the questionnaire and sent each one an email containing an information sheet and a consent form providing more details about the research study, what her participation in the research might entail, her rights and obligations, and whom to contact should she need more information or clarification (see Appendices 5 and 6). This provided the participants with an additional opportunity to decide if they would still like to continue their participation in the research. I managed

to arrange interviews with all eight members who had initially volunteered to participate in a follow-up study from the Sweden-based groups.

Unfortunately, only one participant from the UK-based groups responded and agreed to participate in an interview. None of the other four members who had provided their emails responded to my private Facebook messages or to my emails. I took that as a hint that they were no longer interested in participating in the research; therefore I respected their decision, and no longer attempted to contact them. Consequently, I decided to exclude the UK-based Facebook groups as potential research sites due to the lack of response. I informed the member who had already agreed to do an interview about my decision, thanked her, and we cancelled our planned interview.

Table 2 Overview of prospective research sites

| Facebook group | Type of group | Location | Group size | Focus | Group activity |
|-------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| Group I | Secret | UK | 100+ | UK mothers | Highly active/at least a few posts a day |
| Group II | Secret | UK | 200+ | UK mothers | Highly active/at least a few posts a day |
| Group III | Closed | Sweden- regional lev el | 200+ | Foreign mothers in Sweden | Irregular activities/1 post/month |
| Group IV | Closed (2014), secret (2017) | Sweden- national level | 1780+ (2014) 4000+ (2017) | Foreign mothers in Sweden | Highly active/at least a few posts a day |

4.2.2 Demarcation of the research site

As the UK-based Facebook groups were no longer considered as potential sites of interest, this led me to delimit the research site to the two Facebook groups based in Sweden (i.e., Groups III and IV). At this stage, the overarching research aim was to focus on the participants' information activities within these Facebook groups and situate them in relation to a broader ecosystem of online

and offline information sources in their everyday lives. While I was interviewing the members who had volunteered to participate, I simultaneously continued to recruit more participants by reposting the research invitation several times, inviting more members from both groups to participate in the research (see Appendix 4).

Early insights emerging from the first set of interviews with members from both groups (Groups III and IV) led me to further delimit the research focus as well as the site. On the one hand, the response rate to the questionnaire from Group III was considerably lower than the response I received from Group IV, with three and 54 responses received from each group respectively. Furthermore, the three members who volunteered for the interview from Group III were not very active in the group and seldom used it to seek or share information with others. Based on these interviews, combined with my observations of the group's activities, the group received weekly and monthly posts and updates from members about local offline activities and events. Members mainly used the group to broadcast about, and organise, local offline activities and events. My interviewees' information activities (e.g., information-seeking, searching) that we discussed thus took place outside the group, and not in or through the group.

Overall, Group IV was much more active and vibrant than Group III, and my interviews with members of Group IV also uncovered intriguing insights that I considered interesting for further in-depth exploration. This group (IV) was very active, with several daily information requests and discussions posted. The participants shared very interesting insights about their various information activities in relation to, and within, the Facebook group. For instance, members shared their insights and views about the information they and other members sought and shared in the group, the challenges and concerns they had about seeking and sharing information in the group, their views on the group, and their views about other information activities.

These insights were intriguing and encouraged me to focus on the shared information practice of Group IV, and on members' information activities within it, rather than focusing on their broad use of online (and offline)

information sources in their everyday lives. Such insights thus shaped my decision to demarcate the research site's boundaries by delimiting the research site to focus on Facebook Group IV. As a result, I decided to exclude Group III as a research site, as well as the two interviews I had carried out with the participants from that group, because they did not add insights into the new, shifted focus of the research.

4.3 The research site: Facebook Group IV

The research site for this thesis is a Facebook group of international mothers who are situated/based in Sweden. I have been a member of this group since early 2014, which is seven months before the data collection commenced. The group was created by one member in 2007, and she still administers the group, along with another three administrators. The group had around 1,500 members during the first phase of data collection in autumn 2014/spring 2015, and had grown massively to include 4,200 members around the time of the second phase of data collection (autumn 2017). Members of the group are all mothers and are of various backgrounds and nationalities. English is the official language of communication within the group, because it is the common language understood by all group members.

When this research project started, the group was closed, which meant that anyone could search, find, and locate it (e.g., through Facebook's search feature or through other search engines), read its description, and view its members list. However, the group's activities and content were only visible and accessible to group members. This meant that no one except members could access or view the content or the activities of the group. The group settings were changed to secret around the time of the second phase of data collection (late 2017). This means that the group cannot be found or located through search engines but can only be located and joined through membership invitations shared by current group members. That is to say that the group is hidden, and no one can find or view the group or its activities, except those who are already members.

Furthermore, group administrators must approve each individual membership request before a prospective member can access the group's information activities.

4.3.1 Criteria for selecting and recruiting participants

In addition to convenience sampling, as described earlier, I recruited more participants through snowball sampling (Patton, 2002). During the interviews, I asked informants for tips on whom it might be interesting and useful to interview. Participants thus suggested and invited other members to participate in the research. When I reposted invitations and reminders about the study to the group, some of my informants posted positive comments, encouraging and tagging other members to participate in the study. It should be noted, however, that while such an approach has provided a useful and a convenient way to recruit more participants, it posed ethical issues because those who recommended the study and commented on my posts were jeopardising their privacy by exposing their identities as research participants to other members of the group.

Furthermore, when I became solely interested in the dynamics that shape members' online information practices within Facebook groups, I narrowed down my focus to the participants' information activities within Group IV. Specifically, I became interested in the ways in which members engaged in information activities within the group (such as seeking, sharing, accessing, assessing, and using information) and the affordances of the group that enabled or constrained their engagement in these various activities.

Thus, the insights and reflections gained from the first set of interviews, along with the advantage of being an insider member of these groups, assisted me in teasing out what might be an interesting research focus and identifying important topics and themes to highlight. Most importantly, such insights enabled me to identify potential and specific members to recruit, which I did through purposeful sampling (Patton, 2002). As Pickard notes, such sampling takes an inductive approach that is well suited to a qualitative research

approach because the sample grows as the research progresses and it "maintains the emergent nature of research" (Pickard, 2013, p.64). Therefore, I conducted purposeful sampling based on the aim of the research and specific criteria that would help in answering the research questions (Bryman and Bell, 2015).

The participants recruited through purposeful sampling were selected based on the following criteria: their role in the group (e.g., administrative role) and their group membership experiences (e.g., long-established members, active members). One of the key advantages of purposeful sampling is its ability to allow the identification of "information-rich cases", facilitating a thorough understanding of issues crucial to the study's purpose (Patton, 2002, p.230). This involved, for instance, selecting and inviting members because they were identified as knowledgeable, long-established, or very active members through my observations of the group. Some members, identified as active members, were approached to participate in the research because they could provide insights into their information-seeking and sharing activities within the group. Others were approached because they had been identified as long-established members of the group or played a key role in managing it (e.g., the administrators).

Recruiting participants using this method proved fruitful, because it allowed me to learn about diverse issues of importance for this research, which it was not possible to learn about by limiting myself to participants who volunteered at the beginning. Thus, purposeful sampling was particularly useful because it allowed me to diversify the perspectives and experiences of being a member of the group and overcome the limitations of recruiting members through snowball and convenience sampling (Patton, 2002).

After potential participants were identified, I sent personal invitations inviting them to participate in the study. However, not all members who were invited through this sampling method agreed to participate. I concluded the first data collection in the spring of 2015, at the point when there were no further, or new, insights being added to the study through new interviews. As Lincoln and Guba (1985, p.203) suggest, "the criterion invoked to determine when to stop sampling is informational redundancy". I thus stopped recruiting more

participants when informational redundancy and a point of saturation had been reached (Silverman and Marvasti, 2008).

However, as I continued my analysis of the interviews for Article III, the important role of the group administrators in managing and moderating the group's activities emerged. This necessitated interviewing the administrators to gain further and more in-depth insights into the group's activities from their perspectives. Therefore, I contacted the administrative group (n=4) through private Facebook messages, inviting them to participate in an interview. In this message, I explained the purpose of the study and the interview and asked whether they would be interested in participating. Two of four group administrators replied to the invitation, but only one, who is the founder of the group, agreed to participate in an interview (see Appendix 3).

In total, 20 members of the Facebook group participated in this research, including one of the group's administrators. The participants' ages ranged from 25 to 45 years old and they had between one and three children each. The children's ages ranged from 0 up to 13 years old. Participants' time in Sweden ranged from eight months up to 20 years. Most participants were highly educated, holding a minimum of a bachelor's degree, and had diverse educational backgrounds. The participants came from 10 different countries.

4.3.2 Data construction through interviews

For this research, I conducted in-depth, semi-structured, qualitative interviews with 20 women who were recruited from the target Facebook group, 19 regular members and one group administrator. Qualitative interviews were particularly valuable for this type of study because they offered access to participants' accounts of their information activities within the group. These interviews serve as "evidence", shedding light on "what happens" within the group and how participants made sense of themselves and their experiences of relationships with others and the group (Miller and Glassner, 2021, p.52). The interviews enabled interviewees to share their experiences of being a member of the Facebook group and enabled me to gain in-depth insights and insider

knowledge about members' individual and group activities. Consequently, the interviews allowed me to learn through the participants' narratives and accounts of their activities about what was happening in the group (i.e., the group's activities). As Boellstorff and colleagues put it: "the meanings people give to their actions and the world around them form an essential component of understanding" (2012, pp.92–93).

In this sense, interviews were well suited to a sociocultural investigation because they can be seen as a site for reproducing knowledge in which the participants reconstruct and mediate their social worlds using words and language that reflect and mediate their experiences (cf. Wertsch, 1998a). Another major advantage of the interview is that it allowed me to move back and forth in time, asking questions and seeking details about different past events and activities taking place in the group, which enabled the interviewees to "reconstruct the past, interpret the present, and predict the future" (Lincoln and Guba, 1985, p.273).

Interviews also served to provide access to those whose online activities may have been difficult to observe (e.g., non-active participants), and to provide access to norms, values, and interpretations that would have been difficult to access or obtain otherwise. The one-to-one interviews thus provided the participants with an opportunity to speak about topics they may not have felt comfortable discussing in the group or with other group members (cf. Boellstorff et al., 2012, p.95). For example, some insights that the participants shared with me were not necessarily discussed, shared, or made visible to other group members. These included: critical views of the group, their perceptions of and reflections upon other members' activities in the group, activities that they did not engage in, and also information or topics that they did not feel comfortable about sharing in the group. Hence, the interviews were instrumental for learning about various perspectives, group dynamics, implicit rules, and norms that may not always be visible within a group interaction (cf. Boellstorff et al., 2012, p.94). To sum up, interviews with members who had various experiences and roles allowed me to learn from their perspectives and accounts about their individual and group activities, and the ways in which they had navigated, both

individually and as a group, the opportunities and challenges of seeking and sharing information with others through the group.

In addition, observation as a data-construction method can also be used in the study of various practices, such as information practices (Limberg et al., 2013). Observing members' activities was therefore a method that I considered for this research to complement the individual interviews. For instance, during the interviews, I asked the participants for their permission to look at and observe their information activities in the group; for example, what kind of posts they make. Although I obtained their permission, several aspects made employing such a method unfeasible for this research project. On the one hand, while many of the participants I interviewed were invisibly active in following the group's activities, they did not engage regularly or visibly in those activities. Therefore, there was very little, or no, visible engagement by the participants to be observed within the group setting. In this case, interviews provided a better way to capture what was not being said or made visible within the group setting. But also, in a way, such an insight supports the findings from the individual interviews that most participants were hesitant about engaging in group activities due to the various concerns they had described during the interviews (e.g., information quality and credibility, conflicts, and privacy risks). On the other hand, employing such a method may have raised various ethical concerns, which I discuss further in the section on ethical considerations. In analysing the benefits to the scope of the research versus the risks of employing this method, I therefore decided against observation to collect data.

4.3.3 The interview process and interview guide

Because all the participants were mothers, lived in different parts of the country, and were either on parental leave or working, they were given the opportunity to schedule interview times that were most suitable for them (e.g., at night/after their children's bedtime, during lunch breaks, etc.). Thus, it was important to carry out the interviews using various means (e.g., face-to-face, Skype, FaceTime, phone, Facebook Messenger) that were convenient for both the

participants and myself. Although this constrained the times when we could meet, this flexibility allowed us to arrange times that suited them best. For example, I interviewed participants who felt more comfortable meeting face to face, I interviewed people at night, through a chat interview when they did not feel comfortable talking on the phone, and one participant was very generous in talking with me while she was on vacation abroad. These flexible approaches in terms of time and method of interviewing thus offered many advantages, but also some drawbacks (e.g., time lag, loss of connection, absence of body language and non-verbal cues). This may have hindered the development of rapport with the participants.

The interviews were recorded using an audio recorder and ranged in duration from 45 to 90 minutes. While most of the online interviews went smoothly, the chat interview was the most challenging to engage in and coordinate, and it was very time consuming, lasting for approximately 90 minutes. For instance, because it was asynchronous chat, the fast pace of the discussion in the interview meant that both the participant and I were lagging behind because we were both writing questions and answers at the same time.

I conducted the data collection in two phases. During the first phase, between the autumn of 2014 and spring of 2015, I recruited and interviewed 19 members of the Facebook group. During the second phase, in autumn 2017, I carried out an interview with one of the group's administrators.

The interviews were semi-structured, employing an interview guide that was designed before the interviews commenced to provide guidance and structure for the discussions. Initial questions were formulated based on a sociocultural perspective on information activities, taking into account the specific context in which they occur. The formulation of these questions, and the subsequent data analysis, were also informed by key concepts and models used to analyse how people interact with information. These included the ELIS model developed by Savolainen (1995), the information practices in everyday life model used by McKenzie (2003a), the integrated model of information-seeking and searching employed by Bates (2002), and information sharing as described by Talja and Hansen (2006).

The aim of the interview guide was to have some points of departure for discussion and to keep track of all the prominent issues that needed to be covered during the interviews. However, as this study is exploratory in nature, the questions were designed to be open-ended to give the interviewees the opportunity to elaborate and discuss different issues in greater depth, but also to bring in interesting insights, even if they were not covered in the questions. This meant that the questions were emergent and evolved with the interviews, with new questions added, removed, or more strongly highlighted. The interviewees were also asked prompt questions to encourage them to elaborate further on their answers (e.g.: What do you mean by this? Can you tell me more about this? Can you explain? Do you have an example of this?).

The questions that I asked the participants in the first set of interviews (see interview guide in Appendix 6) covered different issues in relation to their general social media use, the websites and platforms they mainly use, their activities across these sites, and the main sources they most often rely upon and consult for information. My initial focus was on their general information activities across the various online and offline sources they used to seek and find information in everyday life. I also asked specific questions about that Facebook group: the information they sought and shared (or not) in the group, the information they encountered in the group, their evaluation of information from the group that they used (or not). I employed the critical incident technique (Williamson, 1998) to help participants recall recent instances when they had asked for, shared, or encountered useful information in the group. Sometimes participants had also relied on searching through their previous information activities to retrieve previous instances when they had either asked questions or shared information with others in the group. I specifically encouraged the participants to describe and elaborate more upon these activities by asking prompt questions (such as: Can you tell me about a time where you have sought/shared information in the group? What was this information about? With whom did you share it? Who shared it? Did many people answer your question? Were their answers useful? Did you find the information you were looking for? Did you use the information? How and why was it (not) useful for

you?). This offered a good way to gain in-depth insights into the participants' reasoning and reflections upon information they found relevant or irrelevant for them in the group.

Initially, the interviews revealed a paradoxical and complex picture of members' information activities in relation to the group. Firstly, members exhibited a notably critical stance towards the group as a source of information. However, despite expressing concerns about the quality and credibility of information and advice shared in the group, they continued to be members. Furthermore, these interviews provided interesting, if self-contradictory, accounts. In certain situations, the participants distanced themselves from the group and other members, describing them as strangers. However, in other situations, they aligned themselves with fellow members and with the group, giving the impression of a tightly-knit support network.

These early insights piqued my curiosity, prompting a deeper exploration in an attempt to understand the reasons for this apparent contradiction. These insights facilitated reflecting upon and asking follow-up questions aimed at exploring the nuances of the participants' engagement within the group. Specifically, why were they members of the group, and how and for what purposes did they use it, especially given their opinion that the group and other members lacked credibility as sources of information?

Therefore, my exploration sought to address pivotal questions and insights: Why were they members of the group? If they maintained a certain distance from the group, why did they use it, and for what purposes? Why were they actively following and engaging with it? What kinds of information did they actually seek and share in the group? Additionally, when, and if, they did use information from the group, how did they assess which information was credible and which not?

These specific insights inspired the focus of Article I and Article II of this thesis. Taken together, these two articles contribute to an understanding of the above-listed questions by emphasising members' strategic engagement within the group to identify, access, and evaluate information that was relevant and useful to them. The data collection also coincided with a transformative period

within the group, between autumn 2014 and spring 2015. During this period, I witnessed firsthand several recurring conflicts and disagreements within the group that resulted in: 1) friction within the group, with some members creating their own private Facebook groups, and 2) threats to the stability and longevity of the group when its founder considered shutting it down (as discussed in Article III).

Subsequent interviews also revealed intriguing accounts of a mixture of tensions, conflicts, and contradictions of which I had been unaware and were not observable to me as a new member (of nine months at the time) and as a researcher. For instance, the participants had certain ideas about information and topics that they perceived to be inappropriate for seeking or sharing within the group. Most importantly, the participants also talked about appropriate and inappropriate ways of interacting within the group. These early insights thus inspired the focus for Article III and Article IV of the project.

The data construction and analysis were iterative, and insights from the initial interviews were used to refine the questions asked and topics covered in the subsequent interviews. For example, some participants brought up inappropriate topics and inappropriate ways of providing information within the group, which was not already covered in the initial questions. Consequently, this warranted a revision of the interview guide to include more questions about these issues in order to gain more insights into them. But it also helped in eliminating some questions that were found to be less important. For instance, I found that the participants' information activities through other online and offline information sources did not contribute to the focus of the research. Thus, as the interviews and participant recruitment processes progressed, the interviews became more tailored and more specific to the different dynamics within the group.

In addition, the interview questions posed to the administrator were more focused on the administrator's role of moderating and managing the group. For instance, the interview with the administrator (see Appendix 7) covered questions about the history, motivation, purpose, and vision behind her creation of the group; the admin's moderating role in the group; the group rules;

members' activities; and the topics that members were allowed or not allowed to discuss or share in the group. Thus, the interview questions with regular members and the administrator were aimed at understanding the different dynamics at play, given the various experiences and roles they had within the group.

4.3.4 Data analysis

4.3.4.1 Transcription and data analysis software

To prepare for data analysis, I transcribed the interviews verbatim, which was essential for maintaining the participants' voices and in order to "highlight nuances of a statement and facilitate communication of the meaning of the subject's stories to readers" (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2009, p.186). The transcription process formed an important layer/level of analysis as it provided a "continuation of the interview conversations but with more emphasis and focus on the different possible and unfolding meanings" (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2009, p.193). I thus took extensive notes during this process as reflections and insights started to emerge.

After transcribing the interviews, I imported all the transcripts into Atlas.ti, a computer-aided qualitative data analysis software package, to facilitate and manage the data analysis process. Atlas.ti provided easy access to the transcripts during coding, which proved particularly useful for managing the analysis process by facilitating coding, grouping codes, adding notes and comments, and visualising the empirical material. The data analysis was both theoretically and empirically driven, and I used Atlas.ti to code the empirical material based on broader themes and predefined theoretical concepts (e.g., affordances, information activities, credibility assessments), and also the themes that emerged from the data.

I employed two main techniques to analyse the data: constant comparative analysis (Lincoln and Guba, 1985) and narrative analysis (Riessman, 2005). Constant comparative analysis was utilised to analyse the empirical material for

all four research articles (Articles I, II, III, and IV), whereas narrative analysis was employed for the analysis of the empirical material in Article III. The analytical techniques used in each article are summarised in Table 3, and detailed explanations of the specific steps conducted during the analyses of the data are presented in the appended articles.

4.3.4.2 Constant comparative analysis

In constant comparative analysis, one key principle of central importance is the concept of "comparison" (see Boeije, 2002; Glaser and Strauss, 1967; Lincoln and Guba, 1985). Boeije (2002) illustrates various types of comparison that can be conducted, which are contingent upon the type of study, the types of data source, and the empirical materials being analysed. In relevance to this study, two main levels or stages of comparison were undertaken: "comparisons within a single interview" and "comparisons between interviews" (Boeije, 2002, p.395). The former, emphasising comparisons within individual interviews, enabled an in-depth exploration of "similarities" and "differences" within each interview. The latter, involving comparisons across interviews, facilitated a broader understanding of similarities and differences across all the interviews, which enhanced the overall interpretive depth of the study (Boeije, 2002, p.395).

For instance, I started the analysis and coding of the data by carefully reading each individual transcript line by line to get a sense of the whole, while coding interesting paragraphs, sentences, lines, and words (Pickard, 2013, p.271). These codes were exploratory and descriptive, with the aim of describing what exactly was being said and what each chunk of data was about, which "encapsulates what is seen to be 'going on'" (Silver and Lewins, 2014, p.84).

Sometimes these codes were descriptive (e.g., what is this about, information sources consulted, types of information sought, shared, concealed, used, not used), while at other times the codes were more specifically informed by theoretical concepts or specific insights and themes developed from the previous stage of analysis (e.g., affordance of the group, credibility assessments, privacy concerns, or information activities such as seeking, sharing, or avoiding). At other times, a code would simply be a placeholder to indicate

something interesting to be followed up. Moreover, this stage also involved printing out the transcripts labelled with codes from Atlas.ti, reading it closely, labelling and coding it with a pen and a marker, and editing any changes made along the way in Atlas.ti's original code list. Therefore, I re-read each transcript multiple times to revisit and improve the code list before moving on to the next one. This resulted in a large number of codes, which described each chunk of data at both a general and very detailed (line-by-line) level. The aim of conducting internal comparisons within a single interview was to "develop categories and label them with the most appropriate codes" (Boeije, 2002, p. 395).

At the end of this stage, I summarised the most interesting issues and reflections upon the data into broad themes, focusing on key issues such as any opportunities or challenges discussed by the participant in relation to engaging in information activities within the group. The same procedure described above was applied to each single interview transcript, but also when comparing each transcript with the preceding ones.

Throughout this analytical process, I used Atlas.ti to group all the identified codes into a coding list. The organisation of codes into an Atlas.ti coding list helped in comparing the codes emerging from each individual transcript and allowed routine modifications to the list. An important focus during the coding process was directed towards being open to what was emerging from the data and to challenge any assumptions in order to allow the voices of the participants to guide the analysis and shed light upon their own lived experiences of the Facebook group's use.

As the data analysis progressed, the codes became more exhaustive. The code list I had generated from previous transcripts was available for subsequent transcripts, often echoing, extending, and/or adjusting the overall code list. By the time all the transcripts had been coded, important themes and patterns had started to emerge. At this stage, the analysis involved moving from the very specific to the abstract, from individual transcripts to broader understandings, with the aim of identifying patterns of similarities and differences across the participants' experiences and activities within the group. This stage of the analysis was focused on re-examining the codes created during the first stage

(Silver and Lewins, 2014; Pickard, 2013). My analytical focus, using the constant comparative techniques, concentrated on identifying patterns of similarity and difference between codes created during the initial coding stage, with the aim of relating and linking similar codes under the same category.

I eventually chose four of the most frequently recurring and key themes for further and deeper inspection to form a basic understanding of the phenomenon under study. Key themes that emerged during this stage of analysis included: affordances facilitating information-seeking and sharing activities, information credibility assessments, conflicts and (in)appropriate ways of engaging with the group, and information privacy concerns and management. Since this is a compilation thesis, each of these themes underwent a thorough examination in a separate but connected research study published as an article, and the primary analysis and findings are detailed in the four appended research articles. This allowed me to delve deeply into each theme, explore them more thoroughly, and effectively disseminate the research results. The analysis presented in each article was facilitated using different conceptual tools that were used as lenses and guiding frameworks during the analysis and coding of the data (see Chapter 3).

4.3.4.3 Narrative analysis

In Article III, alongside constant comparative analysis, I also employed the narrative analysis technique (Bamberg, 2012; Riessman, 2005). Narrative analysis, which can be employed in various ways, primarily focuses on analysing "narratives" or "stories" in order to "explore how people story their lives" and experiences and to position these stories within a larger whole or specific social and historical context of persons, organisations, or groups (Esin, Fathi, and Squire, 2014, p.203). Specifically, a narrative analyst seeks "to systematically relate the narrative means deployed for the function of laying out and making sense of particular kinds of, if not totally unique, experiences" (Bamberg, 2012, p.78).

The application of narrative analysis in this study aimed to capture a portion of the evolution of the group's information activities over time. This

involved analysing segments of the interviews that contained narratives or accounts from group members with diverse experiences at different points of time in the group of how things had changed over time. The goal was to weave together fragmented narratives from different interviews into a coherent whole, thereby narrating and reconstructing, based on the participants' accounts, how and why things had changed and evolved in the group over time. Narrative analysis was particularly useful to "interpret the past rather than reproduce it as it was" (Riessman, 2005, p.6). Riessman (2005, p.6) further explains that: "the 'truths' of narrative accounts are not in their faithful representations of a past world, but in the shifting connections they forge among past, present, and future".

To illustrate the evolution of the group's information activities over time, I focused on a recurring conflict within the group, which I had personally observed as an insider member. The goal of employing narrative analysis was to analyse how disruptive activities, such as fights and conflicts, could illustrate the processes through which members navigated, negotiated, and resolved conflicts within the group. More specifically, I aimed to explore how the group's information activities, norms, and rules changed over time.

I specifically chose to focus on "vaccination conflicts" for a close analysis and the development of a "storyline" due to the rich empirical material about various events that had influenced what information was allowed or not allowed to be shared on this topic in the group. Bamberg (2012, p.90) highlights that "stories, irrespective whether they are 'small' and short or whether they constitute a lengthy turn in the form of a full-blown life story, have antecedents and consequences in situations in which they emerge".

The vaccination conflict was an ongoing issue during the initial phase of data construction, and had been in progress even before I joined the group. The interview method facilitated the collection and discussion of rich narratives about past and unfolding events, the identification of potential informants (e.g., the administrators), and the gathering of rich insights into past and unfolding activities involving this conflict at different points in time and from different perspectives (e.g., administrator, long-established members, and those involved

in or witnessing the unfolding conflicts). This was crucial during the process of data analysis because it helped in reconstructing a "storyline" based on "many differently positioned" members within the group (Esin et al., 2014, p.203). By employing narrative analysis, my aim was to capture the sequence of events leading to the vaccination conflict and how it had evolved and shaped the group's information activities in the past (i.e., prior to the data construction), present (i.e., time of data construction between 2014 and 2015), and future (i.e., time of data construction in 2017). By weaving the participants' diverse accounts and their experiences into a "storyline", my focus remained on describing and narrating, through their accounts and narratives, "what has occurred; to lay out why things are the way they are or have become the way they are" within the group (Bamberg, 2012, p.77).

Table 1 An overview of the design of the four articles

| Article | Focus | Research design | Sample | Analysis | Unit of Analysis | Author contributions |
|--------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Article I (2020) | Affordances facilitating engagement in information activities | Qualitative in-depth interviews | Regular members (n=19) and administrator (n=1) of a private Facebook group of international mothers situated in Sweden. | Constant comparative analysis | Individual and group-level information activities (individual members, group) | AM is the sole author of this article and holds primary responsibility for all its parts. |
| Article II (2017) | Information credibility assessments | Qualitative in-depth interviews | Regular members (n=19) of a private Facebook group of international mothers situated in Sweden | Constant comparative analysis | Individual-level information activities (individual members) | AM designed the study, and carried out the data collection and the coding. She had primary responsibility for the analysis, to which HF contributed to discussions and direct input. AM wrote the first full drafts. HF revised the discussion and conclusions of the final version. Both co-authors read and approved the final version of the article. AM holds primary responsibility for the final content of the article. AM: 90%. HF: 10%. |
| Article III (2020) | Evolution, participation, and monitoring of the information practices of the group. | Qualitative in-depth interviews | Regular members (n=19) and administrator (n=1) of a private Facebook group of international mothers situated in Sweden | Constant comparative analysis and narrative analysis | Individual and group-level activities (individual members, group); | AM is the sole author of the article and holds primary responsibility for all its parts. |
| Article IV (2021) | Information disclosure and privacy concerns and management strategies. | Qualitative in-depth interviews | Regular members (n=19) and administrator (n=1) of a private Facebook group of international mothers situated in Sweden | Constant comparative analysis | Individual and group-level activities (Individual members, group) | AM designed the article, conducted background work, chose appropriate methods and theories, conducted the data collection and analysis, and wrote the first full drafts of the article. HF made some revisions to the discussion and conclusion. After review comments, AM refined the analysis. AM and HF then collaboratively revised the full text, with AM primarily working on the introduction, literature review, methods, discussion, and conclusion, and HF on findings and discussion. Both co-authors approved the final version of the article, but AM holds primary responsibility for its final content. AM: 85%. HF: 15%. |

4.4 Ethical considerations and reflections

In this research, I observed the Swedish Research Council's (2017) and the Internet Researchers **Ethics** Working Committee's recommendations for good research practice (Markham and Buchanan, 2012) in the planning, collection, analysis, storage, and dissemination of the research data. It is important to note that ethical considerations in this research were not a one-time or straightforward decision, but rather they were dealt with as a process that evolved alongside the research process and on a case-by-case basis as the project unfolded (see Markham and Buchanan, 2012). Firstly, ethical considerations as a 'process' rather than an end goal meant that any potential ethical issues predicted to arise in this research were dealt with in an iterative way, in the sense that they were constantly revised during the research process and as they emerged during the different phases of the research (e.g., research planning, data collection, analysis). Secondly, addressing ethical considerations on a case-by-case basis meant that they were dealt with as they emerged based on each, and every, individual case for each participant, issues that I describe further in this section. Three principal, correlated ethical principles have guided the research process, with the fundamental aim of protecting the participants and minimising the risk of causing harm, namely: informed consent, preventing harm, and privacy.

Informed consent was one of the first and most important ethical issue to be ensured when carrying out the research. As a first step, I sent an informed consent form along with an information sheet to each participant, in which I informed them about the research, whom to contact should they need more information or clarification, their rights as research participants, and how their data would be used and dealt with throughout the whole research process (see Appendix 5). I informed each participant that participation in the research was voluntary, that during the interviews they had the right to skip a question, refuse to answer a question, or to request termination of the interview at any point. The participants were also informed that I would audio-record the interviews to be used for transcription and analysis purposes. They were also

informed that the interview data and results of the research would be used in my thesis and for academic publications and presentations. To further ensure that the research participants were fully aware of what their participation in the research might entail, during each interview, I reiterated to each individual participant the aims of the research project and how the interview data would be used. I informed them that there would be no direct benefits for them in participating in the research, but that sharing their experiences would help to broaden our understanding of the ways in which people use SNSs for information, which may have both theoretical and practical implications. I also informed them that there were no foreseen potential risks associated with participating in the research, and I specifically advised them not to disclose any information about themselves or others (e.g., children) during the interviews that they did not wish to make public (i.e., in research publications or presentations).

Preventing harm is also a key ethical concern, which is directly connected to both informed consent and privacy (Hammersly and Atkinson, 2007; Sveningsson Elm, 2009). Preventing harm essentially means that, as a researcher, I have a moral obligation to prevent harm and any wrongdoing to the research participants so that they are not affected negatively by participating (Hair and Clark, 2007). Preventing harm can be achieved in various ways, but it can primarily be achieved through protecting the privacy and identity of the research participants. This is especially true in studying an online group, where participants' information and identities may be easily identifiable and traceable. Hence, such issues contributed to my decision not to employ direct observations as a data construction method, which I initially considered for this research project. On the one hand, quoting any of the information activities of participants who were visibly active in the group posed the risk that they may be easily identifiable by others, because it is easy to search the group and trace a particular quote or question to a particular member. Another risk was related to the fact that the group is a large private group and conducting observations in such a group might have disturbed members' activities, because members may not have felt safe if their information activities within the group were being observed for research purposes. Furthermore, as this is a large private Facebook group, I needed to gain consent from all members, and this was neither feasible nor possible due to the group's size and because new members were constantly joining. Therefore, I assessed that employing such a method to observe the participants' engagement, or the group's activities, may inflict more harm than any anticipated benefits of the research could justify and I decided against employing such a data-collection method for this research.

Moreover, when analysing the data, it was also important to consider not only those who had consented to take part in the research, but also other members who had not consented to participate in the study. For instance, during the interviews, some participants shared quite harsh and critical views of some other members of the group, who could be easily identifiable within the group. This raised the issue of whether, as a researcher, I have the ethical obligation to prevent harm to others who had not consented to be part of the research. In such cases, I chose not to include quotations that may lead to causing harm to other members of the group.

Privacy is also another key ethical principle that should be ensured in research. Privacy is a notion that concerns research participants' integrity, and their right to self-determination to control what and how much they disclose, who knows, and what others know about them and what they have disclosed (Altman, 1975; Sveningsson Elm, 2009).

During the research, I employed several strategies to protect the participants' privacy and identities from being revealed to others in order to protect them from unanticipated harm. Firstly, no sensitive information was collected during this research and the participants were specifically advised not to disclose any information they considered private, whether about themselves or their children, which they may not wish to make public (e.g., in research publications and presentations). Some participants chose to reveal their identities by sharing in the group that they had been interviewed for the study. I offered all participants the opportunity to read and review the interview transcripts for data accuracy, and to add or delete any information they wished to include or withhold. This gave the participants the opportunity to add, edit,

or delete any information that they may (not) wish to see included in the final transcript. None of the participants accepted the offer to review the transcripts.

Secondly, I excluded details and events that risked making an individual participant identifiable. This was primarily done to protect the participants' identities from being revealed to others within the group, because it can be easy to link an individual member to a specific event or description. For instance, during the transcription stage, I removed from the data all information and personal details that might risk revealing participants' identities and pseudonymised them by replacing specific details with metadata (e.g., [city], [country of origin], [occupation], etc.). Thirdly, I assigned pseudonyms (P1–P19, Administrator) in the research publications to further conceal their identities and provide further privacy.

As an extra privacy and anonymity protection measure, I also randomly swapped the pseudonyms pertaining to each individual participant in each of the four research publications. This was done to make it more difficult to identify or track back a specific quotation to an individual participant across the different publications. To that end, I created a matrix to keep track and ensure that each participant was assigned a different unique pseudonym in each publication. Therefore, I use different pseudonyms for each individual participant, and thus it should not be possible to connect or track the same participant across the different research publications. It is important to note that, while I assigned a pseudonym to the group's administrator, it was not possible to completely conceal her identity, and other group members can still easily identify her. I informed her of this fact, she had no issues with it, and gave her consent for it. I offered her an additional opportunity to review and approve the interview transcripts and direct quotations that I intended to use in the research manuscripts before publishing them; however, she rejected both offers. I also offered the participants the opportunity to receive a copy of the research publications, and I shared a copy through an open access link either to the publication or through a PDF file with the participants who requested them.

Finally, in relation to the storage of the research data, I stored the data files in secure locations (e.g., a local hard drive on a computer, a memory stick) that

were encrypted and secured with a password in accordance with research storage rules at the University of Borås.

4.4.1 Positionality and reflections upon my role as a researcher

In undertaking this research, I appreciate my dual role during the empirical process of collecting data. Being a researcher carrying out research about how mothers seek and share information online (through the group) cannot be separated from the fact that I am also a mother seeking similar information to that sought by my own research participants. This is an intriguing situation for me, both personally and professionally, which makes it an opportunity to reflect upon my methodological choices and be transparent about them.

My insider status, as well as my role as a mother and a group member, facilitated my access to the research site and allowed me to recruit participants and carry out this study. My academic background may also have influenced the types of participants who were attracted to the research, with the majority who agreed to participate holding higher educational degrees. Due to their academic backgrounds, many participants were genuinely curious about the project and were willing to help a fellow researcher. One participant, who was also doing her PhD at the time, shared with me that she was aware of how challenging it can be to recruit research participants and thus had stepped in to help. Another participant held a master's degree in a similar topic and was personally interested to both learn about and understand her own experience as a social media user through the lens of my research. As the participants had background knowledge about the intricacies of doing research work, it was thus easy for me to explain the value of taking part in the project, what taking part in the research may entail, the research process, and how the data from the project would be used.

My role as a foreign mother in Sweden and a member of this group may also have contributed to the depth and breadth of details that the participants were willing to share with me. The benefits of having a shared identity with the participants, such as being a foreign mother and a member of the group, provided a certain level of trust and openness; thus, they were more willing to participate and share their experiences and thoughts because there was an assumption of this shared experience/identity (cf. Dwyer and Buckle, 2009). The participants were curious to learn about my family life, my research, and my experiences as a mother and a member of the group, and I was happy to answer their questions. Having such two-way open conversations during the interviews was crucial for building rapport and trust (cf. Dwyer and Buckle, 2009). Such openness and trust might have been difficult to achieve otherwise if I had been a complete outsider.

Hence, my insider-researcher status within the group enhanced the breadth and depth of understanding of the information practice in relation to a private and hidden Facebook group. In general, such groups can be difficult or even impossible for a researcher to access or gain trust if they are not a mother or a member of the group. A major consequence of this was developing a good level of familiarity with the research setting, which helped me to generate rich and detailed knowledge about the group (cf. Patton, 2015). However, despite the benefits of being a member of the group being studied, there were also some drawbacks. One of the main challenges of conducting this research was to understand the research setting as an insider but "still be able to describe it and its nuances to and for outsiders" (Patton, 2015, p.338).

Researching a familiar context or group of which one is a member might make it difficult to isolate one's own biases and interpretations from the actual phenomenon and how it is experienced by the participants (Hammersley and Atkinson, 2007, p.81). Being an insider member of the group I was studying involved the risk and challenge of disentangling myself from becoming too enmeshed in my own experience, and striving to look at the analysis from a wider or outsider perspective (cf. Dwyer and Buckle, 2009). Such an awareness of potential personal biases, and acknowledging that my own interpretations and experiences within the group may not be the same as the participants' interpretations helped me when striving to "make the familiar strange" (boyd, 2009, p.29). It was thus important to have pre-planned, open-ended questions based on theoretical constructs as a first point of departure, while at the same

time allowing a certain degree of flexibility for the interview questions to evolve based on what was important to, and brought up by, the participants (cf. Patton, 2015). This allowed the participants to freely discuss their own experiences, meanings, and understandings of being a group member. For instance, I used insights and reflections formed during earlier interviews to reflect upon and reformulate the interview questions, recruit specific participants, and prioritise which topics to discuss in subsequent interviews. I encouraged the participants to talk and elaborate upon their own understandings of issues and events, rather than talking about them from my own experience. Furthermore, interviewing members of the same group also provided me with the opportunity to develop a wider understanding of what was going on based on members' various perspectives and situated experiences of being members of the group (cf. Patton, 2015). In addition, I also discussed emerging themes and results with the participants throughout the data construction, which provided an opportunity to enhance self-understanding and obtain the participants' validation and accounts of their own experiences (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2009, p.196).

It was thus crucial to remain reflexive throughout the data construction by constantly reflecting upon my own biases and trying not to project my perceptions onto the participants (Hammersley and Atkinson, 2007, p.81). In interpretive research, it is "impossible to remove all subjectivity from a qualitative study" (Pickard, 2013, p. 21). However, what is important is that I am conscious of my own subjectivity and possible biases, while attempting to minimise them.

In addition, sometimes while I was conducting both the interviews and my data analysis, I felt both an insider and an outsider. Therefore, my positionality in this research should be seen as neither a complete insider nor an outsider (cf. Dwyer and Buckle, 2009). Instead, in this research I occupy a "third space, the space in between," which allows me to occupy the position of both insider and outsider (Dwyer and Buckle, 2009). Whereas I shared the same life experience and group membership as the participants, sometimes I shared their perspectives and opinions about the group and parenting, and at other times I did not. Furthermore, some participants had been members of the group for a

very long time, and I was a relative newcomer. Therefore, there was a great deal of back history and behind-the-scenes dynamics that I was unfamiliar with/unaware of, which made me feel like an outsider. Therefore, despite my commonality with the research participants, and being a member of the group, there were many differences in terms of our situated experiences within the group, our views on the group, our sociocultural backgrounds, languages, and parenting views and beliefs. This insider-outsider, or "third space", position may have both benefits and drawbacks. On the one hand, a benefit was the ability to adopt an outsider perspective, providing the necessary distance from which to view the participants' experiences, which were sometimes distinct from my own. On the other hand, occupying such an outsider position might have influenced and limited what the participants were willing to disclose to me.

4.4.2 Generalisability

One final methodological reflection I would like to discuss pertains to the issue of generalisability. As I mentioned earlier, this study follows a qualitative research approach, aiming to provide an in-depth understanding of engagement in an everyday life information practice within the context of a private Facebook group. The objective is to exemplify and situate SNS use within the context of this group and some members of the group whom I interviewed, rather than making claims that the findings could be generalised to other group members, groups, social media platforms, or different contexts of use.

Rather than generalising, the study aims to delve deeper into the participants' information activities within the group through a detailed analysis. By examining the actions and strategies adopted by the participants, I believe that this study can offer valuable insights into the processes shaping how and why these mothers engage in information activities within a specific social media context, and the affordances that enable or constrain such activities. The focus is on understanding the contextual nuances and specificities, rather than solely emphasising technical features or user characteristics (Leonardi, 2017).

This approach thus helps us to move beyond research approaches that tend to generalise or decontextualise social media use, overlooking the specific contexts of their use (for a discussion see Hine, 2015; Markham, 2016; Vitak, 2017).

By providing detailed and nuanced insights into the information activities of the group, this study contributes to a deeper understanding of members' information activities that could potentially be "theoretically generalizable" (Peräkylä, 2021). It emphasises the importance of considering the situated nature of social media use and the need to explore specific contexts in order to gain a comprehensive understanding of the topic. Instead of aiming for broad generalisations, this study aims to offer rich and contextually grounded insights that can enhance our knowledge about the nuanced ways in which social media is used within a specific context to interact with both information and others.

5. Summaries of research articles

In this chapter, I summarise the key theoretical concepts, methods, and main findings of each of the four research articles that form a central part of this thesis. These summaries will set the stage for a more detailed discussion in the next chapter. In this chapter, I also describe how these articles contribute to our understanding of the dynamics that emerge during engagement with the shared information practice developed within a Facebook group. This includes a discussion of the opportunities and challenges involved in engaging with information activities through the Facebook group, as well as the tools and strategies that members employed to mediate their engagement in these activities. Taken together, the contributions of these articles aim to fulfil the overarching goal of this thesis.

5.1 Affordances supporting mothers' engagement in information-related activities through Facebook groups

Article I focuses on the information activities that members engage in through a Facebook group, and the group's affordances that enable such engagement. The article aims to achieve a twofold goal: (1) to deepen our understanding of information activities enabled through a Facebook group, and (2) to describe the affordances that enable engagement with these activities. Although other articles included in this thesis (namely, Articles II and III) were written prior to this one, I have chosen to discuss and list this article first because it provides a foundation for describing various aspects related to engaging in information activities within the group. The article addresses two key questions: (1) How and why do foreign mothers engage in information-related activities through a Facebook group? (2) What affordances enable their engagement with information-related activities in the Facebook group, and how did these affordances facilitate that engagement?

The theoretical framework for this article includes LIS models of information-seeking and sharing (see e.g., Bates, 2002; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 1995, 2016; Talja and Hansen, 2006), along with a contemporary interpretation of the concept of affordance (e.g., Faraj and Azad, 2012; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). By doing so, Article I contributes with information and affordances perspectives on how SNS affordances facilitate and mediate engagement with information activities within an everyday life context.

The article draws upon in-depth, semi-structured interviews carried out between 2014 and 2017 with 20 members, including one group administrator, of a private Facebook group of foreign mothers situated in Sweden. The empirical material was analysed using a constant comparative technique, focusing on identifying the information-seeking and sharing activities that the participants engaged in through the group, and the various modes they employed during these activities, such as whether they were in a passive/active or directed/undirected mode. During the first iteration of this analysis, I identified the information activities of members, which I then interpreted through an affordance lens, placing emphasis on understanding the interplay between people and the Facebook group in enabling members' engagement with the identified information activities.

The main outcome of the data analysis for Article I was the identification of four central, interrelated information activities that members pursued through the group: posting (actively seeking information and advice from others), commenting (actively sharing information and connecting members to information resources), monitoring (passively observing and maintaining awareness of information through others' activities), and searching (actively locating and accessing information already available in previous group postings and conversations).

Article I also identifies the primary affordances in the group that facilitated and enabled members' engagement with these information activities. These affordances, which are further explained in Chapter 6, consist of visibility, accessibility, persistence, and associations, which are entwined in offering members opportunities to engage with both information and others through the

group. Some of these affordances relate to findings in the other articles. For instance, the affordance of associations offers members opportunities to draw inferences and cues from other members' activities, which allow them to learn about others' knowledge and expertise, their credibility (as in Article II), and the rules and norms of what constitute (in)appropriate methods and information to seek and share (as in Article III). Other instances that link the findings presented in Article I with the other articles include showing how members jointly helped each other to solve common problems and navigate daily life as foreign mothers in a new country. This finding, which is focused on how group members worked together towards achieving joint group goals (e.g., nurturing a supportive, friendly, and safe information space), was also supported in my analyses for Articles III and IV, to which I return in more detail later.

Other findings from Article I show that the Facebook group enabled members to engage in information activities in both visible and invisible modes contingent upon their goals; such as whether they had specific problems to solve, and whether they wanted to make their information or activities visible to, or invisible from, others. These findings led to, and were supported in, my analysis for two other Articles (III and IV), as described below.

By providing insights into (in)visible, passive, and active modes of engagement in information activities through SNSs, Article I contributes to the social media literature, which has often privileged the examination of more visible, and active, modes of engagement in SNS information activities (such as information-seeking or sharing) (see Ellison et al., 2018). Furthermore, employing in-depth qualitative interviewing, taking information activities as the main unit of analysis, and interpreting these activities through affordance and information lenses contributes to a contextual understanding of what, why, and how information activities were carried out through the Facebook group. More specifically, this perspective enables us to understand the reciprocal relationship between the participants' specific information goals when they engaged in various information activities, and the social and technical aspects of the Facebook group that created various opportunities for members to achieve their informational goals.

At a theoretical level, I argue in this article that the identified information activities were interrelated, and that they were enabled and sustained by the group and those who were actively engaged in seeking and sharing information with others. By conceptualising SNS-based information activities in this way, the main conclusion of Article I is that social media and information scholars should move beyond examining SNS-based information activities as isolated, individual, active, and visible activities. Instead, the article suggests that information activities (e.g., posting, commenting, monitoring, searching) should be examined as interrelated, and thus should not be examined independently or separately from each other, especially in highly visible and networked SNS environments. Thus, modes of both visible and invisible engagement with information should be considered in the study of information activities within Facebook groups. The study contributes to social media and LIS scholarship by conceptualising users' SNS-based information activities as both visible and invisible, as an extension of the active/passive and (un)directed modes of engagement identified in prior LIS literature (e.g., Bates, 2002; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 1995).

This study draws attention to the need for theories and methods that can help to improve our understanding of the information activities that are enabled by SNSs beyond an exclusive focus on a site's particular features, and beyond users' direct and individual information activities on that site. Instead, the study highlights the wide range of opportunities to interact with information and others facilitated through the social and technical arrangements of the group, which enabled members to instantly seek, share, monitor, search, and use information from others through the group. The article concludes by suggesting a need to understand the intertwined relationships between the various information activities that members engage in on the site when facilitating and preserving the group's current and future information activities.

5.2 Credibility assessments of everyday life information on Facebook

The focus of Article II is to understand people's views on, and the ways in which they assess, the credibility of information obtained and shared through a Facebook group. Due to the widespread use of Facebook (groups) as information resources within various aspects of daily life, Article II contributes to contemporary discussions on the ways in which people assess the credibility of everyday life information and advice shared in such groups. The aim of this article is to explore if, and if so why, Facebook group members (belonging to a mothers' group) perceived the group as containing credible information, and to describe the ways in which they assessed the credibility of the information provided within the group. To fulfil the aim of the research, the article addressed the following research questions: (1) What perceptions did the members of the Facebook group have of the group as a credible information source? (2) How did members of this Facebook group assess information credibility in the group and what cultural tools did they employ in this process?

The article adopts the sociocultural perspective of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a) that is employed as an overarching perspective in this thesis (see Chapter 3), and the concept of cognitive authority (Wilson, 1983). Combining these concepts was particularly useful for developing an understanding of the various cultural tools, and cognitive authorities, that people rely upon to help them mediate their information credibility assessment activities within the group.

The article draws upon in-depth, semi-structured interviews carried out during 2014–2015 with 19 members of a private Facebook group for foreign mothers situated in Sweden. The empirical material was analysed using a constant comparative technique, with a specific focus on members' information credibility assessments. The analysis revealed a paradox between members' conceptualisations of the Facebook group as an information source and their actual use of the group. The article shows that the majority of those who were interviewed expressed concerns about the quality of information shared by

others, voicing a belief that the group was not a credible source from which to seek information and advice. Yet, they had continued to be part of the group, and many of them actively sought and shared information and advice with others. The article offers a few explanations for this paradox. Firstly, members of the group did not necessarily have a previous relationship and they did not know each other offline. This had created mistrust because the information was coming from strangers and it was challenging to verify or assess their identities or backgrounds, and hence their credibility.

Furthermore, members used the group to connect and socialise online with similar others in the local community who shared their common life experiences, and challenges, people with whom they would not have been able to connect otherwise. Hence, some members used the group to stay up to date and follow other conversations invisibly without necessarily seeking or sharing information with others. These findings are also supported in the analyses presented in Articles I and IV. Thus, staying up to date, socialisation, and entertainment were core incentives for using the Facebook group and connecting with others through it, rather than its perceived credibility.

Most importantly, the in-depth interviews and analysis presented in this article revealed that, when talking about information credibility, members distinguished between different types of topics and knowledge domains. Based on this, my co-author and I conceptualised these two primary knowledge domains as "professional knowledge" and "personal knowledge". We defined professional knowledge as "knowledge gained and transmitted predominantly in a person's or organization's professional capacity or as an extension of that capacity", whereas personal knowledge was used to refer to "knowledge gained through personal experience in a personal (rather than professional) capacity" (Mansour and Francke, 2017, n.p.). The major finding of this study was thus that the Facebook group was not considered a credible source to consult for information on topics/matters that require professional knowledge (e.g., health and medical conditions). Instead, group members turned to and consulted other, more traditional, sources that were considered more trustworthy for information on such topics. However, the Facebook group was considered a

suitable source to seek information in the domain of personal knowledge on matters where there was a lack of other credible sources to consult, or when information was difficult to locate or interpret through other sources. Primarily, other members' personal and specific local knowledge, gained through first-hand experiences in dealing with and navigating various local institutions, was highly valued by members (e.g., preschools, schools, housing, healthcare, health insurance systems, and (un)employment, etc.). These findings led to the design of Article I, in which I examined what information activities the participants engaged in to seek, share, and use information from the Facebook group, and how they helped each other to interpret information and solve common problems.

It is important to note that the personal knowledge or experiences shared by others in the group were not taken for granted or at face value when using information obtained from the group. Rather, drawing upon the sociocultural perspective of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a), we identified several cultural tools that members adopted to facilitate their decisions and assessments of the credibility and trustworthiness of information shared by others in the group. Such intangible cultural tools included language use and writing style, expertise, life experience, educational background, and similar lifestyles and worldviews. Primarily, members adopted these tools in order to identify whom to trust or not trust as having cognitive authority, and thus as trustworthy sources of information. We found that, despite exposure to varying and wideranging ideas and opinions within the group, given that this is a diverse group, participants were more likely to trust information as credible and trustworthy if it was shared by others who had similar opinions, lifestyles, or worldviews. That is, if the information was intrinsically plausible and confirmed their prior opinions and beliefs (Wilson, 1983). Thus, we argue that a Facebook group is not always necessarily used to seek new information or perspectives; it is often the case that information is more likely to be trusted if it is reassuring, or shared by others who share or confirm one's prior beliefs. Finally, and consistently with previous work, my co-author and I note that previous experience and familiarity with a particular SNS platform is essential in providing members with skills that

can help them to assess the credibility of information and others, findings which are also supported in Articles I and III.

5.3 Shared information practices on Facebook

Article III focuses on the ways in which people navigate engagement with a complex everyday information practice online, by contributing with an information perspective on discussions around the formation and development of rules and norms shaping appropriate engagement with a practice. The aim of this article is to provide an in-depth understanding of the dynamics of an emergent shared information practice within the context of an international mothers' Facebook group, specifically by providing insight into how this specific online practice was developed, managed, and sustained by the group. The article addresses these questions: (1) What are the rules and norms that shape appropriate ways to seek and share information within a large multicultural mother's Facebook group? (2) How are these rules and norms formed, negotiated, reproduced, and enacted? (3) How do members manage the challenges of seeking and sharing information within the group?

The theoretical framing of this article consists of the notions of situated learning (Lave and Wenger, 1991) and the community of practice (Wenger, 1998) to analyse and conceptualise the ways in which group members, individually and as a group, engaged with, managed, and sustained the group as a collective information resource for its members.

The article draws upon in-depth, semi-structured interviews carried out between 2014 and 2017 with 20 members, including one group administrator, of a private Facebook group of foreign mothers situated in Sweden. The empirical material was analysed using constant comparative analysis combined with a narrative analysis. Primarily, through constant comparative analysis, I focused on accounts of both the implicit and explicit rules and norms that shaped appropriate and accepted ways of engaging in information activities within the group. Subsequently, narrative analysis was employed to capture how the

origins and formations of the group's shared online information practice, and the rules and norms shaping this practice, had evolved over time. Conflicts and disagreements, as disruptions to the group's regular information activities, were thus identified as a suitable focus for further in-depth analysis, because it enabled an exploration of how the rules of what is allowed or not allowed were established and enforced over time as an outcome of members' disruptive information activities (such as engaging in or initiating conflicts) (see Wenger, 1998).

Article III demonstrates the ways in which members of the group – individually and as a group – adopted, developed, navigated, and enforced rules and norms around appropriate ways to seek and share information and support with other group members. Such rules and norms, and their eventual enforcement, were found to be crucial in shaping and maintaining the shared online information practice of the group over time. The article's findings show that group members had to cope with their differences and, despite endorsing different, often polarising, views on parenting, as a group they had to find common ground to sustain the group as a collective information resource for the mutual benefit of its members.

In this article, I argue that group members worked towards cultivating a joint enterprise of polite, respectful, and responsible participation with an eye to maintaining the group as a friendly space to allow members to openly seek and share information and support on topics that could lead to conflict. However, the findings show that this was not necessarily the case, as the group later implemented explicit rules (communicated through a pinned post) banning members from discussing specific contentious topics (e.g., vaccinations), and members held implicit norms around how and what topics they deemed appropriate or not to seek and share information about in the group. These findings indicate that the community had developed and adopted group "shared repertoires" (Wenger, 1998), constituting a repository of communal resources (e.g., explicit rules, implicit norms, and shared understandings, among others) that defined sanctioned ways of engaging within the group. These communal resources contributed to sustaining the

community's shared online information practice and mediating members' information activities over time, as further discussed in Chapter 6.

Such appropriate participation was enacted by group members during their daily information activities by employing various strategies shaped by the group's rules and norms of what constituted appropriate ways of seeking and sharing information and advice with others. These included: (1) engaging carefully and cautiously when responding to posts and sharing information or opinions on topics one may disagree with; (2) avoiding sharing information or opinions on contentious topics; (3) concealing information from others by not seeking information predicted to trigger conflicts/arguments; (4) voluntarily leaving, or involuntarily being removed from, the group when a member was no longer able to follow or agree with the group rules. Furthermore, the administrators, with the help of group members, adopted administrative monitoring and moderating strategies to establish, manage, monitor, and enforce the rules and norms of the group in order to maintain the best interests of the online community.

It is argued in this article that there is a need to employ appropriate methods and theories that help in capturing both the implicit and explicit ways in which members learn, and negotiate, what is allowed or not allowed within a particular information practice, and how such negotiations (re)shape that practice over time, rather than solely examining these rules and practice at a single point in time. It is further argued that there is a need to employ theories that help us to understand the ways in which people individually and as groups form, manage, and participate in information activities within large and diverse groups.

At a practical level, Article III sheds light on the challenges involved in negotiating appropriate ways of engaging in information activities in an online group consisting of a large and heterogeneous group of people unknown to each other. At a methodological level, by employing in-depth, one-to-one interviews, and by combining constant comparative analysis and narrative analysis to examine the empirical material, the article contributes by providing in-depth insights into the processes shaping the development and evolution of the shared

information practice employed by this community from different perspectives and at different points in time. At a theoretical level, the article makes a contribution by employing the theories of situated learning and community of practice, which enabled the use of both the individual and the group as units of analysis, and to situate members' individual activities in relation to the group. Consequently, in this article, I argue that, although members of this group endorsed different, often polarising, individual parenting practices, they found sufficient common ground to maintain and sustain the group as an information space/resource that members continued to benefit from.

5.4 Collective privacy management practices

Information disclosure and privacy are key and pressing issues dominating contemporary discussions, especially in the context of SNSs and their social implications. However, there is still a limited understanding of how SNS users manage their information disclosures and privacy collectively (or in groups), rather than individually, on these sites.

The main aim of Article IV is thus to provide an in-depth analysis of information disclosure and privacy management carried out within a particular Facebook group. This includes focusing on the privacy risks that members associated with disclosing information within the group and the strategies they employed to navigate and manage those risks. The research questions addressed in this article are: (1) What, if any, privacy concerns do members of a private Facebook group perceive in disclosing information in the group? (2) How is privacy co-managed by members within a private Facebook group?

With an interest in how people manage and protect their informational privacy within Facebook groups, the article builds upon, and extends, prior literature on social media and the notion of Communication Privacy Management theory (CPM) (Petronio, 2002). The article draws upon in-depth, semi-structured interviews carried out between 2014 and 2017 with 20 members, including one group administrator, of a private Facebook group of foreign

mothers situated in Sweden. The empirical material was analysed using constant comparative analysis, focusing on participants' accounts of information disclosure and privacy risks and concerns within the group, and the ways in which they managed these concerns, both individually and as a group. It is important to note that this study specifically addresses the information disclosure and privacy issues that were found to be relevant and important to the group. Other privacy-related issues, such as those concerning Meta (formerly Facebook) as a company, or other advertisers and companies gaining access to group members' information, were not within the scope of this study's analysis.

It is argued that privacy management within group contexts is a complex collective process that is accomplished by means of coordination and collaboration among, and by, group members at various levels as they seek to manage various privacy boundaries within the group (e.g., group, intragroup, and individual/personal), as further described below.

One of the main arguments set out in this article is that privacy management should be viewed, and conceptualised, as a collective and collaborative effort, rather than merely an individual task. To address the two research questions posed in this article, the analysis firstly focused on identifying the privacy concerns that members raised at an individual level in relation to disclosing information, and the specific group dynamics that had previously shaped those concerns within the group. Secondly, the analysis focused on understanding how members, collaboratively and as a group, managed the concerns described, by examining the strategies they adopted to protect their own privacy, the privacy of others, and of the group.

Overall, contradicting prior work alluding to the safety of Facebook groups for discussing sensitive and stigmatising topics, the analysis reveals that most participants associated high risks/concerns with disclosing information in the Facebook group, despite it being a private and secret group. This is in part because members of the group were sharing their privacy boundaries with a large, continuously evolving, audience consisting of both known and unknown others who were potentially geographically co-located. This has implications

such as context collapse (i.e., the presence of (in)visible audiences from multiple contexts and social groups), time collapse (i.e., content can be viewed by both current and future audiences), and spatial collapse (i.e., content can be viewed by online audiences who could potentially also be co-located offline), which further complicated members' information disclosure and privacy management. Thus, members' information disclosure was potentially visible, accessible, and searchable by a large number of known and unknown, current and future audiences.

In this regard, the analysis revealed that members of the group collectively managed their privacy within the group on at least three levels: the group, intragroup, and personal levels. At a group level, members managed an exterior group privacy boundary between the group and outsiders, and an interior group boundary among members. This included employing interrelated strategies at both these levels to protect the privacy of the group from both the inside and the outside. Strategies employed at this level included: changing the group's privacy settings to private and hidden; setting very exclusive and invitation-only criteria for who was allowed into the group; extensive vetting of membership requests to ensure that those allowed in fit the set criteria; establishing explicit group privacy rules to protect members and the group; and enforcing the rules and removing members who violated them.

At an intragroup level, members worked collaboratively with one or a few other members to form and manage their privacy within the group. This involved employing strategies such as engaging in hidden information disclosure, whether this was by creating spinoff sub-groups with a few trusted and known others, or through private messages whereby a member engaged in one-on-one private conversations with other members. This also involved employing strategies such as anonymous information disclosure, in which group members asked anonymous questions publicly on behalf of other members to protect their identities. Meanwhile, at a personal level, members managed their privacy by only making public information disclosures that were appropriate for all potential audiences, and/or engaging in self-censorship

where they set as off-limits topics that they would not reveal to the group (e.g., custody or divorce battles, abuse, marital problems).

The argument here is that privacy management is extremely complicated within the context of large online groups where people communicate and share their privacy boundaries with a large, evolving, both known and unknown, potentially co-located audience. This raises new privacy concerns and challenges, because members must navigate not only collapsing contexts, but also contexts in which time and space also collapse. Such an understanding thus extends our understanding of privacy and how it is managed within large, networked groups, something that has been overlooked in previous social media research, which largely adopted an individualistic approach to privacy. At a practical level, the article suggests some design recommendations aimed at providing enhanced privacy controls in large and communal groups, in order to offer people more opportunities to access necessary information and support, while simultaneously controlling and limiting the visibility, accessibility, and flow of their information.

6. Discussion

In Chapter 6, I undertake an overarching discussion of the four research articles presented in Chapter 5. The study's discussion draws upon a sociocultural perspective of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a). The thesis is based on a compilation of four published research articles that draw upon in-depth, semi-structured interviews conducted with 20 members of a foreign mothers' private Facebook group situated in Sweden. The study aims to provide an in-depth understanding of engagement in an everyday life information practice within the context of a Facebook group. The focus is on examining how members engage in information activities and how these engagements are mediated within the context of the Facebook group. The following research questions guided the work conducted for this study:

- 1. What affordances does the Facebook group offer for engagement in information activities, and how?
 - How do the affordances of the Facebook group facilitate members' opportunities to engage in information activities?
 - How do the affordances of the Facebook group complicate or constrain members' opportunities to engage in information?
- 2. How is the Facebook group maintained as an environment for information activities, and how does the group navigate the opportunities and challenges presented within it, according to group members' accounts?

The mediated action perspective, which is adopted in this study, highlights the relationship between people and the various tools they develop or adopt to achieve their goals within a sociocultural context, in this case the Facebook group. The current study underscores the intricate interplay between social and technical aspects of the group in shaping members' information activities within the specific sociocultural context where these activities take place (see also Wertsch, 1998b). It thus emphasises that members' activities and understandings of their participation in the group emerge from a mutual relationship between the people involved and the tools available in this evolving

information environment (see also Lloyd, 2021; Packer and Goicoechea, 2000; Thorne, 2005). Adopting such a perspective thus highlights the need for an indepth analysis of various factors shaping people's engagement in information activities.

This chapter is divided into two main parts. In the first part, I begin by addressing the first research question and two sub-questions, focusing on the main affordances of the Facebook group in terms of the opportunities and challenges they present, as well as their role in facilitating or constraining participants' engagement in information activities. In the second part, I address the second research question by discussing the ways in which both the group and its members navigate and manage the opportunities and challenges offered by the group. I specifically explore the tools and strategies the group and its members have adopted and developed to mediate their engagement in information activities within the group.

6.1 What affordances does the Facebook group offer for engagement in information activities?

The primary focus of the first research question addressed in this thesis was to explore the affordances of the Facebook group and how they shape members' engagement in information activities. By utilising a relational affordances perspective, as proposed by Treem and Leonardi (2012) and Majchrzak et al. (2013), this study emphasises that the affordances of the Facebook group emerge as the result of an entwined relationship between members' activities and the tools and features of the Facebook group. This "entangled relationship" (Faraj and Azad, 2012) creates various possibilities for engagement in information activities within the context of the group. In line with this theoretical perspective, this thesis further emphasises that the affordances of the Facebook group offer possibilities for action which both enable and constrain members' engagement in information activities within the group.

Overall, the findings reveal that the Facebook group offers six key affordances: visibility, accessibility, persistence, associations, invisibility, and inaccessibility. The affordances of visibility, persistence, and associations were identified through examining previous studies of social media (e.g., Treem and Leonardi, 2012). The other three affordances (accessibility, invisibility, and inaccessibility) emerged as important and relevant to this group through an overall analysis of the research findings.

Visibility is a fundamental affordance, referring to the possibilities that enable members to instantly communicate with a large audience and make their information and activities highly visible (see also Treem and Leonardi, 2012). The instant and high visibility available through social media is a core and distinctive feature of these platforms, setting them apart from other and previous communication methods such as face-to-face interactions, emails, and discussion forums (for an in-depth analysis, refer to boyd, 2010; Treem and Leonardi, 2012; Treem et al., 2020). The affordance of *persistence* refers to the possibilities offered by the group that enable members to sustain, record, store, and permanently preserve their information and activities over time (see Article I; also Treem and Leonardi, 2012). The affordance of *associations* refers to the possibilities offered by the group that enable members to draw inferences and cues from their own and other members' activities (see Article I; also Treem and Leonardi (2012).

Accessibility is an affordance identified within the context of this study, referring to the possibilities offered by the instant and continuous visibility and persistence of information, as well as the knowledgeable and experienced members who share common life experiences through the group (Article I). Invisibility is another affordance identified within the context of this group, referring to the possibilities offered by the group to keep it hidden from outsiders and prevent them from locating or viewing it. It also involves possibilities offered for keeping members' activities hidden from other members within the group. Inaccessibility is another affordance identified within the context of this study, referring to the possibilities offered by the group to make

it challenging for outsiders to access the group, even after they have managed to locate it through private invitations shared by insider members.

In the following section, I present an overall theoretical development and elaboration of these six affordances by focusing on the role they play in offering possibilities that facilitate participants' engagement in information activities within the context of this group. In the subsequent section, I continue the discussion of these affordances by focusing on their paradoxical role in creating constraints that limit members' ability to engage in information activities.

6.1.1 How do the affordances of the Facebook group facilitate members' opportunities to engage in information activities?

The first part of the first research question of this thesis aims to explore the opportunities that the affordances of the group offer that facilitate and mediate members' engagement in information activities.

6.1.1.1 High visibility and accessibility of information activities

The affordance of visibility facilitates the forging of connections between group members who share a common life experience and face common challenges. Within the group, the affordance of visibility offers members various possibilities for action to communicate directly and instantly and engage in information activities that make them highly visible to other group members (as shown in Articles I and II). The affordance of visibility offers members various opportunities to directly and instantly post information, comment on each other's posts, and monitor the group to seek and share information and advice. The study suggests that the instant and high visibility of other group members and their information activities often encouraged the participants to actively post in order to seek information and advice from the group, especially on topics requiring immediate or personalised local knowledge and advice (Articles I and II). For instance, members actively sought information from the group when they needed to resolve specific life problems related to navigating local institutions or everyday life situations such as interpreting local rules and

regulations and finding local family activities and excursions. These findings are consistent with previous research (e.g., Bates, 2002; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 1995), which emphasises people's active engagement in information activities when they are faced with new situations or need to resolve a particular life problem, such as becoming pregnant with twins, or becoming unemployed.

The affordance of visibility also facilitates members' active and instant engagement with the group's information activities, including monitoring (i.e., utilising one's personal Newsfeed or the group's timeline to follow the group's activities) and commenting (i.e., utilising the comment feature to discuss or share information with others). These activities often take place synchronously within the group. The findings show that the participants valued the dynamic, synchronous, and active nature of the interactions and discussions taking place within the group, which often enabled instant and smooth engagement in diverse information activities (e.g., posting, commenting, and monitoring), as shown in Article I. They also particularly valued the ability to monitor and instantly access visible personalised information within the group, especially on specific topics that required local knowledge and expertise, which were made available through other members of the group. The findings presented in Articles I and II demonstrate that the group enabled members to directly seek and share personalised information and advice about local events, activities, or specific situations. For example, information to help with a specific issue such as filling in forms to apply for parental or sick leave, recommendations for local family-friendly restaurants, or evaluating potential local job prospects based on one's educational background and language skills, as evidenced in Articles I and II.

Members and the broader community played a central role in sharing, monitoring, and mediating local knowledge and first-hand experiences about specific local situations, thus contributing to members' situated learning (Lave and Wenger, 1991). Both Articles I and II report on how group members leveraged the affordance of visibility to provide access and enable the exchange of both personal knowledge (defined as "knowledge gained through personal experience in a personal, rather than professional, capacity" (Mansour and

Francke, 2017, n.p)) and, occasionally, professional knowledge (defined as "knowledge gained and transmitted in a person's [...] professional capacity" (Mansour and Francke, 2017, n.p)). Within this community, this translates into enabling members to collaborate by helping each other to solve specific problems (e.g., choosing a day-care centre, communicating with local authorities) and navigating new everyday life situations in an unfamiliar society. Group participants were therefore motivated to monitor the group for several reasons, including staying up to date with relevant information, sharing information with others, learning from and about other members, ensuring that group members were following the group's rules, and avoiding making their information visible to others.

The affordance of visibility offered various possibilities, enabling the emergence of another important affordance; namely, accessibility. These affordances of visibility and accessibility are related in terms of offering possibilities for direct and accessible engagement in information activities within the group. Accessibility refers to the possibilities provided as a result of the instant and continuous visibility of information and others within the group (refer to Articles I and II for an in-depth discussion). These possibilities enable and facilitate accessibility to a heterogeneous community of mothers, who all share diverse but common life experiences and challenges. The affordance of accessibility can also be seen to offer possibilities for mothers to connect with others within the group, who share specific or similar lifestyles, parenting values, and cultural backgrounds, as discussed in Article II. This was observed in both Articles I and II because the high visibility of group activities facilitated instant and direct connections based on participants' preferences and needs, which enabled further access to information among diverse participants in the group. The results presented in Articles I-III particularly highlight several accounts of how participants directly connected with other mothers who had children in similar, older, or younger age groups, mothers who shared the same nationality, or those residing in specific cities and towns. More specifically, some members formed their own sub-communities to discuss private or specific topics, such as single parenting or investing in Sweden, or with those who

shared the same nationality or lived in the same geographical location, as demonstrated in Articles I, III, and IV.

In addition, the emergence of both visibility and accessibility can be explained from the perspective of relational affordances (Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Mansour et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012). This perspective offers an opportunity to understand the entangled relationships between group members, their goals, and the Facebook group features and how they facilitate the emergence of these affordances. The findings of this study emphasise how the affordances of visibility and accessibility emerged and intertwined due to the entangled and dynamic relationship between members' goals of engaging in information activities (e.g., seeking and sharing or staying updated with information) and the features of Facebook groups (e.g., posting, commenting, the Group Wall). Furthermore, when interpreted through a community of practice lens (Wenger, 1998), the findings underscore the close relationship between the needs and goals of individual members and the broader community, which facilitated access to information and knowledge resources within the community. This, in turn, creates and supports opportunities for members to engage in other information activities, such as preserving the knowledge and information resources of the community over time. The affordances of visibility and accessibility thus create a context for the affordance of persistence, as further developed in the next subsection.

6.1.1.2 Persistence of information activities

The affordance of persistence refers to various possibilities for action offered by the group that enable members to sustain, store, access, record, and permanently preserve the group's information activities over time (see Article I, also Treem and Leonardi, 2012 for a discussion on persistence). Since all information activities within the Facebook group are recorded, and therefore persistent – unlike other platforms, which offer limited duration for a specific period of time (e.g., Snapchat, Instagram stories, and Facebook stories) – the affordance of persistence is both contingent upon, and plays a key role in, facilitating members' opportunities to maintain sustained visibility and

accessibility in relation to the group's information activities (as discussed in Article I). That is to say, the persistence of the group's information activities further facilitates and influences members' potential ongoing and asynchronous engagement in such activities within the group (e.g., posting, commenting, monitoring). For instance, without members' posts being recorded, other members would not have the opportunity to interact and engage with those activities, such as by adding comments.

The affordance of persistence also enables the group to record members' ongoing information activities over time by documenting and preserving the resources of knowledge and expertise embedded within members' information activities, turning them into group "shared repertoires" (Wenger, 1998). The findings of this study are consistent with previous research in this respect (Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012), which shows that the use of online discussion boards through enterprise social media within organisations facilitates the utilisation, codification, and preservation of employees' knowledge and expertise as crucial organisational assets and resources over time. In the context of the group studied here, the knowledge and expertise possessed by members in terms of raising a family and navigating various daily situations in Sweden as foreign mothers are key assets in everyday life. These assets have been steadily codified and preserved over time, making them accessible for use by both current and future members of the group. As these assets remain preserved in shared repertoires, they facilitate the continuity of the shared online information practice, as discussed in section 6.2.2. The group's information activities, characterised by persistence, visibility, and accessibility, allow members to engage in both passive and active asynchronous modes of information seeking, regardless of whether they have a specific problem to solve. An example of information seeking activities is searching and browsing through previous discussions to locate information or topics of interest that have been previously shared, thereby providing asynchronous and rapid access to information when needed. These activities are made possible in particular through monitoring the group's Timeline or using the search button to retrieve and access previous discussions. Group members are therefore able to monitor

the group and access information without direct or visible involvement in its activities (see Articles I, III, and IV).

Finally, the affordance of persistence enables the group to codify and document the once-implicit rules and transform them into more explicit, visible, and permanently available group-specific rules and guidelines. These are then communicated to both current and future group members through a pinned post at the top of the group's timeline, which enables those rules to persist. Interpreting these findings through a community-of-practice lens (Wenger, 1998), the study suggests that the pinned post containing specific group rules and regulations can be seen as part of the group's codified communal resources and repertoires (see section 6.2.2). The pinned post, as a codified group resource, is permanently visible and accessible, and it plays a key role in shaping the group's current and future information activities. This includes determining what information and topics are allowed or not allowed to be discussed or shared within and outside of the group, setting the tone for discussions, specifying how discussions should or should not take place, establishing criteria for adding members to the group, and more, as shown in Articles II, III, and IV.

6.1.1.3 Associations derived from information activities

The affordance of associations refers to the opportunities for action offered by the group that enable members to gather information, draw inferences, and gain cues from the activities of other members (see Article I; also Treem and Leonardi, 2012). The findings suggest that the high visibility of and accessibility to other members and the group's information activities, combined with sustained engagement in group activities over time, enable members to learn, and draw inferences and cues, from other members' activities, such as postings. Examples of these cues include personal identifying details such as names, profile pictures, occupations, locations, or places of origin, as demonstrated in Articles II and IV. For instance, group members reported that they regularly gathered information and learned about others in the group, including their perspectives, values, worldviews, educational and cultural backgrounds, writing styles, lifestyles, and professional and life experiences. This helped

members to establish and form new connections and relationships with previously unknown people, as well as assessing their credibility.

These findings align with previous research highlighting how people often draw upon any available details and cues when assessing the credibility of information from unfamiliar sources or strangers on social Q&A sites and anonymous discussion boards (e.g., Yahoo), as well as when reading usergenerated recommendations and product reviews (Flanagin et al., 2014; Jeon and Rieh, 2014; Metzger et al., 2010). This study extends these findings by emphasising that such cues help in contextualising members' information activities through mutual and sustained engagement over time, and informing their decisions about whether or not to engage in these activities within the Facebook group. This aspect is further explored in section 6.1.2.2.

The affordance of associations also offers important opportunities for facilitating the sharing of knowledge and expertise among group members, often driven by imagined associations such as shared challenges, values, perspectives, nationalities, or lifestyles, as discussed in Articles I, II, and III. Members have the opportunity to establish instant and explicit connections with others who possess domain-specific knowledge or expertise within the group. This is primarily realised through direct tagging, which facilitates easy and instant access to perceived experts within the group. For instance, in Article I, the findings highlight instances where particular members were often tagged for their specific expertise as schoolteachers, their local knowledge about certain neighbourhoods, or their insights into working conditions in specific Swedish cities.

These findings can be interpreted in light of, and extend, the types of associations proposed by Treem, Leonardi, and colleagues (Leonardi, 2015; Treem and Leonardi, 2012; Treem et al., 2020). They argue that the high communication visibility within enterprise social media enables workers to make two main types of associations: associations between people and who they are connected with within an organisation (e.g., "who knows whom"), and associations between people and the information/content they post and the type of knowledge they possess (e.g., "who knows what"). In the context of the

mothers' Facebook group, members do not seem to leverage the affordance of association to learn or maintain awareness about who knows whom within the group. Instead, they are more concerned with members' connections outside the group (e.g., "who knows whom"), an association that it is challenging to make within this group context, as further discussed in Section 6.1.2.2. However, the group also enables members to make the second type of associations between people and the information they post, and the type of knowledge they possess within the group (e.g., "who knows what").

In addition, the findings reveal that, as most members are unknown to each other, the Facebook group enables members to establish a third type of association: understanding who the person is based on the information they disclose and post over time within the group. This new association type is referred to as "who is who", thereby extending the two types of association (i.e., "who knows whom," "who knows what") proposed by Treem, Leonardi, and colleagues (Leonardi, 2015; Treem and Leonardi, 2012; Treem et al., 2020).

6.1.1.4 Information and the group's invisibility and inaccessibility

Drawing upon the affordances presented in Article I and the research findings discussed above, in this thesis I propose the expansion of the affordances of SNSs in the context of a secret Facebook group to include two additional affordances: invisibility and inaccessibility.

The affordance of invisibility refers to possibilities offered to the group and its members to keep the group and members' activities hidden and invisible from outsiders. It also includes opportunities to keep certain activities invisible from fellow members of the group. Specifically, the Facebook group offers its members the option to set the group as "secret" and "hidden", making it invisible and inaccessible to non-members. Furthermore, the research findings show that the Facebook group allows participants to monitor and search the group's ongoing and previous activities to keep up-to-date or access relevant information without making themselves or their information activities visible to others in the group. Inaccessibility refers to the possibilities offered by the group to make it challenging for outsiders to access the group, even after they have

managed to locate the group through private invitations shared by insider members, as demonstrated in Articles III and IV. Invisibility and inaccessibility represent key affordances that allow this group to exert more control over who can see and access the group and its activities.

From this perspective, it can be argued that the Facebook group simultaneously offers members high visibility and accessibility to engage in various information activities while maintaining high levels of invisibility and inaccessibility to outsiders, who are unable to locate or view the group's activities. The affordances of invisibility and inaccessibility are also important in maintaining the privacy and credibility of the group by minimising the ability of outsiders to locate, access, or intrude upon the group, as evidenced in the analyses presented in Articles III and IV. Article IV further demonstrates that the group has gradually adjusted and tightened its privacy rules and controls to limit its visibility and accessibility to outsiders. This included changing the group's privacy settings to "secret" and implementing very stringent membership filtering criteria, such as being a foreign mother or mother-to-be who is living in, or planning to move to, Sweden. Membership is therefore restricted to a narrow group of individuals, with the goal of creating a "thick exterior privacy boundary" to maintain the group as a private and safe space for its members (Article IV, p. 16; see also Petronio, 2002).

This study therefore underscores the importance of considering the affordances of invisibility and inaccessibility in the context of private online groups, particularly in terms of how these affordances may enable members to exercise greater control over both their personal privacy and that of the group as a whole. This is in line with previous research, which has also established that private Facebook groups are widely popular, especially among stigmatised or marginalised communities. These groups offer members private and secret spaces to discuss sensitive topics they may not feel comfortable discussing with their close social networks such as family, friends, or colleagues (e.g., Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2016, 2015; Blackwell et al., 2016; Christensen et al., 2017; Hård af Segerstad and Kasperowski, 2015; Yeshua-Katz and Hård af Segerstad, 2020).

It must be noted, however, that the mothers' Facebook group is not necessarily entirely private, as evidenced in Article IV. In this article, it is argued that, although the group may provide high invisibility and inaccessibility to outsiders, it still offers high visibility and accessibility within the group to insiders who may be known or who may leak information to outsiders, leading to many challenges and risks that may further complicate members' information activities, as discussed later, in section 6.1.2. Thus, the research findings contribute to previous literature on social media (e.g., Faraj and Azad, 2012; Treem and Leonardi, 2012) by highlighting the nuanced and diverse ways in which Facebook group affordances can be used by different groups.

6.1.2 How do the affordances of the Facebook group complicate or constrain members' opportunities to engage in information activities?

The second part of the first research question of this thesis aims to explore the challenges presented by the affordances of the group, which constrain and limit members' opportunities to effectively engage in information activities.

In the previous section, I discussed how the group affordances (namely (in)visibility, (in)accessibility, persistence, and associations) offer opportunities for members to connect, collaborate, and interact with information and other members sharing similar life situations. Group members engage in various information activities with the goal of seeking and sharing instant localised and personalised information and support resources. These information resources help members to navigate new aspects of their daily lives within an unfamiliar information environment (as described in section 6.1 and Article I). However, the findings indicate that these affordances play a dual and paradoxical role in providing both opportunities and challenges that simultaneously facilitate and constrain engagement in information activities within the Facebook group. This observation aligns with the relational affordance perspective employed in this thesis, which underscores the notion of affordance as simultaneously enabling and constraining possibilities for action (see also Faraj and Azad, 2012; Majchrzak et al., 2013; Mansour et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

The paradoxical role of affordances is manifested in the emergence of three key, complex phenomena that have affected how members manage and navigate information activities within the group. These include context collapse (i.e., the erosion of contextual boundaries between distinct contexts) (see Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012), time collapse (i.e., the erosion of temporal boundaries between the past, present, and future) (Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018), and spatial collapse (i.e., the erosion of boundaries between distinct online and offline contexts) (discussed further in section 6.1.2.2. and Article IV). Each of these phenomena entail tensions and challenges that constrain the opportunities offered by the group affordances for engaging in information activities. The findings of this study indicate that, within the studied Facebook group, factors contributing to the collapse of contextual, temporal, and spatial boundaries are: the persistence of members' information activities over time; the instant visibility and accessibility of these activities to large, known, unknown, invisible, and future audiences; and the ability to link these activities to individual members (as evidenced in Articles II, III, and IV). This makes it complex for members to engage in information activities, requiring both members and the group to navigate conflicts and disagreements, assess information credibility, and manage privacy boundaries. Such complexity can be seen in various contexts, including other types of SNSs and traditional methods of communication, such as face-to-face interactions or email exchanges (for a comprehensive discussion refer to boyd, 2008; Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Palen and Dourish, 2003; Treem and Leonardi, 2012; Vitak et al., 2015, 2012). However, it is argued in this thesis that the complexity associated with engaging in information activities becomes more prominent and explicit in the context of a large, diverse, and potentially colocated online Facebook group (see Articles III and IV).

6.1.2.1 The erosion of contextual boundaries

Facebook groups enable their members to connect and interact with a large, heterogeneous, and mostly unknown audience. However, while this opportunity offers members various benefits, it also faces them with several

tensions and challenges. In the context of SNSs, the first of these is often context collapse (see also Marwick & boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012). Context collapse is a sociotechnical dynamic that emerges as a result of "the flattening out of multiple distinct audiences in [the group], such that people from different contexts become a singular group of message recipient" (Vitak, 2012, p.541). Building upon, and expanding, the "imagined audience" framework proposed by Litt (2015), this study indicates that members of the mothers' Facebook group envision three primary and distinct audiences observing their information activities within the group: an abstract audience, a specific audience, and a future audience. For members, each of these audiences is associated with potential risks and concerns in terms of observing their information and interacting with their group activities. In this section, I focus on addressing the abstract audience, while in the next section I move on to specific and potential future audiences.

The first type of audience is vague, abstract, and unknown, consisting of members who are strangers and others who may have access to the group. Group members described several concerns related to this type of audience, including privacy concerns (explored in more detail in Article IV) as well as concerns over information quality and credibility, which limited their engagement with information activities. This aspect is discussed in both Articles II and III, where the participants reflected upon the difficulty they experienced in assessing the credibility of information and of other members. This difficulty often emerged due to the lack of quality controls on information and the absence of traditional cues within the group, such as details about their backgrounds, knowledge, skills, expertise, and affiliations, as demonstrated in Article II. People commonly employ such cues to make judgements about information credibility and the attribution of cognitive authority (for example see Rieh, 2018; Wilson, 1983). The fact that the audience in a Facebook group is largely made up of numerous unknown members holding diverse values and perspectives can also lead to concerns about the credibility of information and other members. Group members faced challenges in assessing the credibility of information shared by unknown others in the group, because it was challenging

to make decisions regarding what or whom to trust or believe as a "cognitive authority" (Wilson, 1983) who could potentially provide credible information and advice.

Furthermore, the challenge of communicating with a diverse and unknown audience made it difficult for my participants to tailor the information they posted to the group, as people from different backgrounds value different information as being credible. Without a clear understanding of their audience, group members were concerned about receiving or sharing information and advice that might conflict with their own or other members' values and beliefs. Within traditional face-to-face communication, individuals often tailor their actions based on the tone, attitudes, preferences, and expectations of actual small and explicit audiences that are often known and visible and with whom they are interacting (Litt and Hargittai, 2016). In contrast, within SNSs such as the studied Facebook group, members often lack these cues and information because they are mainly communicating with invisible or vague audiences (for a discussion, refer to boyd, 2008; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Litt, 2012; Vitak, 2012). This limits the opportunities for members to engage in information activities within the group because they lack the ability to distinguish their audience or the context of their activities. The wide and instant broadcasting of activities within the Facebook group increases the likelihood of context collapse and thus limits members' ability to tailor their information and activities to the group or select who can view, access, or comment on their posts.

In addition, the Facebook group was established by an individual member and is being jointly managed with three other members who act as administrators and moderators and maintain full technical control over the group and its activities. This includes making decisions about group membership, defining and establishing the group's nature and purpose (such as setting the group as public or private), and determining who is added to or removed from the group, among many other tasks and responsibilities. As a result, regular individual members have very limited technical control over the flow of their information or the general audience available within the group. Since members cannot control the visibility or accessibility of their information

activities within the group, they often tend to believe that their information activities are constantly being observed by, and visible to, a "massive audience" (Litt and Hargittai, 2016). Hence, context collapse is further complicated within the Facebook group as it connects a large number of members who are unknown to each other and come from multiple contexts with diverse and often conflicting practices, values, norms, nationalities, spoken languages, and backgrounds. The complexity arises from the collapse of this audience of diverse members and norms into a single online space, that is, the Facebook group (cf. Davis and Jurgenson, 2014; Marwick and boyd, 2011; Vitak, 2012).

This type of context collapse differs slightly from the types of context collapse examined in the studies by Marwick and boyd (2011), Vitak (2012), and Davis and Jurgenson (2014), in which people from different contexts of a person's life gained access to the same information. Within this Facebook group, context collapse occurs when members who are strangers with diverse backgrounds and values connect and interact within the same Facebook group. The findings show that such context collapse has resulted in a great sense of lack of control among group members since they are faced with challenges related to drawing boundaries and remaining aware of who is observing and interacting with their activities. It also makes it difficult for group members to tailor their information activities to meet the distinct expectations or needs of members from different communities and contexts. The lack of contextual awareness, together with a lack of physical and verbal cues, has often led to misinterpretations and misunderstandings, ultimately limiting participants' capacity to seek or share required information within the group.

The dynamic nature of interactions within the group, characterised by instant and rapid posting and commenting by many members, has often added further complexity. This aspect can potentially trigger a rapid escalation of discussions on polarising topics, which may eventually turn into large-scale conflicts with a surge of hostile, out-of-control comments (see Article III). The findings demonstrate that, in such a dynamic group setting, boundaries separating different subgroups are fluid and it is challenging to control or define them since all members share the same joint online discussion space (i.e.,

Facebook Group Timeline). This fluidity of contextual boundaries makes it challenging to manage this group, with its many members engaging in joint and fast-paced discussions, as discussed in Articles II, III, and IV.

An additional challenge described by group members is related to the risks arising from members, whose credibility cannot be assessed, sharing misleading or inaccurate information, whether intentionally or not. According to the participants, the sharing of inaccurate or misleading information was a frequent issue in the group, involving both mundane topics and more serious ones (e.g., health, diagnoses, vaccinations, medications), as evidenced in Articles II and III.

Hence, the lack of quality control over information shared within the group increases the challenges of assessing the expertise of others in the group. This has led to concerns about the credibility and reliability of both the information itself and its source, shifting the responsibility for establishing and assessing credibility to the group's administrators and individual members (see also Bawden and Robinson, 2022; Haider and Sundin, 2022; Savolainen, 2022). The study suggests that the increasing visibility, accessibility, and persistence of information within the group has at times posed challenges in terms of assessing information credibility. It has also often led to conflicts among members who adhered to different values and beliefs regarding what should be viewed and valued as credible.

6.1.2.2 The erosion of spatial and temporal boundaries

Although group members seem to predominantly be connecting and engaging with strangers through the online space of the Facebook group, they are potentially linked together, directly or indirectly, through offline geographical location and/or social networks. In particular, the participants associated risks with the potential presence of a second type of "specific audience" (Litt, 2015), consisting of individuals known to the member from their immediate social networks, such as friends, acquaintances, or colleagues. The potential presence of such audiences within the group, without members knowing, created a context for unexpected encounters in both online and offline settings. In particular, the possibility of participants' online information

activities within the group being observed by a specific audience, who could easily identify an individual member in their everyday life, had led to the emergence of "spatial collapse" as another potential tension identified within the study. As discussed in Article IV, the notion of spatial collapse entails the convergence of online and offline spaces, connecting individuals who share an offline location and physical proximity. In essence, spatial collapse refers to the blurring of spatial boundaries between online and offline contexts, stemming from the flattening and presence of multiple audiences from these distinct contexts within a single shared online space.

Overall, given that members' activities and information within the group are highly visible, since members' Facebook profiles are linked to these activities, overall, participants were reluctant to engage in information activities involving the disclosure of private information within the group that might potentially leak to their offline networks. The study indicates that the lack of control over boundaries, audiences, and flow of information shared within the group often leads to what can be described as "privacy turbulences" (Petronio, 2002). Privacy turbulences occurred in various forms, with one occurrence being the sharing of private information that inadvertently reached unexpected specific audiences within the group (e.g., family, friends, or colleagues), leading to concerns about potential loss of privacy. Privacy turbulences were not limited to individual members, but also threatened the collective privacy of the group. Instances where members' private information was leaked to outsiders (e.g., an employer, or employee), who were not allowed access to the group or its information, further exacerbated concerns about the privacy of both the group and individual members. The "permeable boundaries" within the group (Petronio, 2002; Petronio and Child, 2020), coupled with the lack of control over information flow and audience across time and space, have contributed to such recurring privacy turbulences and breaches.

Spatial collapse was particularly prone to occur not only among familiar acquaintances who shared the same physical locale, but also among unknown members who may later become known, or may turn out to be operating within the same social circle or residing within the same local neighbourhood or

community, such as neighbours, acquaintances, colleagues, or parents at the same daycare facility. This brings me to the third type of imagined audience, identified in Article IV and proposed as an extension of Litt's framework, involving future audiences. These were associated with potential future implications of past or current information activities within the group. These future audiences typically consisted of prospective members who may be added to the group later, as well as potential future employers, or the children of participants in the future.

Given that members' information and their activities are connected to their personal profiles and are automatically recorded within the group, they are often easily visible and accessible at any given time unless deliberately deleted or removed from view. The potential presence of future audiences accessing past or current information activities has given rise to a new potential tension, the complex dynamic of "time collapse". The notion of "time collapse" refers to "how context in social media may muddle the time boundary between past and present, which, in turn, can affect how users manage their identity and performance on social media" (Brandtzaeg and Lüders, 2018, p.1). In this study, participants contemplated potential unforeseen repercussions of their past and current information activities, expressing concerns about the possibility of privacy loss due to their activities being visible and accessible to future audiences.

6.2 How is the Facebook group maintained as an environment for information activities, and how does the group navigate the opportunities and challenges presented within it?

Overall, the study highlights that the mothers' Facebook group connects a large number of group members together, including people adhering to different values and belonging to different communities. This creates novel opportunities to engage in various information activities, while at the same time raising many

challenges and concerns (see section 6.1). In this section, I address in detail the second research question posed in the study, based on members' accounts of the ways in which the Facebook group is maintained as an environment for engaging in information activities. I also discuss the ways in which both members and the group navigate the opportunities and challenges that emerge during ongoing engagement in information activities within the group.

The findings indicate that, although group members belong to different communities of practice outside the group (cf. Wenger, 1998), their constant participation within the group has led over time to the formation of the group's own shared information practice, which is primarily maintained online, as discussed in Article III. This shared information practice is achieved through continuous and mutual engagement in the group's activities. That is, the Facebook group itself has evolved into a community of practice. The shared experience of being a foreign mother in Sweden is thus what has brought this particular community together and provides it with coherence and continuity (see Wenger, 1998, Articles III and IV, and Chapter 3). In particular, three interrelated elements have helped me to describe how the shared information practice is nurtured, developed, and sustained by this community over time; namely, a joint enterprise, mutual engagement, and shared repertoires of communal resources (Wenger, 1998). In Article III, I discuss these elements, focusing on how they enable the group to sustain its activities and handle recurring conflicts and disagreements. In the following sections, I try to offer a further theoretical development and elaboration of these elements in relation to tensions, including credibility and privacy (discussed in further details in sections 6.2.4 and 6.2.5 and in Articles II and IV).

6.2.1 Negotiating and adopting shared goals

A joint enterprise is the first building block that was used to maintain a shared information practice within this community (Article III). A joint enterprise (Wenger, 1998) refers to the mutually agreed upon shared consensus and mutual agreement concerning essential and collective goals that this particular

community of practice aspires to accomplish as a group. Drawing insights from the empirical material as a whole, I was able to identify four core, interconnected common goals which are vital to this community.

A primary and core goal of this community, which permeated the creation of the Facebook group, is to serve as an information space connecting mothers who face common challenges while living in a foreign country, enabling them to seek and share information and advice from each other. Related to this goal is the cultivation of an atmosphere characterised by friendliness, respect, and constructive engagement, wherein group members can openly seek and share information and advice, irrespective of their parenting or cultural differences (as evidenced in Article III). A third goal embraced by the community is safeguarding privacy, both within the confines of the group and beyond (Article IV). Lastly, a fourth essential goal for this community is that the information shared in the group should be credible and of good quality (Articles II and III).

This study suggests that mutual engagement (Wenger, 1998) and participation in the group's information activities by members, including the challenges and disruptions they encountered along the way (such as the conflicts and disagreements discussed in Article III, and privacy turbulences in Article IV), has helped to shape and manage the boundaries of the shared everyday life information of the group (see also Petroni, 2002). An examination of the empirical material revealed that active participation, particularly by members who are directly engaged in the group's activities, has played a fundamental role in shaping the shared goals of the group. For instance, in Article III, it is shown that, alongside the initial establishment of the group, the admins formulated a set of rules and norms which serve as a common boundary for all members of the group. These rules and norms also evolved to address recurring conflicts and continue to adapt to emerging group activities. Similarly, Article IV illustrates the introduction of new privacy rules to handle situations in which some group members engaged in privacy-invading activities by sharing members' private information with others outside the group.

Hence, these findings suggest that the shaping process has occurred gradually over time, leading to the establishment of the group's shared

repertoire of resources. The current study thus underscores the dynamic interplay between mutual engagement and negotiation (as depicted by Petronio, 2002; Wenger, 1998), as those actively involved contribute to the shaping of the group's collective goals as valuable resources. Over time, a shared repertoire of resources (e.g., rules, norms, personalised and localised first-hand experiences, etc.), has emerged as an essential element of the community's shared online information practice. Further details about this shared repertoire are discussed in the next section.

Furthermore, aligned with the sociocultural perspective adopted in this study, and building upon earlier research (Lloyd, 2021; Lundh, 2011; Pilerot, 2014b; Talja et al., 2005), the findings also emphasise that participants' engagement in the group's information activities and their understanding of these activities do not occur in isolation. Instead, they are intricately enmeshed with the continuously evolving context of the group and the frequent interactions among group members. This complex interplay underscores how the group's shared repertoires, a collection of tools cultivated within the specific context of the group, shape and guide the participants' understanding and activities within the group.

In the next section, utilising a sociocultural lens of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a), I explore the situated and specific ways in which the group's shared repertories of resources have been adopted, developed, and utilised in practice. The discussion highlights how these resources and tools function to mediate members' information activities, impacting upon individual, interpersonal, and collective levels of engagement.

6.2.2 Maintaining and sustaining shared group repertoires

This study, influenced by a sociocultural perspective of mediated action (Wertsch, 1998a), emphasises the crucial role of various tools, both tangible and intangible, in mediating members' information activities in search of personal and collective goals. The findings indicate that the members have developed and adopted "shared repertoires" within the community (Wenger, 1998),

constituting a repository of tools and communal resources that sustains the community's shared online information practice and mediates members' engagement in its daily information activities over time. This repertoire encompasses rules, norms, information resources related to personalised and localised first-hand experiences, advice, stories, routines, and common ways of carrying out activities and addressing recurring problems and dilemmas. The rules and regulations formulated by the group constitute a prime example of the tools used to maintain the shared information practice among group members. These rules and norms specify implicit and explicit values, regulations, and guidelines that regulate members' engagement in the group's everyday practice and its various information activities (cf. Bicchieri, 2006). Facebook groups offer features for group administrators to establish and communicate such rules and norms, making them visible and accessible for all group members to follow. As discussed in Articles III and IV, the admins use a pinned post to stress the rules and provide a constant reminder to all group members as they seek and share information with each other. These rules not only facilitate sustained engagement in information activities, but also help in resolving conflicts, attaining the group's shared goals, nurturing a common understanding, and regulating interactions among group members extending beyond individual members' goals.

There are two types of rules regulating group activities: out-group and ingroup rules. Out-group rules refer to instructions and guidelines that regulate the boundaries between those inside and outside the group. For example, there are rules regulating the sharing of group information or inviting and accepting new members, as discussed in Article IV. In contrast, in-group rules focus on regulating the interactions and engagements among members within the group. These include rules about the tone of discussion, the types of information shared, and members' mutual responsibilities towards each other and to the group, as discussed in Articles III and IV.

The findings suggest that negotiating, establishing, and understanding such rules is critical in order for group members to manage, navigate, and participate effectively in the group's information activities. By recognising the

significance of these implicit and explicit rules, group members are better able to manage their participation and promote constructive and safe group discussions among members. The findings further show that the rules and norms shaping and regulating engagement in information activities within the context of the group are the result of a continuous and a mutually negotiated process that evolved over time (as discussed in more detail in Articles I, III, and IV). Consistent with previous literature on how rules and norms shape social media use (e.g., Wagner, 2018; Zillich and Müller, 2019), this study emphasises the importance of considering the role of rules and norms and the ways in which they have shaped members' interactions with information and with others in the Facebook group.

The current findings are also consistent with findings by McLaughlin and Vitak (2012) and Uski and Lampinen (2016), that the rules and norms shaping engagement on SNSs are not static but rather evolve over time. This study further extends this argument, which primarily focuses on self-presentation, by showing that rules and norms continue to be individually and collectively negotiated in order to achieve both personal and collective goals within the context of a large online group. In interpreting the findings through a mediated action perspective (Wertsch, 1998a) and an interrelational perspective of affordance (Majchrzak et al., 2013; Treem and Leonardi, 2012), the results underscore the entangled relationship between the goals of group members and the tools (e.g., norms, rules, group features) adopted or developed to mediate members' information activities to achieve specific goals. This relationship was found to be essential in offering possibilities that both enable and constrain engagement in information activities within the group.

Facebook, as a technical platform, has facilitated the realisation of group goals by providing and furnishing the necessary technical tools to create, safeguard, and maintain the online space (i.e., the Facebook group). For example, group members use a variety of Facebook tools, including pinned posts, groups and personal newsfeeds, public and anonymous posts, comments, search, browse, report, delete, private messaging, spin-off subgroups, group settings, and membership control features. These tools are used to facilitate

members' engagement in several everyday information activities such as posting, commenting, monitoring, searching, evaluating, removing, and hiding information. In doing so, members have been able to establish a community within this online space by nurturing connections and interactions among the participant mothers, who share mutual life experiences and concerns. The role of mediators of action (Wertsch, 1998a), such as the group founder and its administrators, also appears to have been central in establishing and managing the group's "shared repertories" (Wenger, 1998). In particular, they have contributed to establishing a sense of community by implementing group-specific values and rules, and managing, controlling, and safeguarding group activities on behalf of its members, as discussed in Articles III and IV.

6.2.3 Mutuality of responsibility

As discussed above while explaining shared repertoires, the group has developed and produced a range of explicit rules and implicit norms that regulate (in)appropriate engagement in information activities and mutual responsibility among its members, as evidenced in Articles I, III, and IV. These rules and norms include mutual norms of reciprocity, mutual respect, and politeness, and mutual protection of group privacy and others.

Firstly, the findings in the first article, for instance, show how implicit norms of reciprocity play an important role in shaping members' information seeking and sharing activities in the group. Norms of reciprocity are used to describe the implicit rules and expectations that group members hold about their own responsibilities, as well as those of other group members. These responsibilities involve contributing to the group by supporting other members and sharing information and information resources that might be useful for the group. The participants expected that other group members would respond to their questions and provide them with relevant and timely advice. They also described a sense of responsibility to reciprocate others' help and support by actively giving back to the group and its members.

Secondly, mutual rules of respect describe the implicit and explicit expectations held by group members about (in)appropriate ways of seeking and sharing information and advice, especially about conflicting or private topics, in order to maintain the group as a constructive, supportive, and safe place for all members. The findings presented in Articles III and IV suggest that the group has adopted, and explicitly enforces, a mutual understanding of responsibility in terms of being supportive, friendly, and respectful of other members' rights to safely seek and share information about topics that might be private or in conflict with one's own.

Mutual responsibility also entails the adoption, enactment, and enforcement of collective rules and norms by the group in order to maintain and sustain its collective information practice (cf. Petronio, 2002; Wenger, 1998). These include employing strategic methods to seek and share information with others; methods that take into consideration the explicit or dominant norms of the group, which are described in detail in Article III. These include: 1) engaging with caution in the discussion of potentially contentious topics; 2) avoiding engaging in ongoing discussions about controversial topics; 3) concealing information about one's own potentially conflicting practices in order not to provoke conflicts; and 4) leaving the group if a member can longer cope with, or follow, the group's rules. Similarly, mutual responsibility also involves collectively working together to maintain the privacy of the group and its members, which is described in detail in Article IV. This responsibility includes employing strategies such as: 1) changing the group's privacy settings; 2) allowing and inviting only members who belong/fit the group identity; 3) reporting and removing members who violate the group's rules and norms; 4) helping members gain access to necessary information and support resources anonymously and privately; 5) verifying prospective members' identities; and 6) not leaking or sharing information from the group with outsiders. These are discussed in Articles III and IV.

In the following sections, I provide a more detailed discussion of how mutual responsibility, guided by individual and collective goals, has shaped the activities of the group and its members, ultimately leading them towards achieving their respective goals. The focus of the discussion is on two primary goals: ensuring and assessing credibility, and managing information privacy within the group.

6.2.4 Assessing and moderating information credibility and conflicts

The study revealed that members have adopted and developed various tools to assess and regulate the credibility of information sought and shared within the group. These tools include implicit and explicit rules and norms about what types of information should, or should not, be sought and shared within the group.

An interesting observation from the study is that most of the participants considered the Facebook group an inappropriate place to seek or share information and advice on topics that require professional knowledge and expertise. The study shows that the participants made their credibility assessment of information and information sources in relation to two main domains of knowledge: knowledge gained through a professional capacity, education, or training; and knowledge gained through first-hand experience in a personal capacity (as detailed in Article II). The study participants explained that they relied on what they considered to be formal and established cognitive authorities, often consulted outside of the group, to mediate information and knowledge for them, and to assess the credibility of knowledge claims on topics requiring professional knowledge and expertise. For example, Articles II and III discuss findings showing that cognitive authorities (Wilson, 1983), such as those with formal and professional bodies of knowledge (e.g., official and scientific information sources), were particularly highly valued by most participants as trusted information sources on topics such as health, medication, vaccination, and well-being. These findings are consistent with previous work focusing on formal workplace and educational contexts that value professional knowledge and expertise (Andersson, 2021; Francke and Sundin, 2012; Francke et al., 2011; Gärdén et al., 2014; Lloyd, 2012, 2014; Lundh, 2011; Pilerot, 2014a).

The study also highlights the crucial role played by "ongoing engagement" (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998) in the group's information activities in shaping members' assessments of information credibility over time. The findings reported in Articles I, II, and III demonstrate that continued engagement in the group's daily activities, which is facilitated through the high visibility of members' activities in the group (e.g., Newsfeed, Wall), enabled the participants to stay continuously updated with group activities, and familiarise themselves with the group, and with each other. Through this process, they gained group-specific "situated knowledge" (Lave and Wenger, 1991) and expertise that assisted them in evaluating the credibility of both information and other group members, as discussed in Articles I, II, and III. This ongoing engagement shows that participants monitored the group and gathered situated knowledge and cues about other, unknown, members, such as their language use, writing style, expertise, life experience, lifestyles, parenting values, and worldviews (as evidenced in Articles II and III). Consistent with the notion of "intrinsic plausibility" (Wilson, 1983) and with previous research (Metzger et al., 2010; Savolainen, 2021), this study highlights that participants often tended to selectively choose and trust only information shared by members with similar values and worldviews. Article II demonstrates that members relied on these cues as tools when considering what could be considered "intrinsically plausible" (Wilson, 1983) when assessing the credibility of information and others in the group. Information shared by other members which aligned with the participants' own values and beliefs were considered the most reliable sources of information and advice within the group, and were thus assessed to be highly credible. Information that did not align with someone's own values or belief was considered the least worthy, and hence not credible (Article II and III).

Another interesting finding of the study is that the participants did not only engage in activities to assess the credibility of information sought and used within the group, but also extended their activities to assess the credibility shared by themselves or others. This is because group members were cautious about the potential adverse risks and repercussions related to disseminating

information that could be misinterpreted or considered misleading within the group. For instance, in Article III, the findings highlight instances of doctors and nurses who avoided sharing information or responding to members seeking medical advice or opinions within the group. It is also exemplified in this article in several instances where participants described how they or other members had confronted those who were providing misleading information about vaccinations in the group.

Furthermore, the group administrators play a critical role in maintaining information quality and credibility within the group (Article III). The administrators are directly involved in proactive activities to ensure that information is credible and trustworthy. These activities include closely monitoring and reviewing the group discussions revolving around topics such as health, vaccinations, and medications. The administrators also have the authority to employ measures such as removing posts and links potentially containing inaccurate information, issuing warnings, and in certain instances removing members who persistently post inaccurate information to the group. Such activities highlight the critical gatekeeping role that Facebook group administrators play in monitoring, deciding, removing, and filtering the types of information that are or are not allowed to be posted to the group.

The findings here therefore offer important insights to aid our understanding of information credibility assessments, as members also incorporate their assessments of the quality and credibility of information into their information sharing, monitoring, and moderating activities within the group. While the relationship between information sharing and credibility assessments has received some attention within traditional professional and work contexts within LIS (Pilerot, 2014a, Talja, 2002, Sundin, 2011, Butler et al., 2008), I believe that this area warrants further exploration within everyday life contexts.

6.2.5 Maintaining and safeguarding privacy within the group

Similarly to managing conflicts and assessing credibility, group members also engage in various information activities with the goal of maintaining and safeguarding privacy within the group. The study demonstrates that group members employ both tangible and intangible tools to regulate and manage the visibility and accessibility of information and the group. For instance, tangible tools include adjusting the group's privacy settings as well as setting up explicit rules and regulations to co-manage and regulate its exterior boundaries between members and outsiders (Article IV; see also Petronio, 2002). These tools serve a dual purpose for the group: safeguarding privacy and maintaining the group's shared goals and identity.

The findings presented in Articles I, II, and IV reveal that creating a safe and exclusive space for foreign mothers to seek and share information and advice is a primary goal of the group. The out-group rules play a vital role in achieving this goal by setting and establishing a set of criteria that help members to identify and filter who should have access or join the group. The study shows that these rules help in achieving the group's goals by screening out individuals who do not align with the group's shared goals, i.e., do not share the group's common interest and concerns about navigating everyday life as a foreign mother situated in Sweden. Drawing upon the concepts of imagined audience and context collapse (Litt, 2015; Marwick and boyd, 2011), the study suggests that employing these tools enables members to manage and filter out various outsider audiences who may not align, or may even conflict, with the group's shared goals, concerns, and challenges. Some examples of outsider audiences include, among many others: childless foreign women, fathers, Swedish mothers, childcare workers, family and friends, employers, the authorities, spammers, and trolls. In this respect, interpreted through the lenses of a community of practice and communication privacy management (Petronio, 2002; Wenger, 1998), the emphasis on establishing and maintaining a shared group identity is key to maintaining mutual feelings of responsibility and

accountability, developing common goals, and achieving consensus despite potential differences.

Alongside maintaining the group's shared goals, members also use a variety of the tools offered by Facebook to maintain group privacy goals. These tools include group privacy settings and controls (e.g., secret group), an invitation-only feature, a list of prompt questions that prospective members must answer before they are accepted, and documentation for the group (e.g., group description, pinned post) outlining the group's goals, values, rules, and regulations. By using these tools, members are able to make privacy-related rules easily visible and accessible (e.g., through a pinned post) to everyone in the group, while at the same time keeping them invisible and inaccessible to outsiders. Hence, from a mediated action perspective (Wertsch, 1998a), privacy rules and controls can be seen as essential tools in mediating group activities because they enable members to jointly safeguard the group and its boundaries. For instance, both Articles III and IV show that such settings allowed the group to become closed to new members (in 2014), and then secret and private (from 2017 onwards), and therefore hidden, invisible, and inaccessible to nonmembers (as outlined above in Section 6.1.1.4).

Managing and safeguarding privacy using Facebook's privacy and control features is critical for groups where there is sensitive and private information being shared, or if members want to maintain a high level of privacy when seeking and sharing information. This issue has been identified in previous research, demonstrating that various groups employ Facebook's features to create safe spaces for members to discuss private issues, while limiting access to outsiders who do not share the common interests and concerns of the group. There have been several examples of different group contexts discussed in previous research where privacy is of significant importance, including groups for people with chronic or invisible diseases (Sannon et al., 2019), grieving parents (Christensen et al., 2017; Hård af Segerstad and Kasperowski, 2015), LGBT parents (Blackwell et al., 2016), stay-at-home fathers (Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2016), parents of children with special needs (Ammari and Schoenebeck, 2015), and immigrants (Mudliar and Raval, 2018).

To summarise, this study highlights that the mothers' Facebook group connects a large number of members, each potentially adhering to different values and belonging to different communities of practice outside of the group. This connectivity through the group has created novel opportunities for engagement in information activities, while simultaneously raising several challenges and concerns, as highlighted in section 6.1. In navigating the opportunities and challenges encountered during engagement in information activities within the group, the study's findings show that a practice has emerged through the group's activities within the Facebook group, which is primarily maintained online. This was achieved through negotiation and the adoption of shared goals and repertoires of resources, enabling both members and the group as a whole to navigate the opportunities and challenges entailed in engagement in information activities within the group.

7. Conclusions

This chapter provides a concluding summary of the main insights and contributions of this research. It also presents some platform design recommendations, discusses the limitations of the research design, and concludes with suggestions for future research directions.

Over the past decade, the use of private Facebook groups as information sources has increased significantly within various spheres of everyday life (see Auxier and Anderson, 2021; Duggan et al., 2015; Lupton et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2021). This trend emphasises the importance for scholars, developers, and information and User Experience (UX) professionals to gain more knowledge and develop a better understanding of why and how people engage in information activities within these groups, and the potential opportunities and risks of such engagement. This also emphasises the need to understand how people's engagement in information activities within Facebook groups is maintained and sustained over time. This understanding is essential if we are to comprehend, conceptualise, and address the challenges faced by various communities that rely upon and use such online groups when seeking and sharing appropriate information and support resources to help solve a variety of problems. This study thus set the goal of contributing with an in-depth understanding of engagement in an everyday life information practice within the context of a private Facebook group.

7.1 Research contributions

This study makes theoretical, methodological, and practical contributions. From a practical standpoint, the study offers insights from an LIS perspective into the ongoing conversations about the potential benefits and risks of using social media for information purposes and communication (see Bayer et al., 2020; Faraj and Azad, 2012; Karanasios et al., 2021; Leonardi, 2015; Lomborg, 2017; Treem

and Leonardi, 2012). It highlights the nuanced ways in which people interact with both information and other people within a specific context. It is particularly useful to draw upon concepts such as cognitive authority (Savolainen, 2007; Wilson, 1985,) to aid us in understanding how, why, and when SNSs are valued, or not, as information sources within particular situations and domains. Also, by drawing upon the rich sociocultural and practical research traditions of LIS and employing a qualitative research methodology – specifically, in-depth interviews – the study provides nuanced and contextually relevant insights into participants' engagement or non-engagement in information activities within the mothers' Facebook group. Methodologically, this approach sheds light upon often-overlooked, hidden, or secretive information activities and communities on SNSs, which are challenging to observe or access (see also Christensen et al., 2017; Ellison et al., 2018; Lijadi and van Schalkwyk, 2015; Yeshua-Katz and Hård af Segerstad, 2020).

By adopting a relational perspective on affordances (Treem and Leonardi, 2012), the findings demonstrate that the mothers' Facebook group presents opportunities and challenges that both enabled and constrained the participants' engagement in information activities. The study thus builds upon and extends this line of theorising by contributing in-depth and contextual insights into how six key, interrelated affordances are leveraged within this specific sociocultural context: visibility, accessibility, persistence, associations, invisibility, and inaccessibility. The way in which the study combines this relational view of affordances with the mediated action perspective provides insights into the mutual relationship between participants' goals and the features available within Facebook groups, which offer various possibilities and constraints for engagement in information activities. This understanding contributes to the growing scholarship on social media that seeks to move beyond a sole focus on the user or platform features (see Bucher and Helmond, 2018; Treem and Leonardi, 2012).

Drawing upon these affordances, the study advances current theorising of information activities by proposing two additional modes of engagement in

information activities with the Facebook group context: visible and invisible modes. These two modes allow group members to actively engage in group activities, either visibly or invisibly, thereby facilitating access to the group's information resources and activities, whether or not they have specific information interests. This complements existing models of information seeking, which include active, passive, direct, and indirect modes (see Bates, 2002; McKenzie, 2003a; Savolainen, 1995), and extends our understanding of the affordances of Facebook groups for engagement in information activities. Previous research on SNSs has predominantly focused on more visible and active modes of engagement in activities, such as direct and active information seeking or sharing on these sites (see Ellison et al., 2018). The study also extends current scholarship on affordances in two ways. Firstly, it identifies and proposes three additional affordances (accessibility, invisibility, inaccessibility), which emerged as crucial in shaping members' information activities within this Facebook group. Scholars studying Facebook groups can look for occurrences of these affordances in order to understand the role they may play in shaping people's information activities within the context of other Facebook groups. Secondly, by integrating and incorporating the concept of affordances into a broader theoretical framework, which considers the role of situated learning over time and the broader community in mediating possibilities for action (Lave and Wenger, 1991; Wenger, 1998; Wertsch, 1998a), this study expands the analytical field on affordances. Previous scholarship on affordances has often focused on the "dyadic" relationship between an individual user and a tool within a specific, focal, or immediate context of interaction (see also Kaptelinin and Nardi, 2012; Mansour et al., 2013).

Incorporating the notions of situated learning and community of practice into the study's theoretical framework has shifted the focus towards the social and learning processes and shared repertoires produced by the community that shape engagement in collective information activities within groups, transcending the abilities or activities of any individual members. These concepts help to draw attention to the community and its role in shaping and making sense of information activities in the context of this specific community

of practice. The study thus contributes with insights into how members engage, both individually and collectively, in establishing, negotiating, participating, and sustaining the specific shared information activities and practice within the mothers' group. By integrating communication privacy management theory into the overarching theoretical framework, this thesis contributes to both LIS and social media scholarship. It does so by shedding light on the complex and collective decisions and processes around information disclosure that shape what, when, how, where, and with whom people disclose private information via the group. The findings demonstrate how group members individually, interpersonally, and collectively manage their private information within the situated and everyday context of the group.

Insights from the study also contribute to the literature and theorising on privacy management by highlighting how it becomes even more challenging within the context of large online groups, where people communicate and share privacy boundaries with a large, evolving audience, consisting of both known and unknown individuals. The study suggests that privacy management becomes further complicated because members of the group share a "collective privacy boundary" (Petronio, 2002), requiring them to navigate and negotiate privacy boundaries that span contextual, temporal, and spatial boundaries. This understanding thus extends our knowledge of privacy management within large, networked groups, an aspect that has often been overlooked in LIS and prior social media research, which has typically adopted individualistic approaches to investigating privacy management on social media in relation to close social contacts (see Bazarova and Masur, 2020; Fei Wu et al., 2020).

By incorporating the concepts of context collapse and imagined audience into the theoretical framework, this study also contributes to LIS by offering a contemporary understanding of the intricacies involved in engaging in information activities within an SNS context. These concepts draw attention to the interplay between distinct times, contexts, communities of practice, and audiences in shaping members' information activities. This extended theorisation of context collapse, including the time dimension, is particularly relevant when explaining the dynamics of the group and members' engagement

in information activities over time. It helps us to move beyond lines of theorising which assume that social actors maintain separate identities and distinct communities, highlighting the nuanced interactions between overlapping contexts (cf. Davis and Jurgenson, 2014, p.478). The study extends this line of theorising by proposing spatial collapse as an extension of context and time collapse. Spatial collapse refers to the convergence of online and offline spaces among SNS users who are potentially unknown to each other but who share an offline or physical location. Spatial collapse addresses the spatial dimension and the tension resulting from the blurring of spatial boundaries between online and offline contexts, which stems from the presence of multiple audiences within a single shared online space (see also Article IV).

Furthermore, the study expands the "imagined audience" framework developed by Litt (2015) by introducing the concept of "future audiences" (see Article IV). Within the context of the mothers' group, these future audiences include prospective members, future employers, or the children of the participants in the future. This addition to the theoretical framework helps us to understand how an awareness of the potential of future audiences risks shaping participants' information activities within the group. These concepts are thus an important addition to the theoretical framework because they add a contemporary understanding to help us further unpack the complexities entailed in comprehending and engaging in information activities through social media. These concepts help to extend our understanding of how people understand and navigate contemporary forms of overlapping contexts for information activities that extend beyond fixed geographical, or spatial, boundaries.

Against this backdrop, incorporating these concepts (i.e., affordances, cognitive authority, situated learning, community of practice, communication privacy management, and context and time collapse) within a broader sociocultural framework emphasises the interrelationship between people and the diverse types of tools they adopt and develop in order to mediate their information activities within a specific context. This sociocultural approach has the potential to enrich scholarship on social media, viewed as a complex social

and technical phenomenon, by means of its versatility in incorporating concepts from various theoretical traditions that focus on the individual, interpersonal, and collective processes shaping engagement in information activities within SNSs (see also Karanasios et al., 2021). A sociocultural perspective is particularly valuable for situating people's information activities on SNSs within specific SNS contexts, thereby advancing social media and LIS scholarship.

7.2 Design implications

Based on the findings of this study, and considering the current design of Facebook groups, there are some limitations in relation to maintaining the quality and credibility of information, and in maintaining members' privacy within these groups. While design suggestions addressing privacy concerns are presented in Article IV, this study has also identified the need to develop tools enabling users to address concerns around the quality and credibility of information shared within Facebook groups.

Social media sites in general, including Facebook groups, lack established quality control and regulations, and these are also challenging to establish due to the rapidly changing nature of social media (Bawden and Robinson, 2022; Francke and Sundin, 2012; Kim et al., 2021; Metzger et al., 2010; Savolainen, 2022). Despite Facebook's efforts to put automated and universal measures in place to regulate content and information quality (e.g., community standards, automated tools, human moderators, and contracted fact-checkers), harmful and inaccurate information continues to be disseminated within Facebook groups (for more details, see Smith and Graham, 2019). This highlights the limitations of the current design and features of Facebook groups for maintaining the quality and credibility of information and content within these groups. This could potentially result in harmful or misleading information going undetected, especially in hard-to-reach and hard-to-access private Facebook groups. For instance, the study notes the limited tools offered for the users of Facebook groups to assess and maintain the quality and credibility of

information within these groups. In particular, in terms of information credibility and quality control, there is a need to complement the automated measures already in place with more contextual and user-centred quality and credibility controls.

One potential design solution is to provide Facebook users with tools to increase the awareness, labelling, and detection of potentially harmful or inaccurate information and content. For instance, the recently introduced "community notes" feature on X (formerly Twitter) (see About Community Notes on X, n.d.; Malik, 2022) in late 2022, which allows users to add context to posts using various types of content (e.g., text, images, links), could also be useful for the users of Facebook groups to enable the addition of context or official information and sources to posts containing potentially incorrect or misleading information. Collaborative and tailored fact-checking tools, specifically tailored to a group's specific topics and needs, could further help in verifying and assessing information within Facebook groups. This might involve providing users with tools to create sub-communities within their groups of content and information moderators with verifiable credentials, similar to the approach used on Wikipedia (see Keegan and Fiesler, 2017; Viégas et al., 2007). In this way, incorporating tools within Facebook groups that enable users to verify information accuracy, and to label, report, or remove potentially misleading information could be an effective solution. Nevertheless, implementing these design solutions may pose challenges, particularly in ensuring that the members providing the assessments possess sufficient knowledge to support the validity and credibility of their assessments.

Overall, this study suggests that Facebook groups, and potentially other online groups, could benefit from a range of user-friendly and group-centred tools and features, as well as social solutions, instead of relying solely on platform automation. Such tools and social efforts should be aimed at ensuring that information shared within these groups is safe, accurate, and useful.

7.3 Research limitations

This study has a few limitations that should be considered when interpreting its findings. The research involved interviewing 20 members of a private Facebook group for foreign mothers in Sweden. Data construction for the thesis project occurred in two phases between 2014 and 2017. Consequently, changes and developments in Facebook groups and members' activities after 2017 were not addressed during the interviews. However, it is important to note that more recent changes in Facebook groups are considered in later analyses conducted for this study (e.g., Article IV, Chapter 6). It is crucial to interpret the study's findings cautiously, as they may not accurately represent different types of Facebook groups, other group members, or other user demographics with diverse educational levels or non-native English speakers. The study provides a better understanding of some members' engagement with the group's information practice and how these can be interpreted theoretically. Based on this, theoretical contributions can also be made. Taking these limitations into account, and considering the study's findings, in the following section, I provide further suggestions for future research directions.

7.4 Future research

This thesis has identified some relevant topics for future research. It has provided deeper insights into the central role played by group administrators and moderators in managing, maintaining, and controlling information activities within this mothers' Facebook group. The study provides valuable insights by suggesting that this voluntary work, involving moderating, managing, and gatekeeping of information activities, can be considered a novel type of information practice emerging within the context of the group. The findings demonstrate the essential role of this type of voluntary work in regulating information activities within the context of the Facebook group under study (as evidenced in Articles III and IV).

To the best of my knowledge, information practices related to voluntary work have received only limited attention in previous studies focusing on social media in the field of Library and Information Science, with only a few exceptions, such as Sundin's (2011) research on the voluntary work of Wikipedia editors. Furthermore, although emerging information practices related to online professional moderation have gained more attention in recent years, especially concerning issues related to misinformation in politics, journalism, and health contexts (e.g., as observed in Juneström, 2022), the voluntary moderation of information activities by administrators in online groups focusing on everyday life requires further exploration.

Moreover, future research should consider recruiting diverse samples and employing a variety of methods to compare the research results in relation to Facebook group use in different contexts. Further research is needed to understand the consequences of engagement in information activities taking place within different types of Facebook groups. Future research could use insights from this study to consider similar and different sociocultural dynamics across different types of Facebook groups (e.g., public vs. private/closed groups, local vs. global, small vs. large) and how they may influence the types of information activities that take place, as well as members' engagement in those activities. For instance, the research findings contribute with insights into how group-specific rules and norms play a crucial role in shaping members' information activities. Future research could explore what kinds of rules and norms are adopted by similar or different types of Facebook groups, and how they influence the information activities taking place within these groups.

The results of this thesis also contribute with insights into the role of mutual responsibility and goals in shaping group members' information activities. As it becomes more common for such activities to take place through Facebook groups in daily life, it is important to consider the ethical implications of engaging in them. Future research could explore issues such as the ways in which users of SNSs in general, and Facebook groups in particular, consider their own and others' responsibilities towards being respectful to others and towards maintaining information privacy, quality, and credibility within these

groups. The thesis also provides insights into the everyday life information practice of the mothers' group during the specific periods when the empirical material for the research project was collected, between the autumn of 2014 and the spring 2015, and during the autumn of 2017. Future research could further extend the study's findings by examining later types of sociotechnical transformations shaping people's engagement in information activities within Facebook groups.

In summary, this study has highlighted the importance of continued exploration of engagement in information activities within specific SNS contexts and at different points in time. The study highlights the need to view engagement in information activities within SNSs as an ongoing process of negotiation, learning, and knowing, rather than a one-time event.

References

- About Community Notes on X (n.d.). X. https://help.twitter.com/en/using-x/community-notes Accessed: Decmeber 9, 2023.
- Aichner, G., & Maurer, J. (2021). Twenty-five years of social media: a review of social media applications and definitions from 1994 to 2019. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 24(4), 215–222. http://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2020.0134
- Albrechtsen, H., Andersen, H., Bødker, S., & Pejtersen, A. (2001). *Affordances in Activity Theory and Cognitive Systems Engineering (Report)*. Risø National Laboratory. http://www.risoe.dk/rispubl/SYS/syspdf/ris-r-1287.pdf
- Altman, I. (1975). The Environment and Social Behavior: Privacy, Personal Space, Territory, and Crowding. Brooks: Cole Publishing.
- Altman, I. (1976). A conceptual analysis. *Environment and Behavior*, 8(1), 7–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/001391657600800102
- Ammari, T., & Schoenebeck, S. (2015). Networked empowerment on Facebook groups for parents of children with special needs. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 2805–2814). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2702123.2702324
- Ammari, T., & Schoenebeck, S. (2016). "Thanks for your interest in our Facebook group, but it's only for dads": Social roles of stay-at-home dads. In *Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing* (pp. 1363–1375). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2818048.2819927
- Ammari, T., Schoenebeck, S., & Romero, D. (2019). Self-declared throwaway accounts on Reddit: How platform affordances and shared norms enable parenting disclosure and support. *PACM Human-Computer Interaction*. 3(CSCW), Article 135. ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359237
- Andersson, C. (2021). Performing search (PhD dissertation, Lund University).
- Arnseth, H. C. (2008). Activity theory and situated learning theory: Contrasting views of educational practice. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 16*(3), 289–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681360802346663
- Auxier, B., & Anderson, M. (2021). *Social media use in 2021* (Report). Pew Research Center.

- https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2021/04/07/social-media-use-in-2021/
- Bamberg, M. (2012). Narrative analysis. In Cooper, H. (Ed.) *APA Handbook of Research Methods in Psychology* (pp. 77–94). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association Press.
- Bates, M. (2002). Toward an integrated model of information seeking and searching. (Keynote Address, Fourth international Conference on Information Needs, Seeking and Use in Different Contexts, Lisbon, Portugal, September 11, 2002.) *New Review of Information Behaviour Research*, 3, 1–15.
- Bawden, D., & Robinson, L. (2022). *Introduction to Information Science* (2nd edition). London: Facet Publishing.
- Bayer, J. B., Triệu, P., & Ellison, N. (2020). Social media elements, ecologies, and effects. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 71(1), 471–497.
- Baym, N., & boyd, d. (2012). Socially mediated publicness: An introduction. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 56(3), 320–329. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2012.705200
- Bazarova, N., & Masur, P. (2020). Towards an integration of individualistic, networked, and institutional approaches to online disclosure and privacy in a networked ecology. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *36*, 118–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.05.004
- Beam, M., Child, J., Hutchens, M., & Hmielowski, J. (2018). Context collapse and privacy management: Diversity in Facebook friends increases online news reading and sharing. *New Media & Society*, 20(7), 2296–2314. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817714790
- Bicchieri, C. (2006). *The Grammer of Society: The Nature and Dynamics of Social Norms*. New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Blackwell, L., Hardy, J., Ammari, T., Veinot, T., Lampe, C., & Schoenebeck, S. (2016). LGBT parents and social media: Advocacy, privacy, and disclosure during shifting social movements. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 610–622). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858342
- Boeije, H. (2002) A purposeful approach to the constant comparative method in the analysis of qualitative interviews. *Quality & Quantity*, *36*, 391–409.

- Boellstorff, T., Nardi, B., Pearce, C., & Taylor, T. (2012). *Ethnography and Virtual Worlds: A Handbook of Method*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.cttq9s20
- boyd, d. (2008). *Taken out of context: American teen sociality in networked publics* (PhD Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley).
- boyd, d. (2010). Social network sites as networked publics: Affordances, dynamics, and implications. In Papacharissi, Z. (Ed.) *A Networked Self* (pp. 39-58). New York, NY: Routledge.
- boyd, d. (2015). Social media: A phenomenon to be analyzed. *Social Media* + *Society*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305115580148
- boyd, d., & Crawford, K. (2012). Critical questions for big data: Provocations for a cultural, technological, and scholarly phenomenon. *Information, Communication & Society, 15*(5), 662–679. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2012.678878
- boyd, d., & Ellison, N. (2008). Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 13(1), 210–230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x
- Bazarova, N., & Masur, P. (2020). Towards an integration of individualistic, networked, and institutional approaches to online disclosure and privacy in a networked ecology. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *36*, 118–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.05.004
- Brandtzaeg, P., & Lüders, M. (2018). Time collapse in social media: Extending the context collapse. *Social Media* + *Society*, 4(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305118763349
- Brann, M., Bute, J., Keeley, M., Petronio, S., Pines, R., & Watson, B. (2021). Interpersonal health communication theories. In Thompson T. & Schulz P. (Eds.), *Health Communication Theory* (pp. 68–88). London: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Britton, L., Barkhuus, L., & Semaan, B. (2019). "Mothers as candy wrappers": Critical infrastructure supporting the transition into motherhood. In *PACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, Article 232, 20 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3361113
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). *Business Research Methods*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Bucher, T. (2021). Facebook. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.

- Bucher, T., & Helmond, A. (2018). The affordances of social media platforms. In Burgess J., Marwick A., & Poell T. (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media* (pp. 233–253). London: Sage.
- Burke, M., Kraut, R., & Marlow, C. (2011). Social capital on Facebook: Differentiating uses and users. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 571–580). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/1978942.1979023
- Case, D., & Given, L. (2016). Looking for Information: A Survey of Research on Information Seeking, Needs, and Behavior. Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing.
- Chen, S. (2018). What's in a name: Facebook's real name policy and user privacy. *Kansas Journal of Law & Public Policy*, 28(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3332188
- Christensen, D., Hård Af Segerstad, Y., Kasperowski, D. & Sandvik, K. (2017). Bereaved parents' online grief communities: De-tabooing practices or relation-building grief-ghettos? *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 61(1), 58–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2016.1273929
- Clemmensen, T., Kaptelinin, V., & Nardi, B. (2016). Making HCI theory work: An analysis of the use of activity theory in HCI research. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 35(8), 608–627. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2016.1175507
- Couldry, N., & van Dijck, J. (2015). Researching social media as if the social mattered. *Social Media + Society*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305115604174
- Cox, A. (2012). An exploration of the practice approach and its place in information science. *Journal of Information Science*, 38(2), 176–188. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551511435881
- Davis, J. (2019). Making groups privacy settings easier to understand. Meta Inc. available at https://about.fb.com/news/2019/08/groups-privacy-settings/#:~:text=By%20separating%20the%20privacy%20settings,who%20can%20find%20the%20group. Accessed: October 9, 2023.
- Davis, J., & Jurgenson, N. (2014). Context collapse: Theorizing context collusions and collisions. *Information, Communication & Society, 17*(4), 476–485. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2014.888458

- Dervin, B., & Nilan, M. (1986). Information needs and uses. In Williams, M. (Ed.) Annual Review of Information Science and Technology Vol. 21 (pp. 3–33). White Plains, NY: Knowledge Industry.
- Dourish, P., & Anderson, K. (2006). Collective information practice: Exploring privacy and security as social and cultural phenomena. *Human–Computer Interaction*, 21(3), 319–342. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327051hci2103_2
- Duggan, M., Lenhart, A., Lampe, C., & Ellison, N. (2015). *Parents and Social Media* (*Report*). Pew Research Center. http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/07/16/parents-and-social-media/
- Dwyer, S., & Buckle, J. (2009). The space between: On being an insider-outsider in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(1), 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800105
- Elish, M., & boyd, d. (2018). Situating methods in the magic of Big Data and AI. *Communication Monographs*, 85(1), 57–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637751.2017.1375130
- Ellison, N., & boyd, d. (2013). Sociality through social network sites. In Dutton, W. (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Internet Studies* (online edn). Oxford Academic. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199589074.013.0008
- Ellison, N., French, M., Litt, E., Sundar, S., & Trieu, P. (2018). Without a trace: How studying invisible interactions can help us understand social media. In *Proceedings of the ACM: Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing* (pp. 129–132). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3272973.3274544
- Ellison, N., Gibbs, J., & Weber, M. (2015). The use of enterprise social network sites for knowledge sharing in distributed organizations: The role of organizational affordances. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 59(1), 103–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764214540510
- Ellison, N., Gray, R., Lampe, C., & Fiore, A. (2014a). Social capital and resource requests on Facebook. *New Media & Society*, 16(7), 1104–1121. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814543998
- Ellison, N., Pyle, C., & Vitak, J. (2022). Scholarship on well-being and social media: A sociotechnical perspective. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2022.101340
- Ellison, N., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2011a). Connection strategies: Social capital implications of Facebook-enabled communication practices. *New*

- *Media & Society,* 13(3), 873–892. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444810385389
- Ellison, N., & Vitak, J. (2015). Social network site affordances and their relationship to social capital processes. In Sunadr, S. (Ed.), *The Handbook of the Psychology of Communication Technology* (pp. 205–227). Boston: Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118426456.ch9
- Ellison, N., Vitak, J., Gray, R., & Lampe, C. (2014b). Cultivating social resources on social network sites: Facebook relationship maintenance behaviors and their role in social capital processes. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19(4), 855–870. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12078
- Ellison, N., Vitak, J., Steinfield, C., Gray, R., & Lampe, C. (2011b). Negotiating privacy concerns and social capital needs in a social media environment. In Trepte, S. & Reinecke, L. (Eds.), *Privacy Online*. Springer, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-21521-6_3
- Eriksson-Backa, K., Enwald, H., Hirvonen, N., & Huvila, I. (2018). Health information seeking, beliefs about abilities, and health behaviour among Finnish seniors. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 50(3), 284–295.
- Esin, C., Fathi, M., & Squire, C. (2014). Narrative analysis: The constructionist approach. In Flick, U (Ed.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis* (pp. 203–216). London: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446282243
- Evans, S., Pearce, K., Vitak, J., & Treem, J. (2017). Explicating affordances: A conceptual framework for understanding affordances in communication research. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 22(1), 35–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12180
- Faraj, S., & Azad, B. (2012). The materiality of technology: An affordance perspective. In Leonardi, P., Nardi, B. & Kallinikos, J (Eds.), *Materiality and Organizing: Social Interaction in a Technological World* (online edn). Oxford: Oxford Academic, https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199664054.003.0012
- Farrokhi, F., & Mahmoudi-Hamidabad, A. (2012). Rethinking convenience sampling: Defining quality criteria. *Theory & Practice in Language Studies*, 2(4), 784–792.
- Fiesler, C., Dye, M., Feuston, J., Hiruncharoenvate, C., Hutto, C., Morrison, S., Khanipour Roshan, P., Pavalanathan, U., Bruckman, A., De Choudhury,

- M., & Gilbert, E. (2017). What (or who) is public? Privacy settings and social media content sharing. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing* (pp. 567–580). Association for Computing Machinery.
- https://doi.org/10.1145/2998181.2998223
- Forsgren, E., & Byström, K. (2018). Multiple social media in the workplace: Contradictions and congruencies. *Information Systems Journal*, 28(3), 442–464. https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12156
- Fox, J., & Mcewan, B. (2020). Social media. In Oliver, M., Raney, A., & Bryant, J. (Eds.), *Media Effects: Advances in Theory and Research* (pp. 373–388). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Francke, H., & Sundin, O. (2012). Negotiating the role of sources: Educators' conceptions of credibility in participatory media. *Library & Information Science Research*, 34(3), 169–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2011.12.004
- Francke, H., Sundin, O., & Limberg, L. (2011). Debating credibility: The shaping of information literacies in upper secondary school. *Journal of Documentation*, 67(4), 675–694. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411111145043
- Francke, H., & Hammarfelt, B. (2022). Competitive exposure and existential recognition: Visibility and legitimacy on academic social networking sites. *Research Evaluation*, 31(4), 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvab043
- Gherardi, S. (2000). Practice-based theorizing on learning and knowing in organizations. *Organization*, 7(2), 211–223.
- Gibson, J. (1979). *The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Gibson, L., & Hanson, V. (2013). Digital motherhood: How does technology help new mothers? In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 313–322). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2470654.2470700
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research. Chicago, IL: Aldine.
- Gramlich, J. (2021). 10 Facts about Americans and Facebook (Report). Pew Research Center.

- https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2021/06/01/facts-about-americans-and-facebook/
- Haider, J., & Sundin, O. (2019). *Invisible Search and Online Search Engines: The Ubiquity of Search in Everyday Life.* New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Haider, J., & Sundin, O. (2022). *Paradoxes of Media and Information Literacy: The Crisis of Information*. New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Hammersley, M., & Atkinson, P. (2007). *Ethnography: Principles in Practice*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hanell, F. (2017). Teacher trainees' information sharing activities and identity positioning on Facebook. *Journal of Documentation*, 73(2), 244–262, https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-06-2016-0085
- Hanell, F.(2019). *Lärarstudenters digitala studievardag: informationslitteracitet vid en förskollärarutbildning* (PhD Dissertation, Lund University).
- Hertzum, M., & Hyldegård, J. (2019). Information seeking abroad: An everyday-life study of international students. *Journal of Documentation*, 75(6), 1298–1316. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-11-2018-0183
- Hicks, A. (2018). *The Theory of Mitigating Risk: Information Literacy and Language-Learning in Transition* (PhD Dissertation, University of Borås).
- Hilligoss, B., & Rieh, S. (2008). Developing a unifying framework of credibility assessment: Construct, heuristics, and interaction in context. *Information Processing & Management*, 44(4), 1467–1484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2007.10.001
- Hillman, T., & Säljö, R. (2016). Learning, knowing and opportunities for participation: Technologies and communicative practices. *Learning, Media and Technology, 41*(2), 306–309. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2016.1167080
- Hine, C. (2015). Ethnography for the Internet: Embedded, Embodied and Everyday. New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Hirvonen, N. (2022). Nameless strangers, similar others: The affordances of a young people's anonymous online forum for health information practices. *Journal of Documentation*, 78(7), 506–527. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-09-2021-0192
- Hirvonen, N., Jylhä, V., Lao, Y., & Larsson, S. (2023). Artificial intelligence in the information ecosystem: Affordances for everyday information seeking. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*. Advance online publication. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24860

- Hirvonen, N., Tirroniemi, A., & Kortelainen, T. (2019). The cognitive authority of user-generated health information in an online forum for girls and young women. *Journal of Documentation*, 75(1), 78–98. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-05-2018-0083
- Hogan, B. (2013). Pseudonyms and the rise of the real-name web. In Hartley, J., Burgess, J. & Bruns, A. (Eds.), *A Companion to New Media Dynamics* (pp. 290-307). Chichester, England: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Hogan, B., & Quan-Haase, A. (2010). Persistence and change in social media. *Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society, 30*(5), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0270467610380012
- Hutchby, I. (2001). Technologies, texts and affordances. *Sociology*, *35*(2), 441–456. http://www.jstor.org/stable/42856294
- Hård Af Segerstad, Y., & Kasperowski, D., (2015). A community for grieving: Affordances of social media for support of bereaved parents. *New Review of Hypermedia and Multimedia*, 21(1–2), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/13614568.2014.983557
- Jeon, G. Y., Ellison, N. B., Hogan, B., & Greenhow, C. (2016). First-generation students and college: The role of Facebook networks as information sources. In *Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing* (pp. 887–899). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2818048.2820074
- Jeon, G., & Rieh, S. (2014). Answers from the crowd: How credible are strangers in social Q&A? In *iConference 2014 Proceedings* (pp. 663–668). https://doi.org/10.9776/14309
- Jia, H., & Xu, H., (2016). Autonomous and interdependent: Collaborative privacy management on social networking sites. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 4286–4297). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858415
- Johnson, T., & Kaye, B. (2015). Reasons to believe: Influence of credibility on motivations for using social networks. Computers in Human Behavior, 50, 544–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.04.002
- Juneström, A. (2022). Content Moderation and Fact-Checking: A Study of Journalists' Information Practices in the Contemporary News Media Landscape (PhD Dissertation, Uppsala University).

- Järvelin, K., & Ingwersen, P. (2004). Information seeking research needs extension towards tasks and technology. *Information Research*, 10(1), paper 212. http://InformationR.net/ir/10-1/paper212.html
- Kaptelinin, V., & Nardi, B, (2012). Affordances in HCI: Toward a mediated action perspective. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 967–976). Association for Computing Machinery. https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/2207676.2208541
- Kaptelinin, V., & Nardi, B. (2018). Activity theory as a framework for human-technology interaction research. *Mind, Culture, and Activity*, 25(1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/10749039.2017.1393089
- Karanasios, S., Nardi, B., Spinuzzi, C., & Malaurent, J. (2021). Moving forward with activity theory in a digital world. *Mind, Culture, and Activity*, 28(3), 234–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/10749039.2021.1914662
- Kari, J., & Hartel, J. (2007). Information and higher things in life: Addressing the pleasurable and the profound in information science. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 58(8), 1131–1147. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.20585
- Keegan, B., & Fiesler, C. (2017). The evolution and consequences of peer producing Wikipedia's rules. In *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, 11(1), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1609/icwsm.v11i1.14899
- Khoo, C. (2014). Issues in information behaviour on social media. LIBRES: Library and Information Science Research Electronic Journal, 24(2), 75–96. https://doi.org/10.32655/LIBRES.2014.2.2
- Kim, K., Sin, S., & Tsai, T. (2014a). Individual differences in social media use for information seeking. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 40(2), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2014.03.001
- Kim, K., Sin, S., & Yoo-Lee, E. (2021). Use and evaluation of information from social media: A longitudinal cohort study. *Library & Information Science Research*, 43(3), 101104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2021.101104
- Kim, K., Sin, S., & Yoo-Lee, E. (2014b). Undergraduates' use of social media as information sources. *College & Research Libraries*, 75(4), 442–457. http://dx.doi.org/10.5860/crl.75.4.442
- Kim, K., Yoo-Lee, E., & Sin, S. (2011). Social media as information source: Undergraduates' use and evaluation behavior. In *Proceedings of the*

- American Society for Information Science and Technology, 48(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/meet.2011.14504801283
- Kitchin, R. (2017). Big data: Hype or revolution. In Sloan, L. & Quan-Haase, A. (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 27-38). London: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473983847
- Kivunja, C. (2018). Distinguishing between theory, theoretical framework, and conceptual framework: A systematic review of lessons from the field. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 7(6), 44–53.
- Kuutti, K., & Bannon, L. (2014). The turn to practice in HCI: Towards a research agenda. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems* (pp. 3543–3552). Association for Computing. https://doi.org/10.1145/2556288.2557111
- Kvale, S., & Brinkmann, S. (2009). *InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Lampe, C., Vitak, J., Gray, R., & Ellison, N., (2012). Perceptions of Facebook's value as an information source. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems* (pp. 3195–3204). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2207676.2208739
- Lantz-Andersson, A., Peterson, L., Hillman, T., Lundin, M., & Rensfeldt, A. B. (2017). Sharing repertoires in a teacher professional Facebook group. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction*, 15, 44–55.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral Participation*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Leonardi, P. (2010). Digital materiality? How artifacts without matter, matter. *First Monday*, 15(6–7). https://firstmonday.org/ojs/index.php/fm/article/download/3036/2567
- Leonardi, P. (2012). Materiality, sociomateriality, and socio-technical systems: What do these terms mean? How are they different? Do we need them? In Leonardi P., Nardi B., & Kallinikos J. (Eds.), *Materiality and Organizing: Social Interaction in a Technological World.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
 - https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199664054.003.0002
- Leonardi, P. (2015). Ambient awareness and knowledge acquisition: Using social media to learn 'Who knows what' and 'Who knows whom'. MIS Quarterly, 39(4), 747–762.

- Leonardi, P. (2017). Methodological guidelines for the study of materiality and affordances. In Raza, M. & Jain, S. (Eds.), *Routledge Companion to Qualitative Research in Organization Studies* (pp. 279-290). New York, NY: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315686103
- Leonardi, P., & Barley, S. (2010). What's under construction here? Social action, materiality, and power in constructivist studies of technology and organizing. *Academy of Management Annals*, 4(1), 1–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/19416521003654160
- Leonardi, P., Nardi, B., & Kallinikos, J. (Eds.) (2012). *Materiality and Organizing:* Social Interaction in a Technological World (online edn). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
 - https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199664054.001.0001
- Lijadi, A., & van Schalkwyk, G. (2015). Online Facebook focus group research of hard-to-reach participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14(5). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915621383
- Limberg, L., Sundin, O., & Talja, S. (2013). Three theoretical perspectives on information literacy. *Human IT*, 11(2). https://humanit.hb.se/article/view/69
- Lincoln, S., & Robards, B. (2014). 10 years of Facebook. *New Media & Society*, 16(7), 1047–1050. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814543994
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. CA: Sage.
- Lindell, J. (2017). Bringing field theory to social media, and vice-versa: Network-crawling an economy of recognition on Facebook. *Social Media + Society*, 3(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305117735752
- Litt, E. (2012). Knock, knock. Who's there? The imagined audience. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 56(3), 330–345. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2012.705195
- Litt, E. (2015). *The Imagined Audience: How People Think about Their Audience and Privacy on Social Network Sites* (PhD Dissertation, Northwestern University).
- Litt, E., & Hargittai, E. (2016). The imagined audience on social network sites. *Social Media* + *Society*, 2(1) https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305116633482
- Lloyd, A. (2005). No man (or woman) is an island: Information literacy, affordances and communities of practice. *The Australian Library Journal*, 54(3), 230–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049670.2005.10721760

- Lloyd, A. (2012). Information literacy as a socially enacted practice: Sensitising themes for an emerging perspective of people-in-practice. *Journal of Documentation*, 68(6), 772–783. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411211277037
- Lloyd, A. (2017). Information literacy and literacies of information: A mid-range theory and model. *Journal of Information Literacy*, 11(1), 91–105. https://doi.org/10.11645/11.1.2185
- Lloyd, A. (2021). *The Qualitative Landscape of Information Literacy Research: Perspectives, Methods and Techniques.* Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Lloyd, A., Kennan, M., Thompson, K., & Qayyum, A. (2013). Connecting with new information landscapes: Information literacy practices of refugees. *Journal of Documentation*, 69(1), 121–144. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411311295351
- Lloyd, A., & Olsson, M. (2019). Untangling the knot: The information practices of enthusiast car restorers. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 70(12), 1311–1323. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24284
- Lloyd, A., Pilerot, O., & Hultgren, F. (2017). The remaking of fractured landscapes: Supporting refugees in transition (SpiRiT). *Information Research*, 22(3), paper 764. http://InformationR.net/ir/21-1/paper764.html
- Lomborg, S. (2017). A state of flux: Histories of social media research. *European Journal of Communication*, 32(1), 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323116682807
- Lundh, A. (2011). *Doing Research in Primary School: Information Activities in Project-Based Learning.* (PhD dissertation, University of Borås).
- Lupton, D., Pedersen, S., & Thomas, G. (2016). Parenting and digital media: From the early web to contemporary digital society. *Sociology Compass*, 10(8), 730–743. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12398
- Majchrzak, A., Faraj, S., Kane, G., & Azad, B. (2013). The contradictory influence of social media affordances on online communal knowledge sharing. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19(1), 38–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12030
- Malik, A. (2022, January 18). Twitter begins rolling out its Community Notes feature globally. TechCrunch. http://tinyurl.com/4ctyautc

- Malinen, S. (2015). Understanding user participation in online communities: A systematic literature review of empirical studies. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 46, 228–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.004
- Mansour, A. (2021). Affordances supporting mothers' engagement in information-related activities through Facebook groups. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 53(2), 211–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000620938106
- Mansour, A. (2020). Shared information practices on Facebook: The formation and development of a sustainable online community. *Journal of Documentation*, 76(3), 625–646. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-10-2018-0160
- Mansour, A., & Francke, H. (2017). Credibility assessments of everyday life information on Facebook: A sociocultural investigation of a group of mothers. *Information Research*, 22(2), paper 750. http://InformationR.net/ir/22-2/paper750.html
- Mansour A., & Francke, H. (2021). Collective privacy management practices: A study of privacy strategies and risks in a private Facebook group. In *PACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 5(CSCW2), Article 360. ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/3479504
- Mansour, O., Askenäs, L., & Ghazawneh, A. (2013). Social media and organizing: An empirical analysis of the role of Wiki affordances in organizing practices. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information System: Reshaping Society Through Information Systems Design*. https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hj:diva-37990
- Mansour, O., Ghazawneh, A., & Askenäs, L. (2020). An affordances apparatus for enterprise social media. *Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems*, 32(1). https://aisel.aisnet.org/sjis/vol32/iss2/1/
- Markham, A., & Buchanan, E. (2012). *Ethical Decision-Making and Internet Research: Version 2.0 (Report)*. Association of Internet Researchers.
- Markham, A., & Stavrova, S. (2016). Internet/digital research. In Silverman, D. (Ed.) *Qualitative Research* (pp. 229–244). London: Sage.
- Markham, A. (2016). Ethnography in the digital internet era. In Denzin N. & Lincoln Y. (Eds.), *Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research* (pp. 650–668). CA: Sage.

- Marwick, A., & boyd, d. (2011). I tweet honestly, I tweet passionately: Twitter users, context collapse, and the imagined audience. *New Media & Society*, 13(1), 114–133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444810365313
- Marwick, A., & boyd, d. (2014). Networked privacy: How teenagers negotiate context in social media. *New Media & Society*, 16(7), 1051–1067. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814543995
- Marwick, A., & Ellison, N. (2012). "There isn't Wifi in heaven!" Negotiating visibility on Facebook memorial pages. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 56(3), 378–400. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2012.705197
- McCay-Peet, L., & Quan-Haase, A. (2016a). A model of social media engagement: User profiles, gratifications, and experiences. In O'Brien, H. & Cairns, P. (Eds.), Why engagement matters: Cross-disciplinary perspectives on user engagement in digital media (pp. 199–217). Heidelberg: Springer Verlag.
- McCay-Peet, L., & Quan-Haase, A. (2016b). What is social media and what questions can social media research help us answer? In Sloan, L. & Quan-Haase, A. (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 13-26). London: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473983847
- McKenzie, P. (2003a). A model of information practices in accounts of everyday-life information seeking. *Journal of Documentation*, 59(1), 19–40. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220410310457993
- McKenzie, P. (2003b). Justifying cognitive authority decisions: Discursive strategies of information seekers. *The Library Quarterly: Information, Community, Policy, 73*(3), 261–288. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4309663
- Metzger, M., & Flanagin, A. (2015). Psychological approaches to credibility assessment online. In Sundar, S. (Ed.), *The Handbook of the Psychology of Communication Technology* (pp. 445–466). West Sussex, UK: Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118426456.ch20
- Metzger, M., Flanagin, A., & Medders, R. (2010). Social and heuristic approaches to credibility evaluation online. *Journal of Communication*, 60(3), 413–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2010.01488.x

- Mierzecka, A., Wasilewski, J., & Kisilowskas, M. (2019). Cognitive authority, emotions and information quality evaluations. *Information Research*, 24(4), paper colis 1910. http://InformationR.net/ir/24-4/colis/colis1910.html
- Miller, J., & Glassner, B. (2021). The "inside" and the "outside": Finding realities in interviews. In Silverman, D. (Ed.), *Qualitative Research* (pp. 53-68). London: Sage.
- Morris, M. R. (2014). Social networking site use by mothers of young children. In *Proceedings of the 17th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing* (pp. 1272–1282). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2531602.2531603
- Motahari-Nezhad, H., Shekofteh, M., & Andalib-Kondori, M. (2022). Social media as a platform for information and support for Coronavirus: Analysis of COVID-19 Facebook groups. *Global Knowledge, Memory and Communication*, 71(8/9), 772–788. https://doi.org/10.1108/GKMC-11-2020-0183
- Mudliar, P., & Raval, N. (2018). "They are like personalized mini-Googles": Seeking information on Facebook groups. In *Proceedings of the 51st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* (pp. 2058–2067). Curran Associates. http://hdl.handle.net/10125/50147
- Nolin, J., & Åström, F. (2010). Turning weakness into strength: Strategies for future LIS. *Journal of Documentation*, 66(1), 7–27. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411011016344
- Norman, D. (1990). The Design of Everyday Things. NY: Doubleday.
- Norman, D. (1999). Affordances, conventions, and design. *Interactions*, *6*, 38–43. https://doi.org/10.1145/301153.301168
- Noveck, B., Button, J., Gambrell, D., Paulson, L., Spada, P., & Subramanian, L. (2021). *The Power of Virtual Communities (Report*). The Governance Lab. https://virtual-communities.thegovlab.org/reports
- Obar, J., & Wildman, S. (2015). Social media definition and the governance challenge: An introduction to the special issue. *Telecommunications Policy*, 39(9), 745–750. http://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2647377
- Oeldorf-Hirsch, A., Hecht, B., & Morris, M. (2014). To search or to ask: The routing of information needs between traditional search engines and social networks. In Fussell, F. & Lutters, W. (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 17th*

- ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing (pp. 16–27). Association for Computing Machinery.
- Oeldorf-Hirsch, A., & Gergle, D. (2020). "Who knows what": Audience targeting for question asking on Facebook. In *PACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 4(GROUP), Article 11. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3375191
- Ollier-Malaterre, A., & Serre, L. (2018). Connecting with coworkers on social network sites: Strategies, social norms and outcomes on work relationships. In *Proceedings of the 51st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* (pp. 441–450), Curran Associates. http://hdl.handle.net/10125/49945
- Packer, M. J., & Goicoechea, J. (2000). Sociocultural and constructivist theories of learning: Ontology, not just epistemology. *Educational Psychologist*, 35(4), 227–241. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3504_02
- Palen, L., & Dourish, P. (2003). Unpacking "privacy" for a networked world. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 129–136). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/642611.642635
- Papacharissi, Z. (2009). The virtual geographies of social networks: A comparative analysis of Facebook, Linkedin and ASmallWorld. *New Media & Society*, 11(1–2), 199–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444808099577
- Penuel, W., & Wertsch, J. (1995). Vygotsky and identity formation: A sociocultural approach. *Educational Psychologist*, 30(2), https://doi.org/83-92.10.1207/s15326985ep3002_5
- Peräkylä, A. (2021). Validity in qualitative research. In Silverman, D. (Ed.) *Qualitative Research* (pp. 447–461). London: Sage.
- Petronio, S. (1991). Communication boundary management: A theoretical model of managing disclosure of private information between marital couples. *Communication Theory*, *1*(4), 311–335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.1991.tb00023.x
- Petronio, S. (2002). Boundaries of Privacy: Dialectics of Disclosure. Suny Press.
- Petronio, S., & Child, J. (2020). Conceptualization and operationalization: Utility of communication privacy management theory. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 31, 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.08.009

- Philip F., Vitak, J., & Zimmer, M. (2020). A contextual approach to information privacy research. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 71(4), 485–490. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24232
- Phua, J., Jin, S., & Kim, J. (2017). Uses and gratifications of social networking sites for bridging and bonding social capital: A comparison of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.02.041
- Pickard, A. J. (2013). Research Methods in Information. Facet.
- Pilerot, O. (2012). LIS research on information sharing activities: People, places, or information. *Journal of Documentation*, 68(4), 559–581. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411211239110
- Pilerot, O. (2014a). *Design Researchers' Information Sharing: The Enactment of a Discipline* (PhD dissertation, University of Borås).
- Pilerot, O. (2014b). Making design researchers' information sharing visible through material objects. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 65(10), 2006–2016. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.23108
- Pilerot, O. (2015). Information sharing in the field of design research. In *Proceedings of ISIC, the Information Behaviour Conference*, Leeds, 2–5 September, 2014: Part 2, 20.
- Pilerot, O., Hammarfelt, B., & Moring, C. (2017). The many faces of practice theory in library and information studies. *Information Research*, 22(1), CoLIS paper 1602. http://InformationR.net/ir/22-1/colis/colis1602.html
- Prescott, J., Rathbone, A., & Brown, G. (2020). Online peer to peer support: Qualitative analysis of UK and US open mental health Facebook groups. *Digital Health*, 6(1–17). https://doi.org/10.1177/2055207620979209
- Quan-Haase, A., & McCay-Peet, L. (2016). Building interdisciplinary social media research teams: Motivations, challenges, and policy frameworks. In Sloan, L. & Quan-Haase, A. (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 40-56). London: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473983847
- Quan-Haase, A., & Sloan, L. (2022). The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods. Sage.
- Rains, S., & Brunner, S. (2015). What can we learn about social network sites by studying Facebook? A call and recommendations for research on social

- network sites. *New Media & Society*, 17(1), 114–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/146144481454648s
- Rieh, S. (2018). Credibility and cognitive authority of information. In McDonald, J. and Levine-Clark, M. (Eds.) *Encyclopedia of Library and Information Sciences* (4th edition) (pp. 1113–1120). Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis.
- Riessman, C. (2005). Narrative analysis. In Kelly, N., Horrocks, C., Milnes, K., Roberts, B., & Robinson, D. (Eds), *Narrative, Memory & Everyday Life* (pp. 1–7). Huddersfield, UK: University of Huddersfield.
- Riley, A., & Aubrey, K. (2022). *Understanding and Using Educational Theories*. UK: Sage.
- Robson, A., & Robinson, L. (2013). Building on models of information behaviour: Linking information seeking and communication. *Journal of documentation,* 69(2), 169–193. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411311300039
- Rogers, Y. (2012). *HCI Theory: Classical, Modern, and Contemporary*. US: Morgan & Claypool.
- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2012). *Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data*. California: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226651
- Sannon, S., Murnane, E. L., Bazarova, N. N., & Gay, G. (2019). "I was really, really nervous posting it": Communicating about invisible chronic illnesses across social media platforms. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 1–13). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300583
- Savolainen, R. (1995). Everyday life information seeking: Approaching information seeking in the context of "way of life." *Library & Information Science Research*, 17(3), 259–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/0740-8188(95)90048-9
- Savolainen, R. (2007a). Filtering and withdrawing: Strategies for coping with information overload in everyday contexts. *Journal of Information Science*, 33(5), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551506077418
- Savolainen, R. (2007b). Information behavior and information practice: Reviewing the "umbrella concepts" of information-seeking studies. *The Library Quarterly: Information, Community, Policy, 77*(2), 109–132. https://doi.org/10.1086/517840
- Savolainen, R. (2008). Everyday Information Practices: A Social Phenomenological Perspective. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press.

- Savolainen, R. (2011a). Asking and sharing information in the blogosphere: The case of slimming blogs. *Library & Information Science Research*, 33(1), 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2010.04.004
- Savolainen, R. (2011b). Requesting and providing information in blogs and internet discussion forums. *Journal of Documentation*, 67(5), 863–886. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411111164718
- Savolainen, R. (2016). Elaborating the conceptual space of information-seeking phenomena. *Information Research*, 21(3), paper 720. http://InformationR.net/ir/21-3/paper720.html
- Savolainen, R. (2017a). Information sharing and knowledge sharing as communicative activities. *Information Research*, 22(3), paper 767. http://InformationR.net/ir/22-3/paper767.html
- Savolainen, R. (2017b). Research in information science award: Everyday life information seeking. *Bulletin of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 43, 53–56.
- Savolainen, R. (2018). Everyday life information seeking. In McDonald, J. and Levine-Clark, M. (Eds.) *Encyclopedia of Library and Information Sciences* (4th edition) (pp. 1506-1515). Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis.
- Savolainen, R. (2019). Modeling the interplay of information seeking and information sharing: A conceptual analysis. *Aslib Journal of Information Management*, 71(4), 518–534. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJIM-10-2018-0266
- Savolainen, R. (2023). Assessing the credibility of COVID-19 vaccine mis/disinformation in online discussion. *Journal of Information Science*, 49(4), 1096–1110. https://doi.org/10.1177/01655515211040653
- Savolainen, R. (2022). Cognitive authority as an instance of informational and expert power. *Libri*, 72(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1515/libri-2020-0128
- Schatzki, T. (1997). Practices and actions: A Wittgensteinian critique of Bourdieu and Giddens. *Philosophy of the Social Sciences*, 27(3), 283–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/004839319702700301
- Schoenebeck, S., Ellison, N., Blackwell, L., Bayer, J., & Falk, E. (2016). Playful backstalking and serious impression management: How young adults reflect on their past identities on Facebook. In *Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing* (pp. 1475–1487). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2818048.2819923

- Shane-Simpson, C., Manago, A., Gaggi, N., & Gillespie-Lynch, K. (2018). Why do college students prefer Facebook, Twitter, or Instagram? Site affordances, tensions between privacy and self-expression, and implications for social capital. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 86, 276–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.04.041
- Silver, C., & Lewins, A. (2014). *Using Software in Qualitative Research: A Step-By-Step Guide*. London: Sage.
- Silverman, D., & Marvasti, A. (2008). *Doing Qualitative Research: A Comprehensive Guide*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Sin, S., & Kim, K. (2013). International students' everyday life information seeking: The informational value of social networking sites. *Library & Information Science Research*, 35(2), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2012.11.006
- Sloan, L., & Quan-Haase, A. (2017). *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods*. London: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473983847
- Smock, A., Ellison, N., Lampe, C., & Wohn, D. (2011). Facebook as a toolkit: A uses and gratification approach to unbundling feature use. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(6), 2322–2329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.07.011
- Soukup, P. (2018). Facebook: Changing the face of communication research. *Communication Research Trends*, 37(1), 3–42.
- Stake, R. (2010). *Qualitative Research: Studying How Things Work.* New York, NY: Guilford.
- Suh, J., & Metzger, M. (2022). Privacy beyond the individual level. In Knijnenburg, B., Page, X., Wisniewski, P., Lipford, H., Proferes, N., & Romano, J. (Eds.), *Modern Socio-Technical Perspectives on Privacy* (pp. 91-109). Cham: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-82786-1_6
- Sundin, O. (2011). Janitors of knowledge: Constructing knowledge in the everyday life of Wikipedia editors. *Journal of Documentation*, 67(5), 840–862. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220411111164709
- Sundin, O., & Francke, H. (2009). In search of credibility: Pupils' information practices in learning environments. *Information Research*, 14(4), paper 418. http://informationr.net/ir/14-4/paper418.html
- Sundin, O., Haider, J., Andersson, C., Carlsson, H., & Kjellberg, S. (2017). The search-ification of everyday life and the mundane-ification of search.

- *Journal of Documentation, 73*(2), 224–243. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-06-2016-0081
- Sveningsson Elm, M. (2009). Question three: How do various notions of privacy influence decisions in qualitative internet research? In Markham, A. & Baym, N. (Eds.) *Internet Inquiry: Conversations about Method* (pp. 69–98). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Säljö, R. (2010). Digital tools and challenges to institutional traditions of learning: Technologies, social memory and the performative nature of learning. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 26, 53–64.
- Talja, S. (2002). Information sharing in academic communities: Types and levels of collaboration in information seeking and use. *New Review of Information Behavior Research*, *3*, 143–159.
- Talja, S., & Hansen, P. (2006). Information sharing. In Spink, A. & Cole, C. (Eds.), New Directions in Human Information Behavior (pp. 113–134). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.
- Talja, S., & Lloyd, A. (2010). Integrating theories of learning, literacies and information practices. In Lloyd, A. & Talja, T. (Eds.), *Practicing Information Literacy: Bringing Theories of Learning, Practice and Information Literacy Together* (pp. ix-xviii). Wagga Wagga: Chandos Publishing.
- Talja, S., & McKenzie, P. (2007). Editors' introduction: Special issue on discursive approaches to information seeking in context. *The Library Quarterly*, 77(2), 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1086/517839
- Talja, S., & Nyce, J. (2015). The problem with problematic situations: Differences between practices, tasks, and situations as units of analysis. *Library & Information Science Research*, *37*(1), 61–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2014.06.005
- Talja, S., Tuominen, K., & Savolainen, R. (2005). "Isms" in information science: Constructivism, collectivism and constructionism. *Journal of Documentation*, 61(1), 79–101. https://doi.org/10.1108/00220410510578023
- Tang, R., Mehra, B., Du, J., & Zhao, Y. (2021). Framing a discussion on paradigm shift(s) in the field of information. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 72(2), 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24404
- The behaviour/practice debate: A discussion prompted by Tom Wilson's review of Reijo Savolainen's everyday information practices: A social

- phenomenological perspective. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press, 2008. (2009). *Information Research*, 14(2) paper 403. http://informationr.net/ir/14-2/paper403.html
- Thorne, S. (2005). Epistemology, politics, and ethics in sociocultural theory. *The Modern Language Journal*, 89(3), 393–409. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3588666
- Treem, J., & Leonardi, P. (2012). Social media use in organizations: Exploring the affordances of visibility, editability, persistence, and association. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 36(1), 143–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2013.11679130
- Treem, J., Leonardi, P., & Van Den Hooff, B. (2020). Computer-mediated communication in the age of communication visibility. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 25(1), 44–59. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcmc/zmz024
- Uski, S., & Lampinen, A. (2016). Social norms and self-presentation on social network sites: Profile work in action. *New Media & Society*, 18(3), 447–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814543164
- van Dijck, J. (2013). *The Culture of Connectivity: A Critical History of Social Media*. (New York, 2013; online edn, Oxford Academic, 24 Jan. 2013), https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199970773.001.0001, accessed 2 Oct. 2023.
- van Dijck, J., & Poell, T. (2015). Social media and the transformation of public space. *Social Media + Society, 1*(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305115622482
- Vardell, E., Wang, T., & Thomas, P. (2022). "I found what I needed, which was a supportive community": An ethnographic study of shared information practices in an online cosplay community. *Journal of Documentation*, 78(3), 564–579. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-02-2021-0034
- Vitak, J. (2012). The impact of context collapse and privacy on social network site disclosures. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 56(4), 451–470. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2012.732140
- Vitak, J. (2017). Facebook as a research tool in the social and computer sciences. In Sloan, L. & Quan-Haase, A. (Eds.) *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 627-642). London: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473983847

- Vitak, J., & Ellison, N. (2013). "There's a network out there you might as well tap": Exploring the benefits of and barriers to exchanging informational and support-based resources on Facebook. *New Media & Society*, 15(2), 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812451566
- Vitak, J., & Kim, J. (2014). "You can't block people offline": Examining how Facebook's affordances shape the disclosure process. In *Proceedings of the 17th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing* (pp. 461–474). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/2531602.2531672
- Viégas, F., Wattenberg, M., & McKeon, M. (2007). The hidden order of Wikipedia. In Schuler, D. (Ed.) *Online Communities and Social Computing* (pp. 445–454). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-73257-0_49
- Wenger, E. (1998). *Communities of Practice: Learning, Meaning, and Identity*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Wertsch, J. (1998a). Mind as Action. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Wertsch, J. (1998b). Mediated action. In Bechtel, W. & Graham, G. (Eds.) *A Companion to Cognitive Science* (pp.518–525). Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405164535.ch40
- Wertsch, J. (2009). *Voices of the Mind: Sociocultural Approach to Mediated Action.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wertsch, J., Del Río, P., & Alvarez, A. (1995). *Sociocultural Studies of Mind*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Wertsch, J. V., & Tulviste, P. (1999). LS Vygotsky and contemporary developmental psychology. In Fernyhough C., Lloyd P. *Lev Vygotsky: Critical Assessments* (pp. 9–30). London and NY: Routledge.
- Williams Veazey, L. (2018). Navigating the Intersections of Migration and Motherhood in Online Communities: Digital Community Mothering and Migrant Maternal Imaginaries (PhD Dissertation, University of Sydney).
- Williams Veazey, L. (2022). Migrant mothers and the ambivalence of coethnicity in online communities. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 48(7), 1747–1763, https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2020.1782180
- Williamson, K. (1998). Discovered by chance: The role of incidental information acquisition in an ecological model of information use. *Library and Information Science Research*, 20(1), 23–40.

- Wilson, P. (1983). Second-hand Knowledge: An Inquiry into Cognitive Authority. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Wilson, R., Gosling, S., & Graham, L. (2012). A review of Facebook research in the social sciences. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(3), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612442904
- Wu, P., Vitak, J., & Zimmer, M. (2020). A contextual approach to information privacy research. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 71(4), 485–490. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24232
- Xiaoyun, H., Jessica, V., & Yla, T. (2020). "You don't have to know my past": How WeChat Moments users manage their evolving self-presentation. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 1–13). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376595
- Xie, J., He, Z., Burnett, G., & Cheng, Y. (2021). How do mothers exchange parenting-related information in online communities? A metasynthesis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106631
- Yeshua-Katz, D., & Hård af Segerstad, Y. (2020). Catch 22: The paradox of social media affordances and stigmatized online support groups. *Social Media* + *Society*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120984476
- Yu, R., Ellison, N., & Lampe, C. (2018). Facebook use and its role in shaping access to social benefits among older adults. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 62(1), 71–90. 10.1080/08838151.2017.1402905
- Zhao, Y., Zhang, Y., Tang, J., & Song, S. (2021). Affordances for information practices: Theorizing engagement among people, technology, and sociocultural environments. *Journal of Documentation*, 77(1), 229–250. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-05-2020-0078
- Zhong, H., Han, Z., & Hansen, P. (2023). A systematic review of information practices research. *Journal of Documentation*, 79(1), 245–267. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-02-2022-0044
- Østerlund, C., & Carlile, P. (2003). How practice matters: A relational view of knowledge sharing. Communities and technologies. In Huysman, M., Wenger, E., & Wulf, V. (Eds.) Communities and Technologies (pp. 1–22). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-0115-0_1

Appendices

Appendix 1: research site access request (admins)

Dear [name],

I am writing to request your permission as an admin of the [name] group to post a questionnaire within it. This pilot questionnaire is part of my doctoral research project conducted at the University of Borås, Sweden, under the supervision of Dr. Helena Francke and Professor Elena Maceviciute.

The main aim of my research project is to understand how people appropriate social media in their everyday lives to seek and exchange information with each other. As a mother myself, I am interested in mothers' experiences and the ways they use social media communities to seek and provide advice. Through this questionnaire, I hope that group members can share their experiences of using the Facebook group with me, so that I can learn how they communicate and exchange information/advice with other fellow mums in the group.

Here is a link to the questionnaire (http://www.mobosurvey.com/SHH9C) if you would like to have a look at it and, of course, if you wish to participate.

Participation in the questionnaire is entirely voluntary for the members. However, I wanted to check with you as admins of the group regarding the group policies concerning such issues and if I am allowed to post the link or not.

Please let me know if you need further information or clarification about the study. I am looking forward to hearing from you, and many thanks for your help in advance!

Warmest regards, Ameera

Appendix 2: research invitation (Facebook group post)

Dear mothers,

I am working on a doctoral research project exploring how people use social media in their everyday lives to seek and exchange information with each other. As a mother myself, I am particularly interested in mothers' experiences and how they use social media groups to seek and provide advice.

Therefore, as a mother who uses this Facebook group to seek and share advice, I am inviting you to take part in my study by answering the following questionnaire (http://www.mobosurvey.com/SHH9C).

You can find more information about the study and questionnaire in the link I provided, but if I missed anything, please do not hesitate to send a message me on Facebook, or an email ©

Any help or feedback is highly appreciated.

Thank you in advance.

Best,

Ameera

Appendix 3: research invitation (admins)

Dear [name],

I am reaching out to inquire if you or any of the other admins in the group would be interested in participating in a research study for my doctoral research project.

Approximately two years ago, I conducted interviews with some group members regarding their information activities within the group. Now, as I am writing my second and third articles, I have identified some interesting issues from my analysis and previous interviews that would greatly benefit from an administrator's perspective.

Would you (or any other group admins) be interested in participating in an interview? The interview would last approximately 45 minutes to one hour. I can provide more detailed information about the purpose and scope of the study if this is something of interest to you.

Your insights would be invaluable to my research, and I sincerely appreciate your consideration of this request.

Looking forward to hearing from you. Best regards, Ameera

Appendix 4: recruitments' Facebook group post (reminder)

Dear mothers,

I posted a while ago inviting people to participate in a research study about mothers' information experiences in social media. Many of you responded to my call and generously shared your experiences with me (to all those who participated: you know who you are, thank you!).

Now, I am looking for more people to participate, and I hope to cover as many experiences as possible.

I have interviewed very few new and expecting mothers, so it would be great if you, as a new/expecting mother, would be interested in participating in this study. I am also hoping to interview more members who are active in the group posting/commenting. Also, if you actively read others' posts but don't comment or post yourself, I would be very glad to talk to you too.

If this sounds interesting to you, please send me a personal message, and I will provide you with more information about the study. Please not that you are not obliged to participate if you request information about the study. It's just that you can get an understanding of the aims of my research project and what it may involve, to help you decide if you want to participate or not.

If you have any questions about the study or if there is anything that you are wondering about, please do not hesitate to let me know.

Many thanks in advance.

Ameera

Appendix 5: informed consent



Mothers' information experiences in social media environments "Doctoral research project"

This document contains all information you may need about the study before signing the consent form. The consent form is a formal agreement between you and the researcher that guarantees your rights before, during and after your participation in the research project. Please take your time to read it carefully and provide your signature at the end of the form. If there is anything that is unclear to you, or if you need any further clarifications, please do not hesitate to contact me or the supervisory team of the project at the addresses provided below.

Who is conducting the study?

This study is part of a doctoral research project conducted at the University of Borås by Ameera Mansour. It is supervised by Dr. Helena Francke and Professor Elena Maceviciute.

What is the purpose of the study?

The main purpose of the study is to explore and understand the experiences of mothers' everyday life information seeking, when using social media. For instance, this study seeks to understand: what are common information sources that you consult to motivate and inform your choices and decisions daily? In what ways and to what extent do you use social media platforms in forming these decisions; what motivates you to use/not use social media; how do you negotiate and evaluate information you find on social media?

What is required from you?

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. If you decide at any point that you no longer wish to participate, you may withdraw from the study without any penalty or prejudice.

Your participation involves taking part in a one-to-one interview with the researcher. You can see below all the specifications of the planned interview.

- The interview can be done face-to-face, via Skype, by telephone, chat, or any other means that you feel most comfortable with.
- The interview is estimated to take roughly 45 minutes (up to an hour) of your time. You may be asked to do a short follow-up interview, if possible, in case something needs further clarifications or something interesting came up in the analysis.
- During the interview you will be asked questions about the ways you seek and share information on social media in general and in the Facebook group.
- If you feel uncomfortable at any point during the interview you can request to skip the question, you also have the right to refuse to answer; or you can request to terminate the interview.
- The interview will be audio-taped for later transcription purposes.
- The interview record will be transcribed, you will be assigned a
 pseudonym, and the transcript will be sent back to you to get your
 feedback and for verification purposes. That will give you the
 opportunity to add, edit or delete any information that you wish (or you
 may not wish) to include in the transcript that will be used for the
 analysis.
- All collected data will later be analysed. The results of the analysis will be used for academic publications and presentations, primarily but not limited to publications that will be part of my doctoral dissertation. You may ask to receive a copy of these publications if you wish.

Privacy and confidentiality

Your privacy and confidentiality in this research are very important to me. In my research, I will adhere to the relevant ethical considerations outlined in the Swedish legalizations. If I use quotes from the interview in publications or presentations, I will refer to you by a pseudonym. You will also have the possibility of reviewing the transcript of the interview to withdraw information that you have shared with me if you wish.

What are the benefits and risks associated with this study?

There are no direct benefits to you in participating in this study. However, your participation may help the research community to better understand how mothers use social media in their daily information seeking and sharing. The study will focus primarily on your interaction with the information resources you use in your everyday life; therefore, I do not foresee any potential risks associated in participating in this study. However, you are advised to withhold information if you think sharing may harm you.

Whom to contact if I have further questions?

If you need more information about the research project, please do not hesitate to contact the principal researcher or the supervisory team at the following addresses:

| Principal researcher | Principal supervisor | Associate supervisor |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------|
| Ameera Mansour | Dr. Helena Francke | Prof. Elena Maceviciute |
| Email: | Email: | Email: |
| Telephone: | Telephone: | Telephone: |
| PhD. Candidate, Swedish | Swedish School of Library and | Swedish School of |
| School of Library and | Information Science, University | Library and Information |
| Information Science, University | of Borås. | Science, University of |
| of Borås. | http://www.hb.se/en/Researc | Borås. |
| http://www.hb.se/en/Researc | h/Researchers/Francke- | http://www.hb.se/en/R |
| h/Researchers/Mansour- | Helena/) | esearch/Researchers/Ma |
| Ameera/ | | ceviciute-Elena/ |

Consent Statement and Declarations

Please make sure you understand and agree to the following statements before giving consent to participate.

- I have read and understood information provided in this document.
- I understand the purpose of this study and I know about the benefits and risks that this research project entails.
- I understand that I am free to withdraw at any time from the study without any penalty or prejudice.
- I understand how confidentiality will be maintained and my privacy will be protected in this study.
- I understand that the interview will be recorded and transcribed into text.
- I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study and have received satisfactory answers to these questions and any additional details requested.

Signatures

I have read the above and I understand all the conditions. Hereby, I freely give my consent and voluntarily agree to participate in this research project:

| Participant | Researcher |
|-----------------|-----------------|
| Name/Pseudonym: | Name: |
| Signature: | Signature: |
| Date and Place: | Date and Place: |

Appendix 6: interview guide (members)

Introduction:

I will introduce myself and the study briefly, and ask her to introduce herself. I will also ask if she has any questions about the study or the information sheet before we start.

Questions:

- 1) What social media platforms do you use? How often do you use them?
- 2) Can you tell me about the social media groups you are a member of? How many groups are you part of, and what are their purposes?
- 3) Can you provide some insights about the [name] group? Why did you join? What type of information or advice do you typically seek within the group? How frequently do you check or engage with others in the group?
- 4) Do you have specific questions or information that you wouldn't share on the group or social media? If so, why? (OBS: if they mention different Facebook groups, I should ask for an explanation if they use them similarly or differently).
- 5) Can you recall the last time you sought information or advice within the group? Please choose an instance that was particularly important to you. Describe the activities you engaged in during this process, including where you looked for information, etc. Specifically:
 - What was the topic?
 - Did you find the information you were looking for?
 - Was the information useful to you?
 - How did you use this information?
 - Did you explore or check other sources for information other than the group?
 - Did you receive or encounter consistent or contradictory information/advice? How did you resolve this and arrive at a decision of what information to use?
- 6) Similarly, can you think about the last time you provided advice within the group?

- 7) Do you believe that there are appropriate or inappropriate topics/information to be discussed and shared within the group? (Both in general and within the realm of parenting)
- 8) Is credibility an issue for you in this group/social media? If so, why? What criteria do you use to assess credibility?
- 9) Do you trust the advice given by other members within the group? Do you consistently agree with the advice shared within the group? If not, why do you think this is the case?
- 10) Do you see any benefits in seeking or sharing information within the group/social media? Can you tell me more about that?
- 11) Do you see any risks in seeking or sharing information within the group/social media? Can you tell me more about that?
- 12) Apart from this Facebook group, what other resources do you often consult or rely on for information?
- 13) How would you compare and situate social media sources and other resources to the Facebook group?
- 14) What type of content do you typically post on your private profile or other groups? Is there anything you post on your profile that you wouldn't post within this group or other groups, and vice versa? Why?

Appendix 7: interview guide (admin)

Introduction:

I will introduce myself and the study briefly, and ask her to introduce herself. I will also ask if she has any questions about the study or the information sheet before we start.

Introductory & General questions

- Can you tell me about the [name] group?
 - What was your motivation behind creating the group?
 - What is the main purpose of the group?
 - How many admins are in the group? What are their roles and responsibilities in administering the group?
 - How does someone join the group? Who is accepted in the group? Is everyone accepted? If not, why?
 - What issues (topics) are often discussed in the group?
 - Do you seek or share information/advice with other members in the group?
 - Are there any information/questions that you would not seek, share, or discuss in the group? Why is that? Can you give some examples?

Moderating the group/admins roles

- 2) Is there anything that is explicitly not allowed to be discussed in the group? Or that you would react to or look out for? Can you give some examples?
- 3) Do you think there are any inappropriate behaviors in the group? What do you think is an inappropriate behavior in the group? And how do you and the other admins handle that?
- 4) Are there any topics that are inappropriate but are still allowed to be discussed in the group?
- 5) What personal qualities do you think make a good member in the group?
- 6) Do you have any rules in the group how members should participate in the group? Can you give some examples?
- 7) What happens if a member doesn't stick to the rules of the group?

- 8) What is the role of the admin(s) in moderating the group?
 - To what extent do the admins moderate the discussions (or information exchanged) in the group?
 - How do you moderate the discussions in the group? Do you moderate them at all? When do the admins need to step in?
- 9) How do you and the other admins handle and manage conflicts in the group, if there are any?
 - Can you tell me about the process, what do you and the other admins usually do?
 - How do you usually decide not to allow a specific topic to be discussed in the group? Do you take that decision upon yourself as a main admin, together with the other admins, or? Who decides?
 - Do you discuss with the other admins or members issues in relation to
 the group and how to handle and manage them? Who decides which
 topics and issues are allowed to be discussed in the group? (If she talks
 about vaccination conflicts, I should ask explicit questions about how
 they managed these conflicts, but also how did they came to the
 decision to ban discussions on vaccines, and if these discussions are
 still banned since the interviews were conducted two years ago).
- 10) Did it ever happen that you had to remove a member or a thread from the group? Why? Can you tell me more and give some examples about this?
- 11) I have recently noticed that more members are sending their questions anonymously to [admin's name], and she posts them on their behalf in the group. Does anyone send you questions to post on their behalf? Why do you think they are sending the questions to the admins instead of asking these questions directly in the group? Do you have any idea of the reasons behind doing that?
- 12) Do you have any questions for me? Is there anything you want to add? Is there anything that you were expecting to discuss but we didn't?

Articles I-IV

Article I

Mansour, A. (2021). Affordances supporting mothers' engagement in information-related activities through Facebook groups. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 53(2), 211–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000620938106

Article II

Mansour, A. & Francke, H. (2017). Credibility assessments of everyday life information on Facebook: A sociocultural investigation of a group of mothers. *Information Research*, 22(2), paper 750. http://InformationR.net/ir/22-2/paper750.html

Article III

Mansour, A. (2020). Shared information practices on Facebook: The formation and development of a sustainable online community. *Journal of Documentation*, 76(3), 625-646. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-10-2018-0160

Article IV

Mansour, A. & Francke, H. (2021). Collective privacy management practices: A study of privacy strategies and risks in a private Facebook group. In *PACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, *5*(CSCW2), Article 360. Association for Computing Machinery.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3479504

Publikationer i serien Skrifter från VALFRID

Enmark, Romulo (red.) (1990). *Biblioteksstudier. Folkbibliotek i flervetenskaplig belysning*. (ISBN 91-971457-0-X) Skriftserien; 1

Enmark, Romulo (red.) (1991). Biblioteken och framtiden. [Bok 1], Framtidsdebatten i nordisk bibliotekspress. (ISBN 91-971457-1-8) Skriftserien; 2

Selden, Lars (red.) (1992). Biblioteken och framtiden. [Bok 2], Nordisk idédebatt: konferens i Borås 11-13 november 1991. (ISBN 91-971457-2-6) Skriftserien; 3

Hjørland, Birger (1993). Emnerepræsentation og informationssøgning: bidrag til en teori på kundskabsteoretisk grundlag. 2. uppl. med register. (ISBN 91-971457-4-2) Skriftserien; 4

Höglund, Lars (red.) (1995). Biblioteken, kulturen och den sociala intelligensen: aktuell forskning inom biblioteks- och informationsvetenskap. (ISBN 91-971457-5-0) Skriftserien; 5

Hjørland, Birger (1995). Faglitteratur: kvalitet, vurdering og selektion: grundbog i materialevalg. (ISBN 91-971457-6-9) Skriftserien; 6

Limberg, Louise (1996). *Skolbiblioteksmodeller. Utvärdering av ett utvecklingsprojekt i Örebro län.* (ISBN 91-971457-7-7) Skriftserien; 7

Hjørland, Birger (1997). Faglitteratur: kvalitet, vurdering og selektion. Bdl, Materialevalgets almene teori, metoder og forudsætninger. (ISBN 91-971457-8-5) Skriftserien; 8

Pettersson, Rune (1997). Verbo-visual Communication: Presentation of Clear Messages for Information and Learning. (ISBN 91-971457-9-3) Skriftserien; 9

Pettersson, Rune (1997). Verbo-visual Communication: 12 Selected Papers. (ISBN 91-973090-0-1) Skriftserien; 10

Limberg, Louise. (1997). *Skolbiblioteksmodeller: utvärdering av ett utvecklingsprojekt i Örebro län.* (ISBN 91-973090-1-X) Skriftserien; 11 (nytryck av nr 7, bilaga inne i boken)

Eliasson, Anette, Lööf Staffan, Rydsjö, Kerstin (red.) (1997). *Barnbibliotek och informationsteknik: elektroniska medier för barn och ungdomar på folkbibliotek.* (ISBN 91-973090-2-8) Skriftserien; 12

Klasson, Maj (red.) (1997). Folkbildning och bibliotek? På spaning efter spår av folkbildning och livslångt lärande i biblioteksvärlden. (ISBN 91-973090-3-6) Skriftserien; 13

Zetterlund, Angela (1997). Utvärdering och folkbibliotek: en studie av utvärderingens teori och praktik med exempel från folkbibliotekens förändrings- och utvecklingsprojekt. (ISBN 91-973090-4-4) Skriftserien; 14

Myrstener, Mats (1998). På väg mot ett stadsbibliotek: folkbiblioteksväsendets framväxt i Stockholm t o m 1927. (ISBN 91-973090-5-2) Skriftserien; 15

Limberg, Louise (2001). Att söka information för att lära: en studie av samspel mellan informationssökning och lärande. (ISBN 91-973090-6-0) Första uppl. 1998. Skriftserien; 16

Hansson, Joacim (1998). *Om folkbibliotekens ideologiska identitet: en diskursstudie*. (ISBN 91-973090-7-9) Skriftserien; 17

Gram, Magdalena (2000). Konstbiblioteket: en krönika och en fallstudie. (ISBN 91-973090-8-7) Skriftserien; 18

Hansson, Joacim (1999). Klassifikation, bibliotek och samhälle: en kritisk hermeneutisk studie av "Klassifikationssystem för svenska bibliotek". (ISBN 91-973090-9-5) Skriftserien; 19

Seldén, Lars (2004). *Kapital och karriär: informationssökning i forskningens vardagspraktik.* (ISBN 91-89416-08-2) Första uppl. 1999. Skriftserien; 20

Edström, Göte (2000). Filter, raster, mönster: litteraturguide i teori- och metodlitteratur för biblioteks- och informationsvetenskap och angränsande ämnen inom humaniora och samhällsvetenskap. (ISBN 91-89416-01-5) Skriftserien; 21

Klasson, Maj (red.) (2000). *Röster: biblioteksbranden i Linköping*. (ISBN 91-89416-02-3) Skriftserien; 22

Stenberg, Catharina (2001). Litteraturpolitik och bibliotek: en kulturpolitisk analys av bibliotekens litteraturförvärv speglad i Litteraturutredningen L 68 och Folkbiblioteksutredningen FB 80. (ISBN 91-89416-03-1) Skriftserien; 23

Edström, Göte (2002). Filter, raster, mönster: litteraturguide i teori- och metodlitteratur för biblioteks- och informationsvetenskap och angränsande ämnen inom humaniora och samhällsvetenskap. Andra aktualiserade och utökade upplagan. (ISBN 91-89416-05-8) Skriftserien: 24

Sundin, Olof (2003). *Informationsstrategier och yrkesidentiteter: en studie av sjuksköterskors relation till fackinformation vid arbetsplatsen*. (ISBN 91-89416-06-6) Skriftserien; 25

Hessler, Gunnel (2003). *Identitet och förändring: en studie av ett universitetsbibliotek och dess självproduktion.* (ISBN 91-89416-07-4) Skriftserien; 26

Zetterlund, Angela (2004). *Att utvärdera i praktiken: en retrospektiv fallstudie av tre program för lokal folkbiblioteksutveckling.* (ISBN 91-89416-09-0) Skriftserien; 27

Ahlgren, Per (2004). The effects on indexing strategy-query term combination on retrieval effectiveness in a Swedish full text database. (ISBN 91-89416-10-4) Skriftserien; 28

Thórsteinsdóttir, Gudrun (2005). *The information seeking behaviour of distance students: a study of twenty Swedish library and information science students.* (ISBN 91-89416-11-2) Skriftserien; 29

Jarneving, Bo (2005). The combined application of bibliographic coupling and the complete link cluster method in bibliometric science mapping. (ISBN 91-89416-12-0) Skriftserien; 30

Limberg, Louise, Folkesson, Lena (2006). *Undervisning i informationssökning:* slutrapport från projektet Informationssökning, didaktik och lärande (IDOL). (ISBN 91-89416-13-9) Skriftserien; 31

Johannisson, Jenny (2006) *Det lokala möter världen: kulturpolitiskt förändringsarbete i 1990-talets Göteborg.* (ISBN 91-89416-14-7) Skriftserien; 32

Gärdén, Cecilia, Eliasson, Anette, Flöög, Eva-Maria, Persson, Christina, Zetterlund, Angela (2006). Folkbibliotek och vuxnas lärande: förutsättningar, dilemman och möjligheter i utvecklingsprojekt. (ISBN 91-89416-15-5) Skriftserien; 33

Dahlström, Mats (2006). *Under utgivning: den vetenskapliga utgivningens bibliografiska funktion*. (ISBN 91-89416-16-3) Skriftserien; 34

Nowé, Karen (2007). Tensions and Contradictions in Information Management: an activity-theoretical approach to information activities in a Swedish youth/peace organisation. (ISBN 978-91-85659-08-1) Skriftserien; 35

Francke, Helena (2008). (Re)creations of Scholarly Journals: document and information architecture in open access journals. (ISBN 978-91-85659-16-6) Skriftserien; 36

Hultgren, Frances (2009). *Approaching the future: a study of Swedish school leavers' information related activities.* (ISBN 978-91-89416-18-5) Skriftserien; 37

Söderlind, Åsa (2009). Personlig integritet som informationspolitik: debatt och diskussion i samband med tillkomsten av Datalag (1973:289). (ISBN 978-91-89416-20-8) Skriftserien; 38

Nalumaga, Ruth (2009). Crossing to the mainstream: information challenges and possibilities for female legislators in the Ugandan parliament. (ISBN 91-89416-20-1) Skriftserien; 39

Johannesson, Krister (2009). I främsta rummet: planerandet av en högskolebiblioteksbyggnad med studenters arbete i fokus. (ISBN 978-91-89416-21-5) Skriftserien; 40

Kawalya, Jane (2009). *The National Library of Uganda: its inception, challenges and prospects*, 1997-2007. (ISBN 91-89416-22-8) Skriftserien; 41

Gärdén, Cecilia (2010). Verktyg för lärande: informationssökning och informationsanvändning i kommunal vuxenutbildning. (ISBN 978-91-98416-23-9) Skriftserien; 42

Ponti, Marisa (2010). Actors in collaboration: sociotechnical influence on practice-research collaboration. (ISBN 978-91-89416-24-6) Skriftserien; 43

Jansson, Bertil (2010). *Bibliotekarien: om yrkets tidiga innehåll och utveckling*. (ISBN 978-91-89416-25-3) Skriftserien; 44

Olson, Nasrine (2010). Taken for granted: the construction of order in the process of library management system decision making. (ISBN 978-91-89416-26-0) Skriftserien; 45

Gunnarsson, Mikael (2011). Classification along genre dimensions: exploring a multidisciplinary problem. (ISBN 978-91-85659-72-2) Skriftserien; 46

Lundh, Anna (2011). *Doing research in primary school: information activities in project-based learning.* (ISBN 978-91-89416-28-7) Skriftserien; 47

Dolatkhah, Mats (2011). *Det läsande barnet: minnen av läspraktiker, 1900–1940.* (ISBN 978-91-89416-29-5) Skriftserien; 48

Frenander, Anders (red.) (2011). Arkitekter på armlängds avstånd? Att studera kulturpolitik. (ISBN 978-91-978768-0-3) Skriftserien; 49

Frenander, Anders & Lindberg, Jenny (red.) (2012). *Styra eller stödja: svensk folkbibliotekspolitik under hundra år.* (ISBN 978-91-978768-1-0) Skriftserien; 50

Isah, Esther Ebole (2012). *Physicians' Informations Practicies: A Case Study of a Medical Team at a Teaching Hospital.* (ISBN 978-91-978768-2-7) Skriftserien; 51

Johansson, Veronica (2012). A Time and Place for Everything? Social Visualisation Tools and Critical Literacies. (ISBN 978-91-978768-3-4) Skriftserien; 52

Maurin Söderholm, Hanna (2013). Emergency Visualized: Exploring Visual Technology for Paramedic-Physician Collaboration in Emergency Care. (ISBN 978-91-978768-5-8) Skriftserien; 53

Lindsköld, Linnéa (2013). Betydelsen av kvalitet: en studie av diskursen om statens stöd till ny, svensk skönlitteratur 1975-2009. (ISBN 978-91-978768-5-6) Skriftserien; 54

Pilerot, Ola (2014). Design Researchers' Information Sharing: The Enactment of a Discipline. (ISBN 978-91-978768-8-9) Skriftserien; 55

Lassi, Monica (2014). Facilitating collaboration: Exploring a socio-technical approach to the design of a collaboratory for Library and Information Science. (ISBN 978-91-981654-0-1) Skriftserien; 56

Dessne, Karin (2014). In a world of values and views: Information and learning activities in a military setting. (ISBN 978-91-981654-2-5) Skriftserien; 57

Lindberg, Jenny (2015). Att bli bibliotekarie: informationssökning och yrkesidentitet hos B & I-studenter och nyanställda högskolebibliotekarier. (ISBN 978-91-981654-4-9), Skriftserien; 58

Björk, Lars (2015). How reproductive is a reproduction? Digital transimisson of textbased documents. (ISBN 978-91-981654-6-3) Skriftserien; 59

Eklund, Johan (2016). With or without context: Automatic text categorization using semantic kernels. (ISBN 978-91-981654-8-7) Skriftserien; 60

Gunnarsson Lorentzen, David (2016). Following tweets around: Informetric methodology for the twittersphere. (ISBN 978-91-981653-0-2) Skriftserien; 61

Lindh, Maria (2017). Cloudy talks: Exploring accounts about cloud computing. (ISBN 978-91-981653-2-6) Skriftserien; 62

Michnik, Katarina (2018). Samhällets allt-i-allo? Om folkbibliotekens sociala legitimitet. (ISBN 978-91-981653-4-0) Skriftserien; 63

Söderholm, Jonas (2018). Borrowing and Lending Tools: The Materiality of X-Lending Libraries. (ISBN 978-91-981653-6-4) Skriftserien; 64

Forsgren, Emma (2018). Enterprise social media in project-based knowledge work: A contextualized view through the lens of activity theory. (ISBN 978-91-981653-8-8) Skriftserien; 65

Hicks, Alison (2018). *The theory of mitigating risk: Information literacy and language-learning in transition.* (ISBN 978-91-983398-0-2) Skriftserien; 66

Wallin, Birgitta (2019). Selling and lending e-books: Changes in the Swedish literary field. (ISBN 978-91-983398-2-6) Skriftserien: 67

Ahlryd, Sara (2019). På gränsen till en ny värld: studenters informationspraktiker på väg mot arbetslivet. (ISBN 978-91-983398-4-0) Skriftserien: 68

Uwamwezi, Berthilde (2020). *Merger and Management: University of Rwanda libraries in a transitional context.* (ISBN 978-91-983398-6-4) Skriftserien: 69

Sandin, Amira Sofie (2021). Var(a) snäll och gilla: Medforskning med unga om identitet och sociala medier. (ISBN 978-91-983398-8-8) Skriftserien: 70

Shah, Syed Rahmat Ullah (2021). Sustainable competence development of librarians of Pakistan. (ISBN 978-91-983397-1-0) Skriftserien: 71

Eklund, Pieta (2022). Academic librarianship in flux: The dynamics of negotiating professional jurisdiction. (ISBN 978-91-983397-3-4) Skriftserien: 72

Tattersall Wallin, Elisa (2022). Sound Reading: Exploring and conceptualizing audiobook practices among young adults. (ISBN 978-91-983397-5-8) Skriftserien: 73

Eriksson, Catarina (2022). Barnbiblioteket tar form: En idéanalytisk studie av perioden 1945-2018. (ISBN 978-91-983397-7-2) Skriftserien: 74

Centerwall, Ulrika (2022). Att ta plats och göra skillnad: Skolbibliotekariepraktiker i framgångsrika verksamheter. (ISBN 978-91-983397-9-6) Skriftserien: 75

Limberg, Louise & Ögland, Malin (red.) (2022). *Från analog katalog till digital portal*. (ISBN 978-91-987634-1-6) Skriftserien: 76

Jakobsson, Arvid (2023). Över djupen mot höjden – en biografi över Oskar II:s bibliotek. (ISBN 978-91-987634-3-0) Skriftserien: 77



Social networking sites are integral in reshaping how we access and interact with information and others. This doctoral thesis aims to offer an in-depth understanding of engagement in an everyday life information practice within a private Facebook group. Based on interviews with Facebook group members, the thesis addresses questions such as: What affordances does the Facebook group offer for engagement in information

activities? How do these affordances facilitate or constrain members' opportunities to engage? How is the group maintained as an environment for information activities and how does the group navigate the opportunities and challenges presented within it?

The findings show that the Facebook group offers a distinctive online space providing both valuable opportunities and challenges for engagement in joint information activities. The study also highlights the strategic ways members individually, collaboratively, and as a group manage and navigate these opportunities and challenges. Overall, the thesis contributes theoretical and practical insights into the multifaceted engagement within a Facebook group for informational purposes in everyday life.